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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK 
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE 
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate 

small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment 

risk may be attached than other companies listed on the 

Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the 

potential risks of investing in such companies and should make 

the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small 

and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded 

on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than 

securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given 

that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on 

GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange 

take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no 

representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly 

disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or 

in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of XinXiang 

Era Group Company Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 

individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in 

compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM 

of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of 

giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable 

enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the 

information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all 

material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no 

other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein 

or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

12 31

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 244,604 278,542

Loss before taxation (6,312) (9,453)

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year (8,555) (6,745)

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year attributable to owners of  

the Company

 

(6,667) (1,923)
    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

12 31

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Assets

Non-current assets 27,140 57,663

Current assets 27,118 29,995

Total assets 54,258 87,658

Equity and liabilities

Non-current liabilities 13,382 26,844

Current liabilities 56,094 71,641

Total liabilities 69,476 98,485

Total deficit (15,218) (10,827)

Net current liabilities (28,976) (41,646)
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Director (the “Board”) of XinXiang Era 

Group Company Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to present 

the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The situation of Hong Kong’s catering industry in 2024 will be affected 

by multiple factors, including the pace of economic recovery, changes 

in consumption habits, policy support and industry competition. Hong 

Kong’s economic recovery has been slower than expected. Affected 

by global inflation, high interest rates and fluctuations in the stock 

and property markets, citizens have become more cautious in their 

consumption. Fine and mid-market dining has been greatly affected, 

while affordable restaurants and fast food have been relatively stable. 

As the epidemic eases, more and more Hong Kong residents choose 

to travel to the Mainland and the Greater Bay Area for consumption, 

seeking new dining and leisure experiences. This trend has affected the 

revenue of Hong Kong’s local catering industry.

The purpose, values and strategies of XinXiang Era Group:

(1) Purpose of the Company:

(1) To build authentic, compelling, and consistent restaurants 

to cater to a diverse customer base worldwide;

(2) Besides the continuous operation of existing dining brands 

featured favors of different regions of the world, the 

Company will set a high-end Hunan cuisine brand and 

open branches in multiple areas in the Mainland;

(3) To promote Michelin-starred restaurants in Hong Kong 

to the Mainland and open branches in several provincial 

capital cities.

2024

12 31

2024

(1) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

(2) 

(3) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(2) Values of the Company:

With the principle of making life better, the Company continues to 

perform service of excellence, honesty and integrity, consistency, 

adaptability, aiming to bring more happiness to customers.

(3) Strategies of the Company:

(1) To adapt to food tastes and preferences in different 

markets and locations;

(2) To pay attention to small details in food, beverage, and 

experiences to deliver consistent services and experiences;

(3) To upkeep ongoing market research and be acute about 

development of market demand for innovative ideas.

(4) To develop a diverse team with a wealth of knowledge to 

serve a mass market.

(5) To explore distinctive cuisine from around the world to 

create a high-end culinary culture.

OUTLOOK

While facing numerous challenges, Hong Kong’s catering industry 

has also witnessed important changes in the market and consumer 

preferences. In the future, the Group needs to adjust its business 

strategy more flexibly to adapt to the rapidly changing market 

environment and seek new growth opportunities. As part of Hong 

Kong’s catering industry, we are committed to promoting innovation 

and excellence to ensure that Hong Kong’s catering industry remains 

competitive in the future, provide more staff training and support, and 

explore new market opportunities.
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2025 3 24

ACKNOWLEDGE

Finally, I would like to express gratitude to the Board of XinXiang Era

Group, all business partner, employees, investors and customers for 

their unwavering support for the Group. I believe that the current 

global economic headwinds will gradually disappear, and that quality 

catering services are still a basic need of the people’s livelihood, 

resulting in a broad market outlook, so we are firmly confident that 

the Group’s performance will be positive and continue to grow.

Chairperson

Liu Enyu

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a well-known Hong Kong hospitality group with award-

winning restaurants. During the year ended 31 December 2024 

(“FY2024”), the Group successfully operated six brand restaurants, 

namely Duddell’s, Andō, Louise, MONO, Estro and Chachawan, to 

offer our customers a wide range of dining options. During the period 

under review, business has improved as travel has resumed, with 

tourists from mainland China, Korea, Thailand, Europe, and more, 

even though the economy has not fully recovered.

The Group won numerous awards in FY2024. We are honoured to be 

awarded one MICHELIN star each for five restaurants, namely Estro, 

MONO, Duddell’s, Louise, and Andō, marking a significant achievement 

for the Group. Three of our restaurants have been ranked on the year’s 

Asia’s 50 Best Restaurants, with MONO, Andō, and Estro ranking at 

#27, #37 and #71, respectively. The three restaurants have also been 

honoured to be rated among the Tatler Dining 20 list, with Andō 

receiving “Restaurant of the Year” and “Best Sommelier” awards. 

Andō, MONO, Estro, and Duddell’s have all been awarded South China 

Morning Post’s 100 Top Tables award, a guide that features 100 of 

the best fine dining restaurants within Hong Kong and Macau. Andō 

has also championed the Chef’s Choice Award this year. Additionally, 

Andō, MONO, Estro, Louise, Duddell’s and Chachawan have been 

ranked on this year’s OAD 2024 Asia Top Restaurants list. These awards 

are a testament to the Group’s commitment to quality, innovation, and 

its relentless pursuit of excellence.

During the year, Mak Mak, our Thai dining concept located in 

Landmark, was closed due to our landlord’s decision to revamp its 

dining program at the shopping mall. Duddell’s Airport branch has 

great business throughout the year as travel has resumed, and the 

restaurant is particularly popular amongst mainland Chinese tourists.

Outlook

Even though Hong Kong’s food and beverage industry has not 

completely recovered due to the economic downturn, we remain 

optimistic about its recovery in 2025, driven by an increase in tourists 

visiting Hong Kong. We will continue to adapt to the changing 

landscape and provide exceptional dining experiences to our guests.

2024 12 31 2024

And Louise MONO

Estro Chachawan

2024

Estro MONO

Louise And

50 Asia’s 50 Best 

Restaurants MONO 27

And 37 Estro 71

Tatler Dining 20

(Tatler Dining 20 And

And MONO Estro

(100 Top Tables)

100

And

And MONO Estro

Louise Chachawan

OAD 2024

Mak Mak

2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2024 12 31

244.6 2023 278.5

33.9

12.2%
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2024 9 2024 8

2024

2023 12 31 64.4

74.1

26.3% 26.6%

2023 12 31 103.2

5.8 2024 12 31

97.4

2024 9 2024 8 Mak Mak 22 

Ships

2023 12 31

23.3 1.3

2024 12 31 24.6

14.0%

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a 

revenue of approximately HK$244.6 million (2023: HK$278.5 million), 

representing a decrease of approximately HK$33.9 million or 12.2% 

as compared with the corresponding period of last year. The decrease 

was mainly due to the economic downturn and “Mak Mak” and “22 

Ships”, two of the restaurants of the Group were closed in September 

2024 and August 2024, respectively.

Raw materials and consumables used

Raw materials and consumables used by the Group include, but are not 

limited to, vegetables, meat, seafood and frozen food etc. That is one 

of the major components of the Group’s operating expenses which 

amounted to approximately HK$64.4 million and HK$74.1 million for 

each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively, 

representing approximately 26.3% and 26.6% of Group’s total 

revenue for the corresponding periods. The cost margin of the Group 

maintained steady compared to the corresponding period of last year.

Staff costs

Staff costs represented one of the major components of the Group’s 

operating expenses which primarily consisted of Directors’ emoluments, 

salaries and allowance, retirement benefit scheme contributions and 

other benefits. The staff costs decreased by approximately HK$5.8 

million from approximately HK$103.2 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023 to approximately HK$97.4 million for the year ended 

31 December 2024. The decrease was mainly due to the closure of 

“Mak Mak” and “22 Ships” in September 2024 and August 2024, 

respectively.

Property rentals and related expenses

Apart from raw materials and consumables used and staff costs, property 

rentals also represent one of the major components of the Group’s 

operating expenses. Property rentals and related expenses increased by 

approximately HK$1.3 million from approximately HK$23.3 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$$24.6 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase was mainly 

due to the increase in property rentals expense of “Duddell’s Hong 

Kong Airport”, which comprises of turnover rent, as turnover of the 

restaurant increased by 14.0% compared with last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2024 12
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2024 2 26 (i)

(2)

0.01

(1) 0.02 (ii)

10,000 20,000

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, loss attributable to owners of the Company 

was approximately HK$6.6 million for the year ended 31 December 

2024 representing an increase in loss by approximately HK$4.8 million 

as compared with a loss of approximately HK$1.8 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023. The increase in loss attributable to owners 

of the Company was primarily attributable to the decrease in revenue.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND 
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated 

from operating activities.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$29.0 

million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: net current liabilities HK$41.6 

million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 

0.5 (2023: 0.4) and the Group’s gearing ratio calculated based on the 

total debt (excluding trade nature balances, tax balances and provision) 

at the end of the year divided by total deficit at the end of the year was 

approximately -274.8% (2023: -607.4%).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were 

approximately HK$9.2 million (2023: approximately HK$10.4 million). 

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no bank borrowings (2023: 

approximately HK$4.8 million).

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only. 

After change in board lot size and the Share Consolidation which 

disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share Consolidation and 

Change in Board Lot Size” as below, as at 31 December 2024, the 

Company had 579,890,000 ordinary shares in issue.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION AND CHANGE IN 
BOARD LOT SIZE

On 26 February 2024, the Company announced the proposal of (i) 

the share consolidation pursuant to which every two (2) issued and 

unissued existing shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the 

Company will be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of 

HK$0.02 each; and (ii) the change in board lot size for trading on the 

Stock Exchange from 10,000 existing shares to 20,000 consolidated 

shares subject to and upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective 

(the “Change in Board Lot Size”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2024 3 25
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2024 12 31

2023 5.0

 

2024 12 31

The Share Consolidation was approved by shareholders of the Company 

at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 21 

March 2024. As such, the Share Consolidation and the Change in 

Board Lot Size have become effective on 25 March 2024. Immediately 

after the Share Consolidation, the total number of issued shares of the 

Company was adjusted from 1,159,780,000 to 579,890,000.

For further information in relation to the Share Consolidation and 

Change in Board Lot Size, please refer to the announcements of the 

Company dated 26 February 2024, 21 March 2024 and 22 March 

2024 and the circular of the Company dated 1 March 2024.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operated mainly in Hong Kong with most of the Group’s 

transactions settled in Hong Kong dollars. As such, the Group did not 

have significant exposure to foreign exchange risk during the year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any pledged deposits 

and assets (2023: HK$5.0 million).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 
AND POLICIES

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2024, the maximum exposure in relation to credit 

risk of the Group which will cause a financial loss to the Group due 

to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from 

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as 

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Board 

considers the credit risk of the Company is immaterial. The Group 

trades with a large number of individual customers and trading terms 

are predominately on cash and credit card settlement. In view of the 

Group’s operations, the Group does not have significant credit risk 

exposure to any single individual customer.

The credit risk on bank balances of the Group is limited because the 

counterparties are medium to large-sized Hong Kong listed banks. The 

Group has concentration risk on its liquid funds as the bank balances 

are placed with one bank in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and 

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalent deemed adequate by 

the management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations and 

mitigate the effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group reported a net 

loss of HK$8.5 million. As of the same date, the Group had net current 

liabilities of HK$29.0 million and net liabilities of HK$15.2 million. In 

view of these factors, the Group seeks for the financial support on its 

immediate holding company, and takes certain measure to mitigate 

the liquidity pressure by improving its financial and liquidity position 

as a whole. In addition, the controlling shareholder has confirmed 

not request the Group to repay its debt due from the Group until the 

repayment will not affect the Group’s ability to repay other creditors.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any capital 

commitment in respect of property, plant and equipment (2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material 

contingent liabilities (2023: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT 
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, as of the date of this report, the Group did 

not have any future plans for material investments or capital assets, 

material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint 

ventures in the coming year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL 
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have 

any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of 

subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2020 9 24 I

2020 9 7 2020 9 24
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(i)

JIA Everywhere

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF NEW 
SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

Placing completed on 24 September 2020 (the “Placing I”)

Reference is made to the announcements issued by the Company on 7 

September 2020 and 24 September 2020 in relation to the placing of 

new shares under the general mandate.

On 7 September 2020, the Group and a placing agent entered into 

a placing agreement pursuant to which the Group appointed the 

placing agent to procure altogether not less than six placees (who 

and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s) are independent of and not 

connected with the Company and any of its connected persons within 

the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules) for placing up to aggregate of 

171,910,000 placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.08 per placing 

share. The closing price for the Company’s shares on 7 September 

2020 was HK$0.096 per share.

The Placing I was completed on 24 September 2020 with gross 

and net proceeds of approximately HK$13.8 million (equivalent to 

approximately HK$0.08 per placing share) and HK$13.2 million 

(equivalent to approximately HK$0.077 per placing share) as set out 

in the Company’s announcements dated 7 September 2020 and 24 

September 2020. The Company intended to use the proceeds for (i) 

developing the cloud kitchen business of the Group and upgrading 

the sales channels of the Group, including “JIA Everywhere”, the 

online/offline delivery platform of the Group; (ii) investing in potential 

PRC or overseas food and beverage related investment opportunities; 

(iii) developing new catering outlets of the Group and for brand 

management; and (iv) loan repayment.
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Approximate 

percentage 
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proceeds

Actual use of 
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2024

Unused total 

net proceeds up 

to 31 December 

2024

Use of net proceeds from the 

Placing I I

 

2024

12 31

2024

12 31

HK$ million % HK$ million HK$ million

%
      

Developing the cloud kitchen 

business and upgrading the sales 

channels

 

4.5 34.1% 1.9 2.6

Investing in potential PRC or 

overseas food and beverage 

related investment opportunities

 

2.5 18.9% 2.5 –

Developing new catering outlets 1.2 9.1% 1.2 –

Loan repayment 5.0 37.9% 5.0 –
      

Total 13.2 100.0% 10.6 2.6
      

Placing completed on 18 June 2021 (the “Placing II”)

Reference is made to the announcements issued by the Company on 

25 May 2021 and 18 June 2021 in relation to the placing of new shares 

under the general mandate.

On 25 May 2021, the Group and a placing agent entered into a placing 

agreement pursuant to which the Group appointed the placing agent 

to procure altogether not less than six placees (who and whose ultimate 

beneficial owner(s) are independent of and not connected with the 

Company and any of its connected persons within the meaning of the 

GEM Listing Rules) for placing up to aggregate of 134,280,000 placing 

shares at a placing price of HK$0.135 per placing share. The closing 

price for the Company’s shares on 25 May 2021 was HK$0.149 per 

share.
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II 2021 6 18

2021 5 25 2021 6 18

18.1

0.135

17.5 0.1301

(i)

(ii) (iii)

The Placing II was completed on 18 June 2021 with gross and 

net proceeds of approximately HK$18.1 million (equivalent to 

approximately HK$0.135 per placing share) and HK$17.5 million 

(equivalent to approximately HK$0.1301 per placing share) as set out 

in the Company’s announcements dated 25 May 2021 and 18 June 

2021. The Company intended to use the proceeds for (i) expanding 

the specialty coffee business; (ii) developing casual dining business; and 

(iii) investing in PRC and overseas food tech investment opportunities.

Planned use of 

proceeds

Approximate 

percentage 

of total net 

proceeds

Actual use of 

net proceeds up 

to 31 December 

2024

Unused total 

net proceeds up 

to 31 December 

2024

Use of net proceeds from the 

Placing II II

 

2024

12 31

2024

12 31

HK$ million % HK$ million HK$ million

%
      

Expanding the specialty coffee 

business 9.0 51.4% 6.5 2.5

Developing casual dining business 5.3 30.3% 5.3 –

Investing in PRC and overseas food 

tech investment opportunities 3.2 18.3% 3.2 –
      

Total 17.5 100.0% 15.0 2.5
      

The Company intends to continue to apply the proceeds from Placing 

I and Placing II in a manner consistent with that mentioned above and 

it is expected that these proceeds will be fully utilized by 31 December 

2025. The Directors will continue to evaluate the Group’s operations 

and financial performance when applying the proceeds.

I

II 2025

12 31
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WAN Suet Yee Cherry

Ms. WAN Suet Yee Cherry (“Ms. Wan”), aged 51, was appointed 

as an executive Director of the Company on 21 August 2015, and is 

the senior operations director. Ms. Wan resigned as the chairperson 

of the Legal Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024. Ms. Wan 

is responsible for formulation of corporate development strategies, 

execution of daily management and administration of business and 

operations, and regulatory compliance. Ms. Wan obtained a higher 

diploma in hotel and catering management from the Hong Kong 

Technical College in July 1996. Ms. Wan has approximately 20 years of 

experience in the food and beverage industry. From November 1996 to

April 2011, Ms. Wan worked at Gaia Group. She served Va Bene 

Ristorante from November 1996 to February 2001. Ms. Wan worked 

as an assistant manager of Gaia Ristorante from March 2001 to March

2008. Her last position was operations manager of Gaia Group. During 

her office in Gaia Group, Ms. Wan was primarily responsible for 

purchasing, staff hiring, manager and staff training, menu planning 

and the daily operations of eight restaurants in Hong Kong and two 

restaurants in Shanghai, the PRC. Ms. Wan was also awarded “Most 

Influential Woman in Hospitality 2018 — Hong Kong” by APAC Insider 

in 2018.

51 2015 8

21

2024 2 15

1996 7

20 1996 11

2011 4 Gaia

1996 11 2001 2 Va Bene 

Ristorante 2001 3 2008 3

Gaia Ristorante 

Gaia Gaia 

8

2 2018

APAC Insider 2018
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37 2024 2

9 2024 2

15

2008

2012

2015

x

2017 1 2022 12

2018 6 2023 12

2022 8 2023 12

2006 7

2022 8

EMBA

Mr. Kong Linglei

Mr. Kong Linglei (“Mr. Kong”), aged 37, was appointed as an 

executive Director of the Company on 9 February 2024. He was also 

appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the 

chairperson of the Legal Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024. 

Mr. Kong began his career as a TV food show host and producer. In 

2008, Mr. Kong became an artist managed by Hunan Television (

) and was then transferred to the production team in 2012 

during which he took part in the production of the television program 

“Great Fun in Hunan” ( ). In 2015, Mr. Kong produced his 

own food program named “What to Eat” (  x ) which 

integrated the use of we-media and online video channels to generate 

revenue through online traffic monetization. From January 2017 to 

December 2022, Mr. Kong served as the general manager of Hunan 

Province Fuoershite Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (

) which is principally engaged in mobile apps 

software development and e-commerce platform business. From June 

2018 to December 2023, Mr. Kong served as the general manager of 

Changsha Xunjue Catering Management Co., Ltd.* (

) which operated franchised restaurants under a renowned 

local restaurant brand “Huogongdian”* (“ ”) in Changsha. 

From August 2022 to December 2023, he also served as the deputy 

general manager of Changsha Tianxiangfu Catering Services Co., Ltd.* 

( ). Mr. Kong graduated from Zhongyuan 

Specialty Institute of Technology ( ) majoring in 

business administration in July 2006 and completed an EMBA Distinct 

Director Advanced Course* (  EMBA 

) offered by the BeiQing Institute of Economics and Management* 

( ) in August 2022.
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40 2024 2

9

2024 2 15

2023 11 2023 7

2017 10 2021 12

2022 7

2022 9

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Enyu

Mr. Liu Enyu (“Mr. Liu”), aged 40, was appointed as a nonexecutive 

Director and chairman of the Board on 9 February 2024. He was 

also appointed as the chairperson of the Nomination Committee 

on 15 February 2024. Mr. Liu completed an advanced program on 

market risk management for entrepreneurs (

) at the Peking University and an advance 

program of corporate compliance management at China University of 

Political Science and Law ( ) in 

November 2023 and July 2023, respectively. Between October 2017 

and December 2021, Mr. Liu served as the chief operating officer 

of Hunan Xinfurong Catering Management Co., Ltd.* (

) where he was in charge of brand management 

and operations. He has been serving as the chief operating officer of 

Changsha Tianxiangfu Catering Services Co., Ltd.* (

), a company principally engaged in catering business in the PRC 

since July 2022. In September 2022, Mr. Liu has been appointed as the 

vice director of the Young Lives Foundation Commission of the Hunan 

Province Health and Charity Foundation* (

) for a term of three years.
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35 2024 2 9

51% 2015 8 2017 12

2020

2020 3 2022 7

2022 10

EMBA

2023 4

Mr. Peng Ben

Mr. Peng Ben (“Mr. Peng”), aged 35, was appointed as a nonexecutive

Director on 9 February 2024. Mr. Peng is the sole director of Central 

Power Group Limited, which is also 51% owned by Mr. Peng. He 

served as the general manager of Sino-Market Technology Group 

Co., Ltd. ( ), a company primarily engaged in 

engineering, consultancy and project management, from August 2015 

to December 2017. In 2020, he founded Hunan Xiangdu Nongchuang 

Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* ( ), 

a company primarily engaged in the business of agricultural technology 

development and consultancy services, where he also served as the 

executive director from March 2020 to July 2022. In October 2022, 

Mr. Peng completed the EMBA Distinct Director Advanced Course*  

(  EMBA ) offered by the BeiQing 

Institute of Economics and Management* ( ). In 

April 2023, he founded Changsha Yunshen Technology Co., Ltd.* 

( ), a company primarily engaged in the 

provision of software and information technology services. Mr. Peng 

is currently the general manager of Changsha Aojiaohuola Catering 

Services Co., Ltd.* ( ) and Changsha 

Tianxiangfu Catering Services Co., Ltd.* ( ) 

which are both principally engaged in the catering business in the PRC.
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41 2024 2

9 2024
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2008
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2009 5 2012 12

2012 12 2014 12

2016

2016 3 2017 12

2018 5 2020 12

2020 12

2022 12

2023 4

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ma Lina

Ms. Ma Lina (“Ms. Ma”), aged 41, was appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director on 9 February 2024. She was also appointed as 

the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and the member each 

of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 15 February 

2024. Ms. Ma completed a diploma in business administration at 

Beijing Oriental College ( ) in July 2008. Between 

May 2009 and December 2012, Ms. Ma served as the hotel catering 

business director at Hunan Jinmao Hotel Management Co., Ltd.*  

( ) and latterly, as the general manager of 

operations from December 2012 to December 2014. In 2016, she 

founded Xinkongjian Environmental Protection Materials Co., Ltd.* (

), a company principally engaged in the industry 

of environmental decoration materials, where she served as the general 

manager from March 2016 to December 2017. From May 2018 to 

December 2020, she served as the sales director of Changsha Lanxing 

Bio-Technology Co., Ltd.* ( ), a company 

principally engaged in food and beverage retail and production, and 

has latterly served as its chief operating officer since December 2020. 

In December 2022, she founded Zhimeng Zhiku Sports Group Co., 

Limited ( ), a company principally engaged 

in education training and the sale of sports equipment, where she 

served as its vice president since April 2023.
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Ms. Mao Xiaobi

Ms. Mao Xiaobi (“Ms. Mao”), aged 62, was appointed as an 

independent non-executive Director on 9 February 2024. She was 

also appointed as the member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration 

Committee and Legal Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024 

respectively. Ms. Mao obtained her bachelor’s degree in Library and 

Information Studies ( ) from Central China Normal 

University ( ) in 1984. Prior to that, she obtained her 

college degree in catalysis from Hunan Changling Petrochemical 

Vocational and Technical College* ( ) in July 1981. 

In 2001, she founded Changsha Jialin Industrial Co., Ltd.* (

), a company principally engaged in catering management 

and the wholesale of construction materials in the PRC, where she has 

served as its executive director since July 2001.

Since 2004, Ms. Mao has been actively involved in public welfare 

affairs and is currently a member of the council of Hunan Province 

Xixin Charity Foundation* ( ). In 2022, she 

founded Hunan Yudian Wines Co., Ltd.* ( ), a 

company principally engaged in the manufacture of wine, beverage 

and tea, where she has served as its executive director since September 

2022. Ms. Mao has also been the chairlady of the board of directors 

of Hunan Chuanghonglide Technology Group Holdings Limited* (

), a company principally engaged 

in the industry of scientific research and technical services, as well as 

the sale of various products, including but not limited to mechanical 

and electronic products and new energy vehicle related products, since 

March 2023.
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Ms. Deng Yongling

Ms. Deng Yongling (“Ms. Deng”), aged 36, was appointed as an 

independent non-executive Director on 9 February 2024. She was 

also appointed as the chairperson of the Audit Committee and the 

member of Legal Compliance Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee on 15 February 2024 respectively. Ms. Deng 

obtained her bachelor’s degree in business management from China 

Central Radio and TV University ( ) in 2012. In 2016, 

she obtained her certificate of accounting profession issued by the 

Changsha Finance Bureau. She possesses the accounting qualification 

(intermediate level) ( ) issued by the Human Resources 

and Social Security Department of Guangdong Province in 2017. 

Between February 2007 and July 2012, she served as the accountant 

at Dongguan Baoshengwei Plastic and Metal Products Co., Ltd.* (

), a company principally engaged in 

the manufacturing and sale of construction and metalware products. 

Between August 2012 and October 2016, she was the head of finance 

at Dongguan Jingsheng Electronic Components Co., Ltd.* (

), a company that focuses on the manufacturing 

of computers and electronic products. Between November 2016 and 

October 2020, she served as the financial manager at Hunan Zhuji 

Huangpu Big Data Technology Co., Ltd.* (

), a company principally engaged in information technology 

and transmission services. Since December 2020, she has served as 

the finance manager at Hunan Luzhou Network Technology Co., 

Ltd.* ( ), a company principally engaged in 

the provision of information technology and software development 

services, as well as the sale of various products including but not limited 

to food, daily necessities and utility products.

* For identification purpose only
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in 

the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to establishing and ensuring high standards 

of corporate governance and adopting sound corporate governance 

practices. The Company’s corporate governance practices are based 

on the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 

(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. 

The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate 

governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for 

safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

Except for the deviations from code provision C.2.1 and D.2.5 of the 

CG Code (as defined above), the Company has complied with the code 

provisions set out in the CG Code during the year under review.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of 

chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not 

be performed by the same individual. Ms. Wong Pui Yain is both 

the chairperson of the Board and the chief executive officer of the 

Company. In view of Ms. Wong’s role in day-to-day operations and 

management of the Group since 2015, the Board believes that it is in 

the best interest of the Group to have Ms. Wong taking up both roles 

for effective management and business development. Therefore, the 

Directors consider that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 

of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board 

is of the view that this management structure is effective for the 

Group’s operations and sufficient checks and balances are in place. 

The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of 

the chairperson and the chief executive officer at a time when it is 

appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstance of 

the Group as a whole.

Ms. Wong Pui Yain resigned as the chairperson of the Board on 9 

February 2024 and ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company (the “CEO”) on 15 February 2024. Mr. Liu Enyu has been 

appointed as the chairman of the Board on 9 February 2024. Mr. Kong 

Linglei has been appointed as the CEO on 15 February 2024.

2024 12 31

GEM C1

C.2.1

D.2.5

C.2.1

2015

C.2.1

2024 2 9

2024 2 15

2024 2 9

2024

2 15
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In connection with the above changes, the Company fully complied 

with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, i.e. the roles of chairman 

and chief executive was separated by the Company since 15 February 

2024.

Pursuant to code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the company should 

have an internal audit function. For the year ended 31 December 

2024, the Group has yet to establish its internal audit function. The 

Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and 

are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the 

business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint 

external independent professionals to perform internal audit function 

for the Group in order to meet its needs. The audit committee of the 

Board (the “Audit Committee”) and the Board have considered the 

internal control review report prepared by an independent consultancy 

company and communications with the Company’s external auditor 

in respect of any material control deficiencies identified during the 

course of the financial statement audit to form the basis to review 

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 

internal control systems. The Company considers that sufficient risk 

management and internal control of the Group can be maintained 

with the abovementioned arrangements. The Audit Committee and 

the Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function 

on an annual basis.

Our Purpose, Values, and Strategies

By recognising the importance of stakeholders at the Board level and 

throughout the Group, we strive to create values to the stakeholders 

through sustainable growth and continuous development.

The Group has set out the purpose, values and strategies to provide 

guidance on employees’ conduct and behaviours as well as the business 

activities. Detail set out in the “Chairman Statement”.

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its business 

strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions to ensure 

prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to the changes 

and meet the market needs to foster the sustainability of the Group.

C.2.1 2024 2

15

D.2.5

2024 12 31
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2024

12 31 29.0

3(b)

107 113

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the 

consolidated financial statements which give true and fair view of the 

Group. The Directors are aware of the Group’s net current liabilities 

of HK$29.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and these 

conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.

Further discussion on this issue has been set out in the note 3(b) to the 

consolidated financial statements in this report.

A statement by the Independent Auditor about its reporting and its 

responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 

107 to 113 of this Annual Report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include the formulation of the 

Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and 

the supervision of management performance. The management is 

delegated with the authority and the responsibility by the Board for the 

management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board 

has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees 

of the Company. Further details of the Board committees are set out 

below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the 

success of the Company by providing direction and supervision of the 

Company’s business and affairs, and the ultimate responsibility for day-

to-day management of the Company is delegated to the management. 

To this end, periodic financial and operational information are provided 

to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by 

the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior 

approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into 

any commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is 

responsible for the day-to-day management and operations of the 

Group and for providing the Board with updates in a timely manner, 

including giving an assessment of the Company’s performance and 

position to enable the Board to discharge its duties.
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A.2.1

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

2024 2 15

2024 2 9

2024 2 9
2024 2 9

2024 2 15
Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam  

2024 2 15
Wee Keng Hiong Tony  

2024 2 15
2024 2 9
2024 2 9
2024 2 9

The Board is responsible for, amongst other things, performing the 
corporate governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of 
the CG Code, which include:

(a) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance and making recommendations;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional 
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct 
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and 
employees; and

(e) reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosures in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMPOSITION
As of the date of this report, the Board is comprised of seven Directors, 
including two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and 
three independent non-executive Directors, and the Directors’ details 
during the year and up to the date of this report are set out below.

Executive Directors

Ms. Wong Pui Yain (resigned on 15 February 2024)
Ms. Wan Suet Yee Cherry
Mr. Kong Linglei (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Enyu (appointed on 9 February 2024)
Mr. Peng Ben (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yuk Lun Ulric (resigned on 15 February 2024)
Mr. Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam  

(resigned on 15 February 2024)
Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony  

(resigned on 15 February 2024)
Ms. Deng Yongling (appointed on 9 February 2024)
Ms. Mao Xiaobi (appointed on 9 February 2024)
Ms. Ma Lina (appointed on 9 February 2024)
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GEM

5.05 5.05A

17 23

C.2.1

All Directors have appropriate professional qualifications and/or 

substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board composition 

as a whole reflects an appropriate balance of skills and experience. 

The composition of the Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 

and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three independent 

non-executive Directors and at least one of them has the requisite 

accounting professional qualification. With more than one-third of the 

members of the Board being independent non-executive Directors, the 

Board has a strong independence element in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board 

brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment 

on issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of 

interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all 

shareholders of the Company are duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies 

of Board of Directors” on pages 17 to 23 of this report. There are no 

family or other material relationships among members of the Board.

CHAIRPERSON AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The chairperson of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also 

responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with 

good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall 

corporate management of the business development strategies of the 

Group. The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation 

of the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board 

and are accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the 

Group. These functions and responsibilities are currently being shared 

by the management team.

According to paragraph C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the 

chairperson and the chief executive should be separated and should 

not be performed by the same individual. During the year, Ms. Wong 

Pui Yain, the chairperson of the Board, was responsible for overseeing 

the overall financial matters of the Group. The day-to-day operations 

of the Group are delegated to another executive Director, Ms. Wan 

Suet Yee Cherry, and the management of the Group is responsible for 

different aspects of the business.
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2024 2 9

2024 2 15

2024 2 9

2024

2 15
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Wee Keng Hiong Tony 2024 2 15

2024 2 9

• 

• 

Ms. Wong Pui Yain resigned as the chairperson of the Board on  

9 February 2024 and ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company (the “CEO”) on 15 February, 2024. Mr. Liu Enyu has been 

appointed as the chairman of the Board on 9 February 2024. Mr. Kong 

Linglei has been appointed as the CEO on 15 February 2024.

In connection with the above changes, the Company fully complied 

with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, i.e. the roles of chairman 

and chief executive was separated by the Company since 15 February 

2024.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam, Mr. Leung Yuk Lun Ulric and Mr. 

Wee Keng Hiong Tony resigned as the independent non-executive 

Directors on 15 February 2024.

Ms. Deng Yongling, Ms. Mao Xiaobi and Ms. Ma Lina were appointed 

as the independent non-executive Directors on 9 February 2024.

With their professional knowledge and experience, the independent 

non-executive Directors serve an important function of advising 

the management of the Group on strategy development and 

ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and 

other mandatory reporting as well as provide adequate checks and 

balances for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the 

Company as a whole. They also participate in the Company’s various 

committees including the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), 

the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the 

nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the legal 

compliance committee (the “Legal Compliance Committee”).

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and 

calibre for their views to carry weight. The functions of independent 

non-executive Directors include:

• bringing an independent view and judgment at Board meetings;

• taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
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• serving on Board committees if invited; and

• scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring 

performance reporting.

The independent non-executive Directors have made a positive 

contribution to the development of the Company’s strategies and 

policies through independent, constructive and informed comments. 

They benefit the Board and the Board committees by their skills, 

expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular 

attendance and active participation in the meetings of the Board and 

the Board committees.

In addition to the regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the 

independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other 

executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive

Directors a written confirmation of his or her independence in 

accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and therefore, 

considers each of them to be independent.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with 

the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised 

below.

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing 

the composition of the Board, Board diversity shall be considered 

from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, 

cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills 

and knowledge. All Board members’ appointments will be based on 

meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against appropriate 

criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

Selection of candidates for the Board will be based on a range of 

diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture, 

ethnicity, educational background, professional experience, knowledge 

and skills.

• 

• 

2024 12 31

GEM

5.09
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Board Diversity Policy

It also sets out the Board’s commitment to gender diversity and other 

diversity aspects, with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity on 

the Board.

During the year 2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed the 

structure, size and diversity of the Board to ensure that its composition 

complies with the GEM Board Listing Rules and reflects an appropriate 

mix of skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to the Company’s 

strategy, governance and business, and contribute to the Board’s 

effectiveness and efficiency.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in the corporate 

governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees 

the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination 

Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and 

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and 

approval.

As at 31 December 2024, an analysis of the Board composition based 

on the range of diversity perspectives is set out as follows:

Designation Executive Directors

Non-executive 

Directors

Independent Non-

executive Directors

  
 
  

2 2 3

Gender Male Female

 

3 4

Age group 35-40

35-40

41-45

41-45

51-62

51-62

4 1 2

Professional background
Catering industry management, corporate compliance management, software and 

IT management, administration and finance management

IT

2024

GEM

2024 12 31
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Each of the Board members possessed different skills and knowledge, 

including business development strategy, marketing management, 

financial management, administration and business management, 

investment development management, etc. The Board is characterized 

by significant diversity in terms of gender, age, designation, length of 

service, skills and knowledge.

The Nomination Committee undertook a comprehensive review, 

considering the gender, age, tenure, cultural/educational and 

professional background, skills, knowledge and experience of each 

Director, as well as the structure, composition, size, commitment and 

independence of the Board.

The Nomination Committee was of the view that the existing Board was 

satisfactory and effective in terms of its size, structure, composition, 

commitment, independence and diversity. The Committee concluded 

that, in order to support board succession planning and long-term 

growth, the Board will require expertise in technology and digital media, 

finance and accounting, risk management, and environmental, social 

and governance (ESG) matters in future. Gender diversity should also 

be taken into account in Board refreshment and succession planning.

As at 31 December 2024, the workforce (including senior management) 

comprised of 41.0% female and 59.0% male, which the Board 

considers to reflect that a gender equality principle has been adhered 

to by the Group.

The Group is determined to and will continue to maintain gender 

diversity and equality in terms of the board and the general workforce.

2024 12 31

41.0% 59.0%
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF 
DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that 

at each annual general meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors 

for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the 

number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office 

by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an 

AGM at least once every three years.

All of the Directors, including both the executive Directors and the 

independent non-executive Directors, are appointed for a specific 

term. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered 

into a letter of appointment with the Company for a period of three 

years subject to the rotation requirement and shall continue thereafter 

unless terminated by either party giving at least one month’s notice in 

writing. In accordance with the Company’s Articles and, at each AGM

of the Company, the Directors will retire from office by rotation but will 

be eligible for re-election.

 

(3)
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS AND 
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director has been given a comprehensive, 

formal and tailored induction on appointment. Subsequently, the 

Directors will receive updates on the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other 

regulatory requirements and the latest development of the Group’s 

business and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional 

development to develop their knowledge and skills. During the 

year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have participated in 

continuing professional development (“CPD”). All Directors have 

provided the Company with their records of training received for the 

year. A summary of their records of training is provided as follows:

Directors Types of CPD Subject of CPD

(Note 1) (Note 2)

1 2
    

Executive Directors

Mr. Kong Linglei 1, 2 A, B

Ms. Wan Suet Yee Cherry 1, 2 A, B
    

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Enyu 1, 2 A, B

Mr. Peng Ben 1, 2 A, B
    

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Ma Lina 1, 2 A, B

Ms. Mao Xiaobi 1, 2 A, B

Ms. Deng Yongling 1, 2 A, B
    

Note 1:

1 Attending in-house briefings/trainings, seminars, conferences or forums

2 Reading newspapers, journals and updates

Note 2:

A. Businesses related to the Company

B. Laws, rules and regulations, accounting standards

 
 

GEM

2024 12 31

1

1  

2 

2

A. 

B. 



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

35

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PRACTICE AND CONDUCT OF BOARD 
MEETINGS

Board Meetings

The Board holds at least four meetings a year at approximately quarterly 

intervals. Additional meetings would be arranged, if and when 

required. The date of each meeting is decided in advance to enable the 

Directors to attend the meeting in person. For those Directors who are 

not able to attend these meetings in person, participation by telephone 

conference is available.

To ensure that all Directors are properly informed about the matters to 

be discussed at each regular Board meeting, documents in relation to 

the regular Board meeting are sent to each Director at least three days 

prior to the meeting.

During the year 2024, the Directors made active contributions to the 

affairs of the Group and four Board meetings were held to consider, 

among other things, various transactions contemplated by the Group 

and to review and approve interim results and annual results of the 

Company.

Schedules and draft agenda of each Board meeting are normally made 

available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’ notice should be 

given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee 

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters 

considered and decisions reached at the meetings are duly kept by the 

Company Secretary and are available for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from 

voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving 

transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a 

material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable 

information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board 

meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised 

of the latest developments and the financial position of the Company 

and to enable them to make informed decisions.

 

2024

14

3
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

Details of Directors’ attendance at the AGM, Board and Board 

Committee meetings in the year 2024 are set out in the following 

table:

Number of meetings attended/held

Annual General 
Meeting/

Extraordinary 
General 

Meetings Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Legal 
Compliance 
Committee

 

       

Executive Directors

Ms. Wong Pui Yain  
(resigned on 15 February 2024) – 1/1 – – – –

2024 2 15
Ms. Wan Suet Yee Cherry 3/3 4/4 – – – –

Mr. Kong Linglei (appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 – – – 1/1
2024 2 9

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Enyu (appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 – – 1/1 –
2024 2 9

Mr. Peng Ben 
(appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 – – – –

2024 2 9

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Devin Nijanthan CHANMUGAM  
(resigned on 15 February 2024) – 1/1 – – – –

Devin Nijanthan CHANMUGAM  
2024 2 15

Mr. Leung Yuk Lun Ulric  
(resigned on 15 February 2024) – 1/1 – – – –

2024 2 15
Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony  

(resigned on 15 February 2024) – 1/1 – – – –
Wee Keng Hiong Tony  

2024 2 15
Ms. Ma Lina (appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1 –

2024 2 9
Ms. Mao Xiaobi  

(appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 2/2 1/1 – 1/1
2024 2 9

Ms. Deng Yongling  
(appointed on 9 February 2024) 3/3 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

2024 2 9

2024



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

37

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Access to Information

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that 

may have affected the Group’s business, including those changes to 

relevant rules and regulations, and are able to make further enquiries 

when necessary. Sufficient explanation and information have been 

provided to the Board by the management to enable the Board to 

make an informed assessment of financial and other information 

put before it for approval. They also have unrestricted access to the 

advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for 

providing the Directors with board papers and related materials. A 

monthly update which gives a balanced and concise assessment of the 

Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail 

is provided to all Directors to enable the Board as a whole and each 

Director to discharge his or her duty. The Board has also agreed that 

the Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing 

their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense.

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage to 

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken 

against the Directors and senior management arising out of corporate 

activities. The insurance coverage and amount are reviewed on an 

annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, including the Audit 

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee 

and the Legal Compliance Committee, with delegated powers for 

overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the 

committees of the Company has been established with written terms 

of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 23 January 2018 

in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. The terms 

of reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority, duties 

and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and the 

Company’s website.

GEM 5.28 2018

1 23

GEM
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Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, meetings 

shall be held not less than twice times a year and the external auditor 

may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive 

Directors: Ms. Deng Yongling (Chairperson), Ms. Mao Xiaobi and Ms. 

Ma Lina (all were appointed on 9 February 2024).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by 

providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial 

reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of 

the Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the 

policies of the Group, and to perform other duties and responsibilities 

as assigned by the Board.

Audit Committee

During the year, two meetings of the Audit Committee were held to 

review and approve the financial results of the Group, including the 

accounting principles and practices adopted, risk management and 

internal control systems, the scope of non-audit services provided by 

the external auditors and its independence, and financial reporting 

matters (in conjunction with the external auditors for the audited 

results). The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatments 

adopted by the Group and, to the best of its ability, assured itself that 

the disclosures of the financial information in the Company’s quarterly, 

interim and annual reports comply with the applicable accounting 

standards and the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditor’s 

remuneration, the independence of the auditor, BDO Limited (“BDO”), 

and recommended the Board to re-appoint BDO as the Company’s 

auditor for the year ending 31 December 2024, which is subject to the 

approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024 

have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which opined that 

applicable accounting standards and requirements have been complied 

with and that adequate disclosures have been made.

2024 2 9

GEM

2024 12 31

2024 12 31
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 23 January 

2018 in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules. The terms 

of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s authority, 

duties and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and 

the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, 

a meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings 

should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent 

non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ma Lina (Chairperson), Ms. Deng 

Yongling and Ms. Mao Xiaobi (all were appointed on 9 February 2024).

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include without 

limitation: (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the 

policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and the 

senior management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal 

and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) 

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 

of the Directors and the senior management of the Group; (c) 

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals 

with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and 

(d) considering and approving the grant of share options to eligible 

participants pursuant to the share option scheme conditionally adopted 

by the sole shareholder of the Company on 23 January 2018 (the 

“Share Option Scheme”).

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration 

by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also 

considers individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, 

performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact 

level of remuneration for each Director.

GEM 5.34 2018

1 23

GEM

2024 2 9

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

2018 1 23
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Remuneration Committee

During the year, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held 

to review the structure and remuneration policy of the Group and to 

approve the remuneration package of the Directors. The emoluments of 

the Directors are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee according 

to the Directors’ respective responsibilities, individual performance 

and prevailing market conditions and recommended the Directors’ 

remuneration package to the Board’s approval.

Senior Management’s remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Group’s Senior Management including 

Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 falls within the 

following bands:

HK$ Number of individuals

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 1,000,000 6

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1
   

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest 

paid individuals are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and the senior 

management was based on their experience, level of responsibility 

and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other 

merit payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the 

individual performance of the Directors and the senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on 23 January 

2018 in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the CG Code. The terms 

of reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties 

and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and the 

Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, a 

meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings 

should be held if the committee shall so request.

2024 12 31

7

B.3.1 2018

1 23
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The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director 

and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Enyu 

(Chairperson), Ms. Deng Yongling and Ms. Ma Lina (all directors were 

appointed on 9 February 2024).

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to (a) review 

the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; (b) 

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; (c) 

assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and 

(d) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating 

to the appointment or reappointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and 

composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as 

discussed matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Nomination Committee

During the year, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held 

to review the structure, size, composition and diversification (including 

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, review the policy 

of Directors’ nomination related matters, assess the independence 

of INEDs, make recommendations to the Board on the proposal of  

re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting, and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment 

of a new Director.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee adopted the Nomination Policy on 20 

September 2018. Details of the Nomination Policy are set out as 

follows:

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors in 

assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

1. Reputation for integrity;

2. Accomplishment and experience in different industries;

2024 2 9

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

2018 9 20

1. 

2. 
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3. Commitment to the Board in respect of available time and 

relevant interest;

4. Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, 

cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional 

experience, skills, knowledge and length of services.

These factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The 

Nomination Committee has discretion to nominate any person as it 

considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1. The secretary of the Nomination Committee or the Company 

Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and 

invite nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for 

consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. 

The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates 

who are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make 

recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. 

For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general 

meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to 

the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons 

shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to 

stand for election at the general meeting.

4. In order to provide information on the candidates nominated 

by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and 

to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent 

to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period 

for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief 

biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience), 

independence, proposed remuneration and any other 

information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules 

and regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in 

the circular to shareholders.

3. 

4. 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 
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5. A shareholder can serve a notice to the Company Secretary within 

the lodgement period of its intention to propose a resolution 

to elect certain person as a Director, without the Board’s 

recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s nomination, 

other than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. 

The particulars of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all 

shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

6. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature at any 

time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to 

the Company Secretary or Chairman.

7. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to 

its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any 

general meeting.

The Nomination Committee may obtain independent professional 

advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it 

considers necessary.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a legal compliance committee on 23 January 

2018. The terms of reference setting out the Legal Compliance 

Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both 

the GEM website and the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Legal Compliance Committee, 

a meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings 

should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of one executive Director 

and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kong 

Linglei (Chairperson), Ms. Deng Yongling and Ms. Mao Xiaobi (all were 

appointed on 9 February, 2024). Please refer to the section headed 

“Business — Internal control and risk management measures — 1. 

Establishment of the legal compliance committee” in the Prospectus for 

further details of the principal responsibilities of the Legal Compliance 

Committee.

The primary function of the Legal Compliance Committee is overseeing 

compliance with laws and regulations relevant to the Group’s 

operations and the adequacy and effectiveness of the regulatory 

compliance procedures and system.

5. 

6. 

7. 

2018 1 23

GEM

2024 2 9

 1.
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During the year, the Legal Compliance Committee reviewed and is 

satisfied with the compliance with laws and regulations relevant to 

the Group’s operations and the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

regulatory compliance procedures and system.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audited consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for 

ensuring that the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements 

for each financial year are prepared to provide a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group 

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies 

Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies 

Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards. In preparing 

the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2024, the Board adopted appropriate and consistent 

accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable judgments 

and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper 

accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state 

of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the 

Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the 

financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory 

requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, 

information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are 

not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary 

steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 

fraud and other irregularities. The auditor’s statement in their reporting 

responsibilities on the audited consolidated financial statements is set 

out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor are set out in 

the Independent Auditor’s Report with the full text included in pages

107 to 113 of this report.

622

2024 12 31
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2024 12 31

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration for the 

audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the 

Group was as follows:

Type of services Amount

HK$’000

   

Annual audit service for the year ended  

31 December 2024  BDO Limited

2024 12 31  

   

850

Non-audit services (note) 275
   

Total 1,125
   

Note: Non-audit services include tax compliance services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the 

Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance 

functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, 

practices on corporate governance, training and continuous 

professional development of the Directors and senior management, 

and the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 

regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and 

compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with 

the “Comply or Explain” principle in the corporate governance report 

which is or will be included in the reports of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities 

transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of 

dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having 

made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company confirmed that 

all of the Directors complied with such required standard of dealings 

and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this 

report.

 

GEM 5.48 5.67

2024

12 31
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GEM

(a) 

2025 6 18

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with 

the shareholders and in particular, through AGMs or other general 

meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage their 

participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for 

separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put 

forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to 

the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites 

of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each 

shareholders’ meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor 

communication policy and to update investors on relevant information 

on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant 

regulatory requirements.

(a) General Meetings with shareholders

The Company’s AGM will be held on 18 June 2025.
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(a) 

(b) 

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be 

convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, 

at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth 

of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting 

at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to 

the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring 

an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for 

the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such 

meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of 

such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails 

to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/

herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all 

reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of 

the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) 

by the Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a 

person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on 

the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(b) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent 

such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary 

who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to 

matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors 

of the Company, communications relating to matters within 

a Board committee’s area of responsibility to the chairperson 

of the appropriate committee, and communication relating to 

ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries and 

consumer complaints, to the appropriate management of the 

Company, in writing to the principal place of business of the 

Company in Hong Kong.
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(c) 

145

(www.

xinxiangera.com )

(c) Putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Shareholders are welcome to put forward proposals relating 

to the operations and the management of the Group to be 

discussed at shareholders’ meetings. The requisition in writing 

should be sent to the Company’s principal place of business 

at 5/F, Dawning House, 145 Connaught Road Central, Sheung 

Wan, Hong Kong. Shareholders who wish to put forward a 

proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by 

following the procedures set out in “Convening an extraordinary 

general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is 

the key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of 

open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders 

and the public investors. The Company updates its shareholders on 

its latest business developments and financial performance through 

annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of 

the Company (www.xinxiangera.com) has provided an effective 

communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

The Company has reviewed the shareholders communication policy 

conducted for the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered that 

the shareholders communication policy has been well implemented 

and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirements 

of relevant laws, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the 

shareholders if the Group is profitable, its operational environment 

is stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made 

by the Group. The Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend 

upon, among other things, the Group’s actual and expected financial 

performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves, liquidity 

position, future cash requirements and availability, restriction on 

payments of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders, 

the general market conditions and any other factor(s) that the Board 

may consider appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend 

policy are subject to the Board’s determination that the same would 

be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the 

Company as a whole.
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2025 1 9

2024 12 31

GEM 5.15 15

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

The Group has established a whistleblower policy. Whistleblowing 

channels are published in all workplace. The policy is to facilitate 

employees, partners and customers to report complaints and internal 

malpractices to the Finance Department of the Company, who will 

review, investigate and follow up these complaints. Once cases are 

verified, investigation results will be announced within the Company 

as warnings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

On 9 January 2025, Ms. Li On Lok, an external services provider, has 

been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company. Her 

primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Peng Ben, the non-

executive Director.

The Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the Board on 

corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board’s policy 

and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are 

followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 

Company Secretary to ensure that the Board’s procedures and all 

applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is 

responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well as 

with management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary 

undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 

compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Access to Information

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that 

may have affected the Group’s business, including those changes to 

relevant rules and regulations, and are able to make further enquiries 

when necessary. Sufficient explanation and information have been 

provided to the Board by the management to enable the Board to 

make an informed assessment of financial and other information 

put before it for approval. They also have unrestricted access to the 

advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for 

providing the Directors with board papers and related materials. A 

monthly update which gives a balanced and concise assessment of the 

Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail 

is provided to all Directors to enable the Board as a whole and each 

Director to discharge his or her duty. The Board has also agreed that 

the Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing 

their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining 

appropriate and effective risk management and internal control 

systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk management and 

internal control include a defined management structure with limits 

of authority, which is designed to help achieve business objectives, 

safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the 

maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable 

financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensure 

compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The systems are 

designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 

material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate 

risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s 

objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, 

lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. 

The division/department head of each core operating division/

department is accountable for the conduct and performance of the 

respective division/department within the agreed strategies (which are 

set by the respective head together with the Board) and reports directly 

to the Board.
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The Group has in place a policy on the handling and disclosure of inside 

information, setting out the appropriate internal control and reporting 

systems to identify and assess potential inside information. The Board 

has delegated the responsibilities for the handling and dissemination 

of inside information to the executive directors and management team 

who will maintain appropriate and effective reporting procedures 

responding to the development or circumstances of the Group in timely 

manner so that the Board can decide whether disclosure is necessary.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to 

various types of risks. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into 

strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks

  

Strategic Risks Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; 

market competition risk, reputation risk

Operational Risks Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Financial Risks Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; inflation risk

Compliance Risks Risk related to occupational safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances 

related to employment; changes of the GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations 

and ordinances

GEM

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of 

the Group and it has delegated to the executive management, the 

responsibilities to carry out the risk identification and monitoring 

procedures. The objectives of the risk management are to enhance 

the governance and corporate management processes as well as to 

safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels of risks and losses.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve, amongst 

others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which 

involves assessment of the consequences and likelihood of risks and the 

development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and 

(ii) an annual review of the implementation of the risk management 

plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

During the year under review, the management outsourced its internal 

audit and risk management function to an external consultant. The 

external consultant reported directly to the Audit Committee on all 

internal audit matters. The internal audit plan was submitted to the 

Audit Committee for approval prior to the commencement of the 

internal audit work. The Audit Committee reviewed the internal audit 

and risk management report and monitored the implementation of 

the improvements required on internal control weaknesses identified. 

They also reported any observations identified by them in the course of 

their work to the Group, and satisfied that there is an ongoing process 

in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 

faced by the Group.

Even though the Group does maintain an internal audit function, the 

Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal 

control systems and for reviewing its effectiveness. Based on the review 

of the Group’s internal control systems, the Directors were satisfied 

that effective internal control measures as appropriate to the Group 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 were implemented properly and 

that no significant areas of weaknesses were identified.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will continue to review its corporate governance standards 

on a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary 

actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards 

including the provisions of the CG Code.

(i)

(ii)

2024 12 31
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INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) 

provides an overview of the initiatives, plans and performance of 

XinXiang Era Group Company Limited (the “Company”, the “Group” 

or “We”, together with its subsidiaries) in Environmental, Social and 

Governance (“ESG”) and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable 

development.

Reporting Period

This Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures 

taken by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the 

“Reporting Period”, “Year”, “2024”).

ESG Management Approach

Being a pioneer in the luxury dinning industry, the Group strives to 

provide the best dining experience and the highest food quality to food 

lovers. As a company dedicated to sustainability and community well-

being, the Group is committed to protecting the natural environment, 

efficient use of natural resources (i.e., food ingredients and energy) 

and social well-being of the community.

Reporting Scope

The Group is a regarded restaurant group in Hong Kong renowned 

for its award-winning establishments that offer a diverse range of 

cuisines such as Chinese, Spanish, Italian, French and Thai, as well 

as specialty coffee from various brands and themes. This ESG Report 

focuses on the Group’s core business activities and gathers information 

from internal sources of control. The Report encompasses the Group’s 

restaurants operating in Hong Kong, including its Hong Kong office, 

as well as the following restaurants: Agora, 22 Ships, Chachawan, 

DUDDELL’s (Airport), DUDDELL’s (Central), Louise, Mak Mak, MONO, 

Andō, and Estro.

Despite the closures of 22 Ships in August and Mak Mak in September 

2024, ESG data of both restaurants will still be included in this Report.

2024 12 31

2024

Agora 22 Ships Chachawan

Louise Mak 

Mak MONO Andō Estro

22 Ships Mak Mak 2024 8 9

ESG
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Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting 

Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”).

Reporting Principles

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the 

Reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

• “Materiality” — A materiality assessment was conducted to 

identify material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby 

adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for the 

preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was 

reviewed and confirmed by the Board. Please refer to the sections 

headed “Engaging Stakeholders” for further details.

• “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with 

quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain any 

standards, methodologies, and source of conversion factors used 

during the calculation of environmental KPI.

• “Balance” — This Report aims to provide a holistic and fair view 

of the sustainability performance of the Group and has not 

omitted any information related to material ESG topics.

• “Consistency”- The approach adopted for the preparation of this 

ESG Report was substantially consistent with the previous year, 

and explanations were provided regarding data with changes in 

the scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies.

C2

• 

• 

• 

• 
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cs@xinxiangera.com

Forward-Looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements which are based on 

the current expectations, projections, and assumptions of the Group 

about the businesses and the markets in which it and its subsidiaries 

operate. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of 

future performance and are subject to market risk, uncertainties, and 

factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes 

and returns may differ materially from the assumptions made and the 

statements contained in this Report.

Confirmation and Approval

This Report was endorsed by the ESG Taskforce and approved by the 

Board in March 2025.

Contact and Feedback

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and 

we welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on this 

Report or our ESG reporting in general. Please share any comments 

or suggestions regarding the Group’s ESG performance at  

cs@xinxiangera.com.

BOARD STATEMENT & ESG GOVERNANCE 
STRUCTURE

Oversight of ESG Issues

The Board of Directors (“Board”) bears the primary responsibility 

for overseeing the Group’s ESG matters, encompassing the ESG 

management approach, strategy, and policies. In order to effectively 

manage the Group’s ESG performance and identify possible risks, the 

Board, in collaboration with the ESG taskforce, conducts materiality 

assessments as needed. These assessments aim to evaluate and 

prioritise significant ESG-related issues, taking into consideration the 

perspectives of our stakeholders. The Board establishes a general 

direction for the Group’s ESG strategies, ensuring the efficacy of ESG 

risk control and internal control mechanisms.
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ESG Taskforce

The Group has established an ESG Taskforce (“Taskforce”), comprised 

of key members from different departments. The Taskforce plays a 

crucial role in collecting pertinent information related to our ESG 

aspects to prepare the ESG Reports. Reporting directly to the Board, 

the Taskforce assists in identifying and assessing the Group’s ESG risks, 

as well as evaluating the effectiveness of internal control mechanisms. 

Furthermore, the Taskforce examines and assesses our performance 

in various ESG-related goals and targets, including areas such as 

environmental sustainability, health and safety, labor standards, 

and product responsibilities. Aligned with the Board’s directives, the 

Taskforce ensures the implementation of diverse ESG strategies and 

policies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is dedicated to fostering a sustainable approach within its 

ESG strategies to enhance performance in environmental protection 

and social responsibility. Valuing the input from stakeholders, the 

Group actively seeks to understand, respond to, and address the 

primary concerns of various stakeholders through close communication. 

To facilitate effective communication and incorporate stakeholder 

feedback into sustainable management and ESG strategy development, 

a wide array of communication channels has been established.

When formulating operational and ESG strategies, the Group considers 

stakeholders’ expectations through diverse engagement methods and 

communication channels. These methods and channels are outlined 

below:

Stakeholders Possible Issues of Concern Communication Channels

   

Government/Regulatory Authorities • Compliance with policies and 

regulations

• Operational compliance

• Routine reporting and disclosure

• Announcements

• Press releases

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Stakeholders Possible Issues of Concern Communication Channels

   

Customers • Food and service quality
• Delivery time

• Company website
• Phone and email communication
• Communication with staff
• Customer comment cards

• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Suppliers • Supplier management
• Customer service

• Supplier assessment
• Site visits

• 
• 

• 
• 

Employees • Rights and benefits
• Remuneration and compensation
• Career development and training
• Working hours
• Occupational health and safety
• Working environment

• Employee training
• Employee communication meetings
• Performance reviews
• Employee handbook

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Stakeholders and Investors • Corporate governance system
• Business strategies and 

performance
• Corporate transparency and 

reputation

• Annual/Extraordinary general 
meetings

• Annual reports and announcements
• Company website and email

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

Community • Community environment
• Employment and community 

development
• Social welfare

• Community activities
• Employee voluntary activities
• Community welfare subsidies
• Charitable donations

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Material issues in this Report refer to what may have a significant 

impact on the Group’s business operations or have an actual impact 

on stakeholders. To identify and prioritise these issues, the Group 

conducts a materiality assessment survey every year, presenting the 

findings in the form of a materiality matrix.

The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues:

IM
PA

C
T 

O
N

 S
TR

A
K

EH
O

LD
ER

S
對
持
份
者
的
影
響

IMPACT ON BUSINESS
對業務的影響

MATERIALITY MATRIX OF THE GROUP
本集團重要性矩陣

Low
低

High
高

High
高

11
5

6
12

14

10 7

3

9

13

1

2

4

15

8

17

16

1
Food Hygiene

7
Recruitment, Promotion,  
and Remuneration 13

Prevention of Child and  
Forced Labour

2
Customer Satisfaction &  
Food Quality 8

Technology Innovation
14

Climate Change

3
Occupational Health and Safety

9
Development and Training

15
Protection of  
Intellectual Property

4
Customer Data Privacy 
Protection 10

Green Supply Chain 
Management 16

Community Participation

5
Waste Disposal

11
Emissions

17
Anti-Corruption

6
Water Consumption

12
Energy Consumption
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A. A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

The Group is committed to environmental conservation and 

minimising the adverse effects of its business activities on 

the natural environment. Placing paramount importance on 

continuous improvement in sustainable performance, the 

Group simultaneously strives for future business growth. The 

establishment of ESG goals and the implementation of proactive 

measures are key steps taken by the Group to mitigate any 

negative impacts on the environment.

During the Reporting Period, there is no record of non-compliance 

for environment compliance issues. The Group strictly complies 

with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including 

but not limited to Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste 

Disposal Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance and Environmental 

Impact Assessment Ordinance.

Air Emissions

The primary source of air emissions for the Group arises from 

the utilisation of town gas in its F&B operations’ kitchens. The 

emission of oily fumes from these operations can result in 

odors affecting nearby neighborhoods. To mitigate emissions, 

the Group has implemented measures aimed at reducing such 

impacts. These measures include the installation of efficient 

filtering equipment and the regular maintenance of ventilation 

systems.
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The summary of the air emissions is as follows:

Unit

Indicator 2024 2023
     

Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) (NOx) kg

33.07 33.61

Sulphur Oxide (SOx) (SOx) kg

0.2 0.2

Particulate Matter (PM) (PM) kg

0 0
     

GHG Emissions

The consumption of electricity at the office as well as town gas 

consumption for the F&B operations are the major sources of 

GHG emissions of the Group.

GHG emissions is stated as below:

Unit

Indicator1 1 2024 2023
     

Scope 1  Direct GHG Emissions

• Town gas

1 

• 

tCO2e 439.66 446.87

Scope 2  Indirect GHG Emissions

• Purchased Electricity

• Purchased Town gas

2 

• 

• 

tCO2e 1,334.46 1,535.46

Scope 3  Other Indirect GHG Emissions

• Electricity generated from processing 

Freshwater

• Electricity generated from processing 

Sewage

3 

• 

• 

tCO2e 14.16 26.39

     

Total GHG Emissions tCO2e 1,788.27 2,008.73

     

Intensity2 2 tCO2e/mil rev 7.31 7.23
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1. 

World 

Resources Institute

World Business Council for Sustainable 

Development

2023

2023

2023

2023

2023

2014

(IPCC) (AR5

2. 2024 12 31

244.6 2023 12 31

217

2050

2021

10%

Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and 

was in reference to, including but not limited to, the reporting 

requirements of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and 

Reporting Standard” issued by the World Resources Institute 

and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 

the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting 

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX, the 

“Sustainability Report 2023” published by the Hong Kong Electric 

Investments Limited, the “2023 Sustainability Report” published 

by the CLP Power Hong Kong, ESG Report 2023 published by 

Towngas, Sustainability Report 2023 from Water Services 

Department, Sustainability Report 2023 from Drainage Service 

Department, and “Global Warming Potential Values” from the 

IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (AR5), 2014.

2. As at 31 December 2024, the total revenue of the Group is 

HK$244.6 mil (as at 31 December 2023: HK$217 mil). This data is 

also used for calculating other intensity data.

The Group is determined to reduce GHG emissions to cope with 

the target of zero carbon economy in 2050 of Hong Kong, by 

setting the target of 10% reduction in carbon emission intensity 

by adopting holistic management plan and implementing energy-

efficiency plan over the next 10 years, with 2021 as base year of 

comparison. Ongoing monitoring and evaluation of the progress 

will be regularly reviewed for goal achievement.
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Sewage Discharge

The Group diligently adheres to the applicable sewage regulations, 

demonstrating its commitment to water pollution control. The 

Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong has granted 

a water pollution control license for the Group’s F&B operations, 

further validating its compliance with regulatory requirements. 

In order to mitigate water pollution, the Group has installed 

adequate equipment to ensure that sewage is appropriately 

treated before being discharged.

Units

Indicators 2024 2023
     

Sewage Discharge m³

17,032 31,742

Intensity m³/mil rev

69.63 114
     

Waste Management

The Group complied with the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 

354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when handling and disposing 

of waste. The major types of waste generated from the Group’s 

operations were waste cooking oil, food waste from the Group’s 

diners, and bottles from pre-packaged beverages.

Handling of Waste Cooking Oil (“WCO”)

The primary waste generated from the Group’s restaurant 

operations was waste cooking oil (WCO). In order to strengthen 

the regulation and conservation of the environment regarding 

the handling and flow of WCO, the Environmental Protection 

Department has implemented administrative measures. These 

measures involve the registration of eligible local WCO collectors, 

processors, and exporters.

The Group has assigned qualified WCO collectors who are 

responsible for the collection and recycling of WCO. The collected 

WCO is then processed into biodiesel, a form of green energy. 

This biodiesel is derived entirely from repurposed waste oil and 

serves as a new source of sustainable energy.

354
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Hazardous Waste

Due to the nature of its business, the Group did not generate 

any hazardous waste during the Reporting Period. However, the 

Group has also formulated guidelines for the management and 

disposal of hazardous waste. If any hazardous waste is generated, 

the Group must engage qualified chemical waste collectors to 

treat such waste to comply with relevant environmental laws 

and regulations.

Units

2024 2023
     

WCO Barrels

477 440.5

Intensity Barrels/mil rev

1.95 1.6
     

Non-Hazardous Waste (Applying “5R” concept)

The Group embraces the “5Rs” concept in waste management, 

which extends beyond the recycling of WCO for biodiesel. This 

concept encompasses various phases of operations, including 

food wastage and bottles from pre-packaged beverages. 

Implementing portion controls is a crucial step taken by the 

Group to prevent excessive food waste. Recognising that some 

diners may have smaller appetites, staff members are trained to 

offer customers the option to take leftover food as a takeaway, 

promoting a green lifestyle.

To minimise food wastage, the Group has implemented 

inventory control measures. The procurement team is equipped 

with operational manuals and receives training on food ordering 

and processing guidelines, ensuring better inventory control 

and reducing food wastage. In addition to managing WCO and 

food wastage, the Group has proactively introduced measures 

to minimise waste disposal. One significant source of waste 

comes from pre-packaged beverages, such as still and sparkling 

water bottles. To address this issue at its source, the Group 

has introduced an environmentally-friendly solution in select 

restaurants, including Louise, Andō, and Duddell’s — a tap water 

filtering system called Nordaq, which provides premium water. 

This initiative is expected to achieve a significant reduction in 

bottle waste in the long term.

5R

5R

Louise And

Nordaq
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Waste management practices also extend to the Group’s office 

operations in Hong Kong, where paper waste is a major concern. 

To promote a paper-saving culture, the Group encourages 

duplex printing, recycling used paper, and discouraging the 

printing of unnecessary documents. These efforts contribute to 

minimising paper waste and fostering a more sustainable office 

environment.

Units

Indicators 2024 2023
     

Non-hazardous waste

• Office Paper • 

Tonnes

2.58 1.00

Intensity Tonnes/mil rev

0.106 0.004
     

Moving forward, the Group remains committed to continually 

reviewing and monitoring its waste disposal and management 

scheme as an integral part of its sustainable strategies. Waste 

management policies have been formulated to effectively handle 

the wastes generated from the Group’s operational activities. 

The Group steadfastly complies with waste disposal regulations, 

including but not limited to the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 

354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), in order to uphold responsible 

waste management practices.

Use of Resources

The Group’s F&B operations rely significantly on town gas for 

cooking purposes, as well as electricity and water for the day-to-

day functioning of its restaurants.

Energy Management

In response to the Updated Climate Action Plan 2050, the Group 

has established a target of reducing energy consumption intensity 

by 10% through a reinforced energy efficiency plan over the 

next 10 years, using FY2021 as the base year for comparison. 

Electricity consumption is a significant decarbonisation focus 

outlined in the Climate Action Plan for Hong Kong, and the 

Group has implemented responsive measures to align with local 

objectives.

354

2050

10

10% 2021
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LED

To minimise energy consumption, the Group has introduced 

various initiatives. High energy efficiency equipment, such as air 

conditioners and refrigerators with Grade 1 Energy Labels, have 

been adopted. Energy-saving concepts are incorporated into 

the interior design of the restaurants, including the use of LED 

lights. Additionally, alarms and auto-closers have been installed 

on walk-in cooler and freezer doors. Operational workflows 

have been streamlined to reduce energy consumption through 

improved communication and management practices.

The Group is committed to fostering a resource-saving culture in 

the workplace and raising employee awareness of environmental 

protection. Proactive measures have been implemented to 

encourage staff to adopt green working practices, such as 

minimising unnecessary energy and water usage, and diligently 

switching off lights and machines when not in use.

The Group’s energy consumption performance is as follows:

Units

Indicator 2024 2023
     

Direct Energy

• Town Gas • 

MWh

2,296.27 2,333.96

Indirect Energy

• Purchased Electricity • 

MWh

1,995.89 2,216.15
     

Total Energy Consumption MWh

4,292.16 4,550.12
     

Intensity MWh/mil rev

17.55 16.37
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Water Management

The Group’s office water consumption is not included in this 

ESG Report as the bill for water consumption is encompassed 

within the property management fee. Consequently, we do not 

have specific water usage data for our office spaces. Despite this, 

we actively promote behavioral changes and encourage water 

conservation practices among our employees.

In contrast, our restaurants have detailed water usage data, as 

water is essential for cooking, cleaning, and maintaining hygiene 

standards. We prioritise efficient water usage through the 

implementation of water-saving devices and regular maintenance 

to prevent leaks and wastage. Additionally, we educate our staff 

on best practices for water conservation and foster a culture of 

sustainability within our organisation.

Units

Indicator 2024 2023
     

Water Consumption m³

24,332 45,346

Intensity m³

99.48 163.23
     

Use of Packaging Materials

The Group consumed significant amount of packaging materials 

such as takeaway boxes and plastic bags, mainly attributed to 

the takeaway service in the restaurant operations, to ensure 

food hygiene and food quality. In recent years, the popularity of 

food delivery platforms has surged, and an increasing number of 

people have embraced the convenience of ordering takeout. As 

a result, there has been a notable rise in the usage of takeaway 

boxes and plastic bags.

To address this issue, the Group has implemented guidelines for 

employees to minimise the usage of packaging materials and 

has established recycling and reuse practices. Recognising the 

environmental impact, the Group has transitioned to consuming 

recyclable and biodegradable packaging materials, aiming to 

reduce the pressure on the natural environment.
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Zero Foodprint

Zero Foodprint

1%

During the Reporting Period, the disclosure of the actual amount 

of packaging materials used is unavailable due to fluctuations in 

demand. However, the Group is actively working on developing a 

data collection system to accurately measure and track packaging 

materials usage.

Impact on the Environment and Natural 
Resources

The Group pursues the best practices in environment protection. 

Sourcing top quality food ingredients globally is an important 

step for offering luxury dining experience to customers. Excessive 

plantation and resources exhaustion will cause negative impacts 

on the planet. The Group formulated procurement manual to 

procurement team, as a guidance to source ingredients from 

sustainable sources including Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 

certified, or those that are organically farmed.

The Group has participated in donation to “Zero Foodprint” 

which turning the atmospheric carbon into healthy soil carbon 

through different farm projects. According to Zero Foodprint, 

“Scientists has confirmed that 1% is enough for soil to save the 

world from climate change”. Through different farm projects, 

carbon emission is put down to the soil and reduce the impact 

of climate change.

Indoor air quality in our restaurant is regularly monitored and 

measured. By conducting regular cleaning of the air conditioning 

system, we managed to maintain good indoor air quality and 

filter out pollutants, contaminants, and dust particles.

Climate Change

The Group’s F&B operations are closely tied to climate change 

as ensuring a consistent supply of high-quality food is essential 

for delivering a luxury dining experience. To promote sustainable 

development, the Group conducts risk identification and 

assessment related to climate change. Climate-related risks are 

integrated into the enterprise risk management framework to 

identify and mitigate potential challenges.
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22%

Physical Risk

It is expected that global warming and extreme weather includes 

drought, flooding, and continuous rise of temperature, which 

will reduce vegetables and livestock supply. Increase in cost 

of food is expected due to decrease in food supply caused by 

climate change, which in terms reducing the revenue to the 

Group. Climate change also limits the choices and quality of 

food ingredients due to poor harvest under unanticipated natural 

hazards, which places restriction on innovation of menu design 

and choices of ingredients used. Transportation of food supply 

is also heavily affected by extreme weather. Delivery of specific 

ingredients will be blocked by flooding, implying that there 

is a challenge to the Group on the launch of seasonal menu 

promotion, which requires specific seasonal ingredients.

Transitional Risk

The Group identified market risk of unstable food supply and 

lower food quality caused by climate change. Global warming 

will cause a change in pattern of precipitation event, micro-

climate, biodiversity, and gradual increase of temperature, which 

is changing the ecosystem and food chain, such as, warming 

New England are contributing to shifting lobster populations, 

Pacific salmon are changing their migration behaviours, the 

grapes ad growing season in California wine country are being 

impacted and shortage of coffee over the next few decades. The 

Group revenue could be adversely affected by transitional risk.

According to the United Nations, the food sector accounts for 

around 30% of world total energy consumption and for around 

22% total greenhouse gas emissions. Restaurants will inevitably 

be impacted by vigorous fluctuations in energy prices. The future 

uncertainty of carbon tax that may also be a transition risk.

Opportunities due to Climate Changes

The Group prioritises sustainable sourcing to lessen environmental 

impact. We purchase Marine Steward Council (MSC) certified 

ocean products and sustainably-sourced meats globally from 

suppliers that prioritises ESG issues. Our procurement team also 

sources high-quality food ingredients locally, which reduces air 

and GHG emissions from transportation. This local sourcing 

ensures timely delivery of ingredients, alleviates pressure on food 

supply, and smooths seasonal menu launches.
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By analysing dining and drinking habits, the Group transforms 

risks into opportunities to mitigate market risks. Recognising 

changes in customer preferences, we have expanded our 

customer base through menu enhancements that cater to a wide 

range of dining habits and offer a diverse selection of cuisine.

Additionally, our procurement team actively seeks fresh 

ingredient sources to minimise procurement challenges. We 

invest in upgrading IT systems to streamline workflows, leading 

to improved operational efficiency and productivity. These efforts 

contribute to reduced operating costs and a more sustainable 

use of natural resources.

B. SOCIAL

Employment

Employees are our valuable assets. We have developed employee 

handbook to govern the discipline, working hours, leaves and 

other benefits of our employees, in accordance with the relevant 

laws and regulations.

To attract, motivate and retain experience staffs, we reviewed 

their pay packages annually with prevailing market conditions. 

Our full-time employees are entitled to maternity, paternity, 

compassionate leaves, medical insurance, performance related 

bonus and mandatory provident fund.

Social and recreational activities are arranged for the employees 

in achieving work-life balance. We apply equal opportunity 

and non-discrimination in recruitment, promotion and all other 

aspects of our employment practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of 

any material non-compliance with employment related laws 

and regulations that would have a significant impact on the 

Group. Such laws and regulations include but not limited to the 

Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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2024 12 31As of 31 December 2024, the information of number of 

employees is shown below:

2024

Number of 

Employees 

Percentage of 

Employees 

    

Total 249 100%
    

Gender

Male 148 59%

Female 101 41%

Age Group

Below 30 30 69 28%

30-50 30-50 137 55%

Above 50 50 43 17%

Geographical region

Hong Kong 249 100%

Employment Type

Full-time 215 86%

Part-time 34 14%

By Employee Category

Senior Management 30 12%

Middle Management 23 9%

Frontline and other staff 196 79%
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45.38%

At 2024, the overall turnover rate of the Group was 45.38%. The 

table below shows the employee turnover rate by gender, age 

group and geographical region:

Fiscal Year 2024 2023
    

Gender

Male 40% 59%

Female 53% 48%

Age Group

Below 30 30 57% 58%

30-50 30-50 40% 54%

Above 50 50 44% 49%

Geographical region

Hong Kong 45% 54%3

    

Note:

3. The turnover for FY 2023 by geographical region has been 

restated.

Health and Safety

The Group places a high level of importance on ensuring the 

occupational health and safety of its employees within its 

restaurant operations. The well-being of employees is always 

a top priority. To this end, the Group has established a 

comprehensive Health and Safety at Work Policy that provides 

clear guidelines and promotes safety awareness, especially within 

the F&B operation.

Employees are actively encouraged to report any accidents or 

incidents through the internal reporting system. Such cases are 

promptly assigned to the relevant departments and handled in 

accordance with the Group’s standard procedures. Additionally, 

a Health and Safety Committee has been formed to oversee 

occupational risks and facilitate regular meetings with the 

operations teams.

3. 2023
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133

Employees are required to attend health and safety training to 

minimise work injury and severe cases, training content includes 

first aid, fire evacuation and other emergency procedures during 

initial training and refresher programs on a regular basis. The 

Group endeavours to minimise work-related risks and did not 

identify any material non-compliance regarding occupational 

safety and health-related laws and regulations, including but 

not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance 

(Chapter 509 of the Law of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 133 lost days 

due to work injury and zero case of fatality in the past three 

years.

Unit

Fiscal Year 2024 2023 2022
      

Fatalities due to work Cases

0 0 0

Lost days due to work injury Days

133 54 36
      

Training and Development

Delivering excellent and professional service is a key element of 

our success. To ensure employees are equipped with sufficient 

knowledge in the F&B operation and customer service industry, 

we assign various training programs to staff to maintain the 

Group’s service quality. To optimise resource allocation and 

enhance operational efficiency, the Group provides role-specific 

training across different sections of restaurant operations. 

These programs cover topics such as food preparation and 

preservation, customer service, quality control, and specific 

dietary requirements. By equipping staff with the necessary 

professional knowledge for their roles, we aim to prevent 

resource misallocation.
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The Group is committed to effectively allocating training 

resources, ensuring employees receive appropriate knowledge 

and skills through orientation and ongoing training programs. 

Career advancement is a key focus, and we strive to enrich 

employees’ knowledge through comprehensive orientation upon 

joining. Additionally, internal training sessions are conducted 

regularly, and external training opportunities are arranged 

as needed. As part of the onboarding process, all employees 

undergo 4 hours orientation on their first day to ensure a smooth 

transition into their roles. Continuous internal training is provided 

to all employees, with external training opportunities arranged 

whenever necessary.

Labour Practice

The Group has zero tolerance and strictly prohibits the use of 

child labour, forced labour and hiring of illegal immigrants in 

our operations. Below measures have been taken to avoid these 

illegal employment practices.

Prevention of child labour During the recruitment process, the human resources department will verify the 

applicant’s identity documents and ensure that they have reached the minimum 

age for employment.

Prohibition of forced labour The Group specifies overtime compensation provisions in the Employee 

Handbook. The Group carefully monitors the employee working time and 

working schedule to ensure they work voluntarily and freely.

Prevention of hiring of illegal 

immigrants

A Stringent recruitment screening procedure is adopted to ensure that all 

recruited employees bear the necessary documents to work for the Group, such 

as Hong Kong ID, proof of eligible working visa, the Construction Industry Safety 

Training Certificate, etc.
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In case of any illegal labour practice is discovered, the Group 

will stop their employments immediately. An investigation will 

be carried out subsequently and report the case to the relevant 

authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any 

material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related 

laws and regulations, including but not limited to Employment 

Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Supply Chain Management

Achieving a high level of service and sourcing quality food is 

one of the Group’s primary goals. To ensure this, suppliers 

must meet our stringent quality standards. We have a supply 

chain management system with supplier engagement policies. 

Designated procurement staff handle supplier selection, 

monitoring, and reviewing for efficiency.

The Group only purchases from pre-approved suppliers who 

pass our assessments. Priority is given to those with relevant 

certificates or meeting specific food standards. Supplier 

reputation is also crucial. Each restaurant outlet may have its own 

supplier assessment, but the Group usually selects those with 

the highest industry reputation. Chefs share the responsibility 

of checking ingredients during food preparation. Only food that 

passes both our selection process and chef’s inspection is served. 

Non-compliant supplies are returned, affecting supplier ratings.

Distribution of Suppliers is shown as below:

Regions 2024 2023
    

Hong Kong 216 290
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Green Procurement

The Group implements green procurement to protect the 

environment and conserves natural resources for sustainability 

enhancement. To ensure marine ecosystem is conserved and avoid 

marine resources being exhausted, the Group purchases from 

sustainable sources whenever possible, such as Marine Steward 

Council (MSC) certified ocean products and sustainable meat 

sources around the globe. Continuous cooperation with local 

farms to secure a sustainable and stable supply of safe and fresh 

ingredients. The Group supports responsible farming practices, by 

purchasing local, sustainable, and humanely produced products. 

Sourcing locally to reduce air and GHG emission generated by 

vehicles consumption. Ongoing effort will be placed to develop 

sustainable food chain by the Group, by taking consideration 

of ESG issues into procurement process. Maintaining a healthy 

and balanced biodiversity through sustainable consumption of 

natural resources.

Product Responsibility

Dining Experience

The Group is committed to delivering a memorable dining 

experience to its valued customers, characterised by high-quality 

food and exceptional professional service. To stay attuned to 

evolving customer expectations and foster innovation, the Group 

maintains consistent communication channels with its customers. 

This enables the Group to understand their preferences and 

consider special dietary requirements related to allergies, religious 

or personal beliefs, and more. Such valuable insights guide the 

design of new menus that cater to a diverse range of potential 

customers.
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To ensure the highest service quality, employees undergo 

professional training to equip them with the necessary skills 

to deliver excellent service and handle customer inquiries with 

proficiency. The Group provides comprehensive guidance to its 

staff on how to effectively address and resolve guest complaints. 

Customer complaints are handled systematically, with a clear 

protocol in place. All customer complaints are to be addressed 

by a senior staff member or restaurant manager. Additionally, 

any significant customer complaints are promptly reported to 

the Operations Directors for their attention and appropriate 

actions. By prioritising effective communication with customers, 

providing professional training to employees, and implementing 

a systematic approach to handling complaints, the Group strives 

to maintain and enhance its service quality.

Customer Safety and Food Hygiene

To maintain food hygiene and safety is the highest priority of the 

Group’s business strategy. The Group strictly complied with all 

food safety-related regulations, including but not limited to Cap. 

612 Food Safety Ordinance in Hong Kong. Internal control and risk 

management system are implemented to maintain high standard 

of food hygiene. Employees are provided with food safety and 

internal control guideline for food preparation and food handling 

to mitigate food safety risks. To maintain cleanliness in food 

preparation. The Group implemented comprehensive measures 

regarding food safety and quality control, including but not 

limited to the following:

• Cleaning of food preparation equipment frequently

• Cleaning schedules are established to ensure regular 

cleaning of freezers, ovens, stoves, microwaves, chopping 

boards and knives.

• Staff are required to have the highest standard of personal 

hygiene such as hand washing and using disposable glove 

for food preparation.

• Freezer storage and temperature are set as correct 

temperature to avoid food contamination and food 

poisoning.

• Hot food must be held at optimum temperature during 

transfer, display & service.
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• Ensure quality and hygienic source of food ingredients such 

as using portable water for ice making, using pasteurised 

egg for dressing preparation, etc.

During the Reporting Period, no material products and service-

related complaints were received. No recalled cases of products 

sold or delivered due to health and safety reasons have been 

recorded.

Technology Innovation

Recognising the need to adapt to the challenges posed by 

economic instability that extended into 2024, the Group made 

significant investments in technology innovation to optimise 

restaurant operations and enhance overall efficiency. As part 

of this effort, the Group developed an efficient online ordering 

system and engaged with delivery apps services. Furthermore, 

the Group embraced digital marketing strategies, actively 

promoting its offerings across various social media platforms. 

This digital presence enabled the Group to connect with a wider 

audience, effectively engaging with customers and showcasing 

its unique value proposition. To further enhance operational 

efficiency, the Group accelerated the process of digitalisation 

across every step of its operations. This involved implementing 

digital solutions and systems to streamline processes such as 

inventory management, order processing, and customer 

relationship management. By embracing technology, the Group 

aimed to optimise resource allocation, reduce manual efforts, 

and enhance overall operational effectiveness.

Advertising and Menu Setting

The Group places great importance on the careful selection 

of marketing materials that are shared with the public. This 

approach is adopted to ensure that product descriptions are 

accurate and avoid any exaggeration. The Group is committed 

to adhering to responsible content practices in its marketing 

materials, in full compliance with relevant regulations, including 

but not limited to the Trade Description Ordinance (Chapter 362 

of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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528

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group has maintained a 

strong commitment to compliance in advertising and labeling-

related laws and regulations. No instances of material non-

compliance have been identified during this period. The Group 

remains dedicated to upholding the highest standards of integrity 

and transparency in its marketing practices, ensuring that all 

materials accurately represent the products and services offered.

Customer Data Privacy

The Group respects customer data privacy and complies with 

relevant data privacy regulations, including but not limited to 

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (chapter 486 of the Laws 

of Hong Kong) (the “PDPO”), regarding data collection, data 

processing, use of personal data and data storage. Data collected 

will only be used for the stated purpose and information will be 

kept confidentially. Employees acknowledged that they should 

keep customers data confidential during the business process, 

with reference to relevant terms and conditions set out in 

employment contract and internal policies. Employees are not 

allowed to disclose confidential data to any third party, breach of 

such policies may result in termination of employment without 

prior notice. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not 

record any non-compliance with the PDPO.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights and set out the 

Intellectual Property policy to comply with relevant regulation, 

including but not limited to Cap. 528 Copyright Ordinance. 

Intellectual Property Rights includes but not limited to patents, 

rights to inventions, copyright and related rights, trademarks, 

trade names and domain names. The Group will seek for the 

approval from the inventor or creator for using their ideas, work 

or trademarks which are covered by the IP Rights. Intellectual 

Property Rights is included in the employment contract. Employee 

should comply with the regulations. During the Year, the Group 

did not record any material non-compliance with intellectual 

property issues.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group is resolute in fostering a culture of unwavering 

commitment to ethical business practices and maintaining the 

highest standards of integrity. It firmly upholds a zero-tolerance 

approach towards corruption. To ensure compliance with the 

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap.201 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong) (the “POBO”), the Group has developed a comprehensive 

anti-corruption policy.

In respect of the policy, clear guidelines of supplier due diligence, 

segregation of duties, declaration of conflict of interest are 

executed with proper record keeping. The employee handbook 

clearly states the employees code of conduct, including the 

responsibility of employees and misconducts such as bribery, 

kickbacks or accepting any advantage from any person, company, 

or organisation having business dealings with the Group, or any 

subordinate, are forbidden.

There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 

brought against the Group or its employees during the Reporting 

Period.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest 

standards of openness, probity, and accountability. As such, the 

Group set out Whistle-blowing policy to encourage employees 

reporting suspicious cases of misconducts, to prevent harms to 

the Group or third parties.

This policy is intended to cover serious concerns that could have 

an impact on the Group, including but not limited to the breach 

of rules of conduct, polices or internal controls of the Group; 

breach of legal or regulatory requirements; malpractice, fraud 

and corruption, and miscarriage of justice.

Identity of whistle blowers will be kept confidential. Reports and 

complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner. 

The Group will conduct investigation for reported cases, which 

will be diverted to relevant regulators or authorises if needed. 

Such policy also aims at protecting whistle-blowers from unfair 

dismissal, victimisation, and unwarranted disciplinary actions.
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Anti-Corruption Training

Enhancing employee awareness of anti-corruption practices 

is a top priority for the Group. To accomplish this, regular 

training sessions are conducted for all staff members. In a 

collective endeavor to reinforce compliance awareness, the 

Group consistently invites representatives from the Independent 

Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”) to deliver informative 

talks on anti-bribery measures. Additionally, the Group’s 

Directors actively engaged in anti-corruption training to deepen 

their understanding of anti-corruption protocols and share 

option scheme.

Community Investment

As part of our commitment to social responsibility, our Group 

is dedicated to enhancing the well-being of the communities 

we serve. In line with this mission, we will distribute coupons 

and vouchers to customers and individuals in need, providing 

them with essential support and access to goods and services. 

By offering these resources, we aim to alleviate financial burdens 

and promote a sense of community solidarity. Our initiative 

reflects our dedication to creating positive social impact and 

fostering a culture of care and inclusivity.
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2024.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at an extraordinary general 

meeting held on 22 February 2024 and the issue of the Certificate of 

Incorporation on Change of Name issued by the Registrar of Companies 

in the Cayman Islands on 29 February 2024, the English name of the 

Company has been changed from “Jia Group Holdings Limited” to 

“XinXiang Era Group Company Limited” and the dual foreign name 

of the Company in Chinese had been changed from ”

” to ” ” with effect from 29 February 2024.

The Companies Registry in Hong Kong also issued the certificate 

of registration of alteration of name of registered non-Hong Kong 

company on 14 March 2024, confirming the registration of the new 

English and Chinese names of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 

16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The 

principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the 

consolidated financial statements. The principal activities of the Group 

is the operation of restaurants in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set 

out on pages 114 to 117 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in 

respect of the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of 

the Group for the last five years is set out on page 224 of this report.

2024

12 31

2024 2 22

2024 2 29

Jia Group Holdings 

Limited XinXiang Era Group Company 

Limited

2024 2 29

2024 3 14

622 16

39

2024 12 31

114 117

2024 12 31

224
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17

2024 12 31

28

2024 12 31

30

37

2024 2023 12 31

2024 12 31

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE 
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND 
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Placing 

of New Shares under General Mandate” in Management Discussion 

and Analysis, the Group had no definite future plans for material 

investments and capital assets.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the 

Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 17 

to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2024 are set 

out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during 

the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 30 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company are set out in 

note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any 

reserves available for distribution to owners.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company 

nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s listed securities.
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Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam

2024 2 15

Wee Keng Hiong Tony

2024 2 15

2024 2 9

2024 2 9
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108

111
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9 GEM

5.02D 2024 2 9

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 

2024 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wong Pui Yain (resigned on 15 February 2024)

Ms. Wan Suet Yee Cherry

Mr. Kong Linglei (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Enyu (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Mr. Peng Ben (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yuk Lun Ulric (resigned on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam 

(resigned on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony 

(resigned on 15 February 2024)

Ms. Deng Yongling (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Ms. Mao Xiaobi (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Ms. Ma Lina (appointed on 9 February 2024)

Pursuant to article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, 

at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by 

rotation at least once every three years. Pursuant to article 111 of the 

Articles, directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional 

director shall be subject to retirement by rotation pursuant to Article 

108. Accordingly, Mr. Kong Linglei, Mr. Peng Ben and Ms. Deng 

Yongling shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and 

shall be eligible for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF DIRECTORS’ 
OBLIGATIONS

Each of Mr. Kong Linglei, Mr. Peng Ben, Mr. Liu Enyu, Ms. Deng 

Yongling, Ms. Mao Xiaobi and Ms. Ma Lina, who were appointed 

as directors of the Company on 9 February 2024, has obtained legal 

advice pursuant to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 9 February 

2024 and has confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations as 

a director of the Company.
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(a) 

(b)  

2024 2 9

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given the 

Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 

5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the 

independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet the 

independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND 
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service 

contract with the Company for a term of three years (subject 

to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the 

relevant service contract), which may be terminated by not less 

than one month’s notice served by either party on the other. 

The appointments are subject to the provisions of the Articles 

with regard to vacation of office of Directors and removal and 

retirement by rotation of Directors.

(b) Non-executive Directors and Independent non- 
executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non- 

executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with 

the Company for a period of three years commencing from 9 

February, 2024 (subject to termination in certain circumstances 

as stipulated in the relevant letter of appointment), which may 

be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by 

either party on the other. The appointments are subject to the 

provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation of office of 

Directors and removal and retirement by rotation of Directors. 

Save for the directors’ fee, none of the non-executive Directors 

and independent non-executive Directors is expected to receive 

any other remuneration for holding their office as a non-

executive Director or an independent non-executive Director and 

a member of any board committees of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no Director has entered into any service 

agreement with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring 

or determinable by the employer within one year without payment of 

compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration 

Committee with reference to the benchmarking of the market. The 

Company also looks at individual Director’s competence, duties, 

responsibilities and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid 

individuals of the Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out on pages 

17 to 23 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors or an entity 

connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly 

or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance 

in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent 

company was a party and subsisting at any time during or at the end 

of the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, no contract of significance had been entered 

into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling 

shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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2024 12 31

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES 
OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in 

this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was 

the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, 

a party to any arrangement that enables the Directors or chief executive 

of the Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years of 

age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or 

any of its specified undertakings as defined in the Companies (Report 

of the Board of Directors) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means 

of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 

body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter into or have any 

management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole 

or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESS

The Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the 

Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of 

their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) 

that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any 

other conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with 

the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the 

date of this report.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION 
UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders has undertaken that if 

any new business investment or other business opportunity relating 

to the Restricted Activity (the “Competing Business Opportunity”) 

is identified by or made available to her/it or any of her/its close 

associates, she/it shall, and shall procure that her/its close associates 

shall, refer such Competing Business Opportunity to the Company on 

a timely basis.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to 

the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders — 

Non-competition undertaking and corporate governance measures to 

manage conflicts of interests” in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of 

her/its compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition during the year 

ended 31 December 2024. The independent non-executive Directors 

have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the 

undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied 

by each of the Controlling Shareholders during the year ended 31 

December 2024.
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a) 
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571

XV

(i)

XV 7 8

XV 7 8

(ii)

352

(iii) GEM 5.46 5.67

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

a) Interests and short positions of Directors 
and chief executive in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company and its 
associated corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of 

the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the 

Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 

Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as (i) notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 

SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors 

and chief executives of the Company were taken or deemed to 

have pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO), (ii) 

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 

of the SFO, or (iii) otherwise notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by 

directors of listed issuer as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the 

GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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(i) (i) Long positions in shares and underlying shares of 

the Company

Name of Director

Capacity in which 

interests are held

Interests in 

Shares

Approximate percentage of 

issued share capital of the 

Company (Note 1)

1
    

Mr. Peng Ben (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 434,917,500 (L) 75.0%

( 2)

(L) denotes long position

Note:

1. As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the 

Company is 579,890,000 shares.

The share consolidation of the Company became effective 

on 25 March 2024 upon which the board lot size of the 

shares for trading on the Stock Exchange was changed 

from 10,000 existing shares to 20,000 consolidation shares.

2. Mr. Peng Ben was interested in 434,917,500 Shares which 

was held through his controlled corporation, Central 

Power Group Limited, in which, he directly owns 51%. 

Accordingly, Mr. Peng Ben is deemed to be interested in the 

Shares held by Central Power Group Limited under Part XV 

of the SFO.

(L) 

1. 2024 12 31

579,890,000

2024 3

25

10,000

20,000

2. 434,917,500

51%

XV
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(ii) (ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares 

in associated corporation of the Company

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity

Number of 

shares

Percentage of 

shareholding

     

Mr. Peng Ben Central Power Group Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 5,100 (Note) 51%

5,100( )

Note:

Central Power Group Limited held 434,917,500 Shares, 

representing approximately 75.0% shareholding in the issued 

share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of 

the Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any 

interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares 

or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i) to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or 

short positions which the Directors or the chief executives of the 

Company were taken or deemed to have pursuant to Divisions 7 

and 8 of Part XV of the SFO); (ii) recorded in the register required 

to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) otherwise 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

the required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuer as 

referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

434,917,500

75.0%

2024 12 31

XV

(i)

XV 7 8

XV 7 8

(ii)

352

(iii) GEM 5.46 5.67
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b) 

2024 12 31

336

XV 2 3

(i) 

b) Interests and short positions of the substantial 
shareholders and other persons in shares and 
underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as it is known to the Directors, 

the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of 

the Company) had or were deemed to have interests or short 

positions in Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded in 

the register required to be kept by the Company under section 

336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the 

provision of Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO:

(i) Long positions in Shares

Name of shareholder

Capacity/ 

Nature of interest

Number of 

Shares held/

Interested

Approximately 

Percentage of 

Shareholding

 

    

Central Power Group Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 434,917,500 (L) 75.0%

( 2)

Mr. Zhao Hong (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 434,917,500 (L) 75.0%

( 3)

(L) denotes long position

Notes:

1. As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the 

Company is 579,890,000 Shares.

(L) 

1. 2024 12 31

579,890,000
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2. 

51% 49%

3. 434,917,500

49%

XV

2024 12 31

336

XV 2 3

2018 1 23

GEM

2. Central Power Group Limited is a controlled corporation 

directly owned as to 51% by Mr. Peng Ben, the controlling 

shareholder of the Company and a Director, and 49% by 

Mr. Zhao Hong.

3. Mr. Zhao Hong was interested in 434,917,500 Shares 

which was held through his controlled corporation, Central 

Power Group Limited, in which, he directly owns 49%. 

Accordingly, Mr. Zhao Hong is deemed to be interested in 

the Shares held by Central Power Group Limited under Part 

XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors 

have not been notified by any person who had interests or short 

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded 

in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, 

or which fall to be disclosed under the provision of Divisions 2 

and 3 Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of 

the Share Option Scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions in 

writing of all the Shareholders passed on 23 January 2018. The terms 

of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of 

Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best 

quality personnel for the development of the Company’s businesses; to 

provide additional incentives to the Qualifying Grantees (as defined 

below) and to promote the long term financial success of the Company 

by aligning the interests of option holders to shareholders. The Board 

may offer to grant an option to any Qualifying Grantees.
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(i)(1)

(2)

(3)

4

(ii)

10% 86,000,000

0.01

41,800,000 0.02

7.21%

12

1%

1%

GEM

“Qualifying Grantee” means (i) (1) any employee (whether full-time or 

part-time employee) of any members of the Group or any of its affiliates 

and any person who is an officer of any members of the Group or any 

of its affiliates (“Employee”); (2) any person who is seconded to work 

for any member of the Group or any of its affiliates (“Secondee”); (3) 

any consultant, agent, representative, adviser, customer, contractor 

of the Group or any of its affiliates; or (4) any business partner/ally/

alliance, joint venture partner, supplier of goods or services to the 

Group or any of its affiliates or any employee thereof (collectively the 

“Eligible Person”); or (ii) any trust for the benefit of an Eligible Person 

or his or her immediate family members or any company controlled by 

an Eligible Person or his or her immediate family members.

The maximum number of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all 

options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other 

schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the 

shares in issue following the completion of the capitalisation issue and 

the share offer, i.e. 86,000,000 shares of par value HK$0.01 each. As 

at the date of this annual report, a total of 41,800,000 shares of par 

value HK$0.02 each*, representing 7.21% of the Company’s issued 

shares, were available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

No option may be granted to any participant of the Share Option 

Scheme such that the total number of shares issued and to be issued 

upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to that person 

in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 

1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time. Any 

further grant of options to a participant in excess of the 1% limit 

shall be subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company 

in general meeting with such participant and his/her close associates 

(or associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from 

voting. Prior to seeking such approval, the Company shall issue a 

circular containing such information as required by the GEM Listing 

Rules to the shareholders of the Company.

* The number of shares and the pair value of shares was adjusted as a 

result of share consolidation and change of Board dot size on 25 March 

2024.

* 2024 3 25
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10

28

1.0

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

2018 2 8 10

2021 1 11

3,750,000

0.13 2021 1 11 2024

1 10

0.122

2022 1 19

7,600,000

0.10

2022 1 19 2032 1 18

0.089

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share 

Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board 

and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. The Board may, 

in its discretion, determine the vesting period of options granted under 

the Share Option Scheme. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are 

required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant 28 

days from the date of the option offer (or such period as the Board may 

specify in writing). The exercise price of the options is determined by 

the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever 

is the highest of:

(a) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotations sheets on the offer date;

(b) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five Business Days 

immediately preceding the offer date; or

(c) the nominal value of a share.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 

10 years from 8 February 2018, after which no further options will be 

granted or offered.

On 11 January 2021, 3,750,000 share options were granted to the 

executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors, employees 

and consultants of the Group, respectively, in order to reward the 

Directors, employees and consultants for the development of the 

Group. These share options have an exercise price of HK$0.13 per 

share and an exercise period ranging from 11 January 2021 to 10 

January 2024. The closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of 

grant was HK$0.122.

On 19 January 2022, 7,600,000 share options were granted to 

executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors, employees 

and consultants of the Group, in order to reward the Directors, 

employees and consultants for the development of the Group. The 

exercise price of these share options is HK$0.10 per share and shall 

be exercisable from 19 January 2022 to 18 January 2032. The closing 

price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant was HK$0.089.

No fulfillment or vesting period condition were associated to the above 

options.
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2023 12 4

2,400,000

(i)

550,000 1,000,000 0.1

(ii) 850,000

0.13

2023 12 13 GEM

23.03(14)

83,600,000

2023 12 13

J)

2024

2 9

6,050,000

2024 1 10 2,900,000

0.13

2024 2 21 2018

1 23 30

0.01

80,000,000

On 4 December 2023, a consultant and a director agreed to surrender 

a total of 2,400,000 outstanding share options (comprising of (i) 

550,000 and 1,000,000 share options with an exercise price of HK$0.1 

held by a consultant and a director, respectively; and (ii) 850,000 share 

options with an exercise price of HK$0.13 held by a director) at nil 

consideration for cancellation. The cancellation was completed on 13 

December 2023. The maximum number of shares that may be issued 

upon exercise of all options to be granted under the share option 

scheme decreased to 83,600,000 shares after the cancellation based 

on Rule 23.03(14) of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 13 December 2023, Central Power Group Limited (“Offeror”) 

had become a controlling shareholder of the Company with the 

completion of a share purchase agreement and was required under 

the Code on Takeovers and Mergers in Hong Kong to make mandatory 

unconditional cash offers to cancel all outstanding share options (the 

“Option Offer”). The Option Offer was closed on 9 February 2024. 

The Offeror did not receive any acceptances under the Option Offer. 

As such, 6,050,000 share options which were outstanding at the time 

automatically lapsed upon close of the Option Offer.

On 10 January 2024, 2,900,000 share options with HK$0.13 per share 

exercise price were lapsed.

On 21 February 2024, the Company offered to grant share options to 

30 service providers of the Group, subject to their acceptance, under 

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 23 January 2018, 

to subscribe for a total of 80,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 

in the share capital of the Company. The grants are not subject to 

approval by the shareholders of the Company.
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2024 12 31

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

The movements of the outstanding options granted under the share 

option scheme during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Number of share options
 

Share
option type

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 2024

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Adjusted 
for Share 

Consolidation

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2024

2024  
1 1

2024
12 31

        

Directors 2021 1,900,000 – – (1,900,000) – –
2022 2,200,000 – – (2,200,000) – –

Employees 2021 500,000 – – (500,000) – –
2022 3,300,000 – – (3,300,000) – –

Consultants 2021 500,000 – – (500,000) – –
2022 550,000 – – (550,000) – –

Service providers 2024 – 80,000,000 – – (40,000,000) 40,000,000

        

8,950,000 80,000,000 – (8,950,000) (40,000,000) 40,000,000
        

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Number of share options
 

Share
option type

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 2023

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Cancelled 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2023

2023  
1 1

2023
12 31

       

Directors 2021 2,750,000 – – (850,000) 1,900,000
2022 3,200,000 – – (1,000,000) 2,200,000

Employees 2021 500,000 – – – 500,000
2022 3,300,000 – – – 3,300,000

Consultants 2021 500,000 – – – 500,000
2022 1,100,000 – – (550,000) 550,000

       

11,350,000 – – (2,400,000) 8,950,000
       

2023 12 31
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40,000,000

6.90%

2024 1 1 2024 12 31

74,650,000 1,800,000

2024 12 31

2024 2 21

40,000,000

40,000,000 2024 12 31

6.90%

2024 2 21

2018 1 23

30

80,000,000

0.01

2024 2 21

At the date of this report, the Company had 40,000,000 options 

outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which represented 

approximately 6.90% of the Company’s issued shares as at the date 

of this report.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number of 

share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme were 

74,650,000 and 1,800,000, respectively.

The number of shares which were issued or may be issued in respect 

of options and awards granted under all schemes of the Company 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 (being the 40,000,000 

shares which may be issued upon exercise of the 40,000,000 share 

options granted on 21 February 2024 as disclosed above) divided by 

the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue 

for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 6.90%.

Grant of Share Options

On 21 February 2024, the Board announced that the Company has 

resolved to grant share options to 30 service providers of the Group, 

subject to their acceptance, under the share option scheme adopted 

by the Company on 23 January 2018, to subscribe for a total of 

80,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the 

Company. For further details on the grants and the grantees, please 

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 21 February 2024.
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GEM

17.50A(1) 

GEM 17.50A(1)

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following confirmations 

from Directors, save as otherwise set out in this report, there is no 

change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed 

pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the 

Company’s last published interim report. The change of Directors’ 

information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of 

the GEM Listing Rules is set out below:

Directors Changes in Positions held with the Company

  

Ms. Wong Pui Yain • Resigned as the chairperson of the Board on 9 February 2024 
2024 2 9

• Ceased to be member of the Remuneration Committee and the Legal Compliance 

Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the chairperson of Nomination Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Resigned as executive director and ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer on 15 February 

2024 

2024 2 15

Ms. Wan Suet Yee Cherry • Resigned as the chairperson of the Legal Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

Mr. Leung Yuk Lun Ulric • Resigned as the independent non-executive director on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the chairperson of the Audit Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the member of the Legal Compliance Committee and Nomination 

Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15
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Directors Changes in Positions held with the Company

  

Mr. Devin Nijanthan 

Chanmugam

Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam 

• Resigned as the independent non-executive director on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 15 

February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the chairman of Remuneration Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony

Wee Keng Hiong Tony 

• Resigned as the independent non-executive director on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Ceased to be the member of Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee on 15 

February 2024 

2024 2 15

Mr. Kong Lingeli • Appointed as an executive director on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

• Appointed as the CEO on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Appointed as the chairperson of the Legal Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

Mr. Peng Ben • Appointed as a Non-executive Director on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

Mr. Liu Enyu • Appointed as a Non-executive Director and chairman of the Board on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

• Appointed as the chairperson of the Nomination Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15
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Directors Changes in Positions held with the Company

  

Ms. Deng Yongling • Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

• Appointed as the chairperson of the Audit Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Appointed as the member of Legal Compliance Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee on 15 February 2024 respectively 

2024 2 15

Ms. Ma Lina • Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

• Appointed as the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee on 15 February 2024 

2024 2 15

• Appointed as the member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 15 

February 2024 respectively 

2024 2 15

Ms. Mao Xiaobi • Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 February 2024 

2024 2 9

• Appointed as the member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Legal 

Compliance Committee on 15 February 2024 respectively 

2024 2 15
  

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section 

headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements 

were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 

December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS 
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material 

respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 

impact on the business and operations of the Group. During the year 

ended 31 December 2024, there was no material breach of or non- 

compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

2024 12 31

 

2024 12 31
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2024 12 31

30.3% 2023 24.2%

8.0% 2023

5.7%

32

5%

 

2024 12 31

32

GEM 20

24 52

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As a restaurant operator, the Group has a large and diverse customer 

base. There is no customer that significantly dominates the Group’s 

revenue. For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the 

Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 30.3% 

(2023: 24.2%) of the Group’s total purchases of raw materials and 

consumables. During the same year, purchases from the Group’s 

largest supplier accounted for approximately 8.0% (2023: 5.7%) of 

the Group’s total purchases of raw materials and consumables.

Save for the purchases from related companies as set out in note 32 to 

the audited consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors, 

their respective associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which, 

to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the 

Company’s share capital) had any significant beneficial interest in the 

major customers and suppliers disclosed above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 

to the consolidated financial statements. None of such related party 

transactions constitutes a connected transaction which is subject to 

the reporting, annual review, announcement and/or shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high 

level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve 

the corporate governance practices and standards constantly.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company 

are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 24 to 52 of 

this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws 

of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to 

offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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2024 12 31

2024 12 31 255

2023 380 2024 12 31

97.4

2023 12 31 103.2

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the Companies Act, every Director is entitled under the 

Company’s Articles to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the 

assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, 

losses, damages and expenses that may incur or sustain by reason of 

any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their 

duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such 

(if any) as he or she shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or 

dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors’ and officers’ liability 

insurance during the year ended 31 December 2024. To the extent 

permitted by the Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance 

is currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and 

liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a workforce of 255 employees 

(2023: 380). Total staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 

were approximately HK$97.4 million, as compared to the staff cost of 

HK$103.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Remuneration is determined with reference to market terms and in 

accordance with the performance, qualification(s) and experience 

of each individual employee. Discretionary bonuses, based on each 

individual’s performance, are paid to employees as recognition and in 

reward for their contributions. Other fringe benefits such as medical 

insurance, retirement benefits and other allowances are offered to all 

the Group’s employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated 

by the Remuneration Committee (as defined below) with reference to 

the duties, responsibilities, experience and competence of individual 

employees. The same policy also applies to the Directors. In addition to 

salaries and discretionary bonuses relating to the performance of the 

Group, employee benefits included pension scheme contributions. The 

emoluments of the Directors are reviewed annually by the remuneration 

committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”).



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

103

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2018 2 8

5% 1,500

2024 12

31

As incentives and rewards for their contributions to the Group, the 

employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the independent 

non-executive Directors) may also be granted share options by the 

Company from time to time pursuant to the share option scheme of 

the Company adopted on 8 February 2018.

The Group provides various training to its employees to enhance 

their technical skills and knowledge relevant to the employees’ 

responsibilities. The Group also provides its employees with quality 

control standards and work safety standards training to enhance their 

safety awareness.

The employees in Hong Kong are enrolled in the Mandatory Provident 

Fund under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 

Ordinance. Monthly contributions are made by the Group which are 

5% of the monthly income of the employees as stipulated under the 

relevant requirements (if applicable), with the maximum contributions 

of HK$1,500 monthly.

During the year under review, the Group did not experience any 

strikes, work stoppages or significant labour disputes which affected 

its operations in the past and it did not experience any significant 

difficulties in recruiting and retaining qualified staff. The Directors 

consider that the Group has maintained good working relationship 

with its employees.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good 

relationships with its key stakeholders, including its employees, 

customers and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business 

goals. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no 

material and significant disputes between the Group and its employees, 

customers and suppliers.

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and 

strictly complies with labour laws and regulations and regularly reviews 

its existing staff benefits for their enhancement. Apart from reasonable 

remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits, 

such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to 

its customers and keeps a database for direct communications with 

recurring customers so as to develop a long- term trusted relationships. 

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops long-

term business relationships with its suppliers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion 

and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 

December 2024 and the material factors underlying its results and 

financial position can be found in the “Management Discussion 

and Analysis” section set out on pages 9 to 16 of this report. These 

discussions form part of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Following the close of the Offers on 9 February 2024, a total of 

284,580,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 

24.54% of the entire issued share capital of the Company were held 

by the public. Subsequently, as disclosed in the announcement of 

the Company dated 15 February 2024, Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony 

(“Mr. Wee”) resigned as independent non-executive director of the 

Company with effect from 15 February 2024, upon which (i) Mr. 

Wee, ceased to be a core connected person of the Company; (ii) the 

1,000,000 Shares held by him were classified as being ‘in public hands’ 

for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules; and (iii) as a result, to the 

best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, 285,580,000 

Shares (representing approximately 24.62% of the issued share capital 

of the Company) were held by the public (as defined in the GEM Listing 

Rules) immediately following Mr. Wee’s resignation and up to the date 

of this report.

Accordingly, since the close of the Offers, the Company has not been 

able to comply with the public float requirement as set forth under 

Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had made an 

application to the Stock Exchange for a temporary waiver (the “Waiver”) 

from strict compliance with the public float requirement under Rule 

11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules for the period from 9 February 

2024 to 11 April 2024 (both days inclusive) (the “Waiver Period”). 

On 11 March 2024, the Stock Exchange has granted the conditional 

Waiver to the Company for the duration of the Waiver Period. For 

further details of the Waiver, please refer to the announcement of the 

Company dated 12 March 2024.
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On 25 March 2024, upon the share consolidation of every two into one 

and after selling 2,182,500 shares on 2 May 2024, the shareholding of 

the Offeror in the Company has been reduced from 437,100,000 Shares 

to 434,917,500 Shares, representing 75% of the total issued share 

capital of the Company; whereas, 144,972,500 Shares, representing 

25% of the total issued share capital of the Company, were held by 

the public (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules). Accordingly, the 

minimum public float of the Company of 25% as required under Rule 

11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules has been restored. For details, please 

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 May 2024.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the 

Shareholders by reason of them holding the Shares.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

1. Change of Company Secretary, Authorised 
Representative and Process Agent, with effect 
from 9 January 2025

(i) Ms. Foo Man Yee Carina has resigned as the company 

secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), an 

authorised representative of the Company under Rule 5.24 

of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Authorised Representative”) 

and an authorised representative of the Company for 

accepting service of process or notice on behalf of the 

Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies 

Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the 

“Process Agent”).

(ii) Ms. Li On Lok has been appointed as the Company 

Secretary, the Authorised Representative and the Process 

Agent of the Company.

2. Change of Address of Principal Place of 
Business in Hong Kong

On 6 March 2025, the Board announced that with effect from 

6 March 2025, the address of the principal place of business in 

Hong Kong of the Company will be changed to 5/F., Dawning 

House, 145 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of 

this report, is set out on pages 53 to 80 of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 18 June 2025, 

the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the Company 

in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other 

applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming 

AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 

Friday, 13 June 2025 to Wednesday, 18 June 2025, both days inclusive, 

during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer 

forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 

with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor 

Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt 

Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 pm on Thursday, 12 June 2025.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year have 

been audited by BDO Limited who shall retire at the forthcoming 

AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A 

resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint BDO Limited as 

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

XinXiang Era Group Company Limited

Liu Enyu

Chairman and Non-executive Director

24 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF XINXIANG ERA GROUP COMPANY 

LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of XinXiang 

Era Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(together the “Group”) set out on pages 114 to 223, which comprise 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 

2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 

December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and 

its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by 

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of 

our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

 

114 223

2024

12 31

 2024 12 31
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO 
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements 

which indicates that the Group made a net loss of HK$8,487,000 

for the year ended 31 December 2024. As of the same date, the 

Group had net current liabilities of HK$28,976,000 and net liabilities 

of HK$15,218,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set 

forth in Note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate 

that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 

the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described 

in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we 

have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 

matters to be communicated in our report.

REVENUE FROM CATERING SERVICES OF 
THE GROUP’S RESTAURANT OPERATIONS

(Refer to notes 4(c) and 6 to the consolidated financial statements)

We identified revenue from catering services of the Group’s restaurant 

operations as a key audit matter, due to the significance of revenue 

from catering services of the Group’s restaurant operations to the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from 

catering services of the Group’s restaurant operations amounted to 

HK$244,604,000.

Revenue from catering services involves high volume of small amount 

transactions through cash receipts and credit card settlements. Any 

errors arising from capturing of data or interfaces of data amongst the 

various systems may have significant impact on revenue. Therefore, it 

required significant time and resources for the audit.
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Our response:

• obtaining an understanding of the Group’s revenue recognition 

process and validating the management’s key internal controls 

over the revenue recognition process;

• performing analytical procedures on revenue through 

comparing the actual result of current year with that of prior 

year and assessing reasonableness of its trend in relation to the 

Group’s restaurant operation;

• verifying the daily sales reports, cash receipts and credit card 

settlement on sample basis; and

• verifying the accuracy and completeness of the daily sales 

reports generated from the back end systems on sample basis.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS

(Refer to notes 4(e), 5(a)(ii), 17, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial 

statements)

The Group had significant assets on its consolidated statement of 

financial position, including property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets as at 31 December 2024.

Management is required to perform an impairment assessment where 

indicators of impairment are identified on these assets. For the purpose 

of assessing impairment, these assets were allocated to cash generating 

units (“CGUs”), and management has assessed the recoverable 

amount of these assets based on higher of value in use and fair value 

less costs of disposal. In carrying out the impairment assessment, 

significant management judgement was used to appropriately identify 

CGUs and to determine the key assumptions and estimations. Based 

on the above assessment performed, for the year ended 31 December 

2024, management concluded that impairment loss of approximately 

HK$860,000 in respected of the Group’s property, plant and equipment 

and HK$1,477,000 in respect of its right-of-use assets were made.
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Our response:

• assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology in 

respect of the assessment of the recoverable amount;

• assessing the appropriateness of the management’s 

identification of CGUs based on our understanding of the 

Group’s business;

• assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions and 

estimations used; and

• assessing the appropriateness of key input data used in the 

assessment of the recoverable amount.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL 
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the information included in the Company’s 

annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control 

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 

either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in 

discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as 

a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represents the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation.
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• plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business units within the group as a basis 

for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of 

the work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We 

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 

audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 

law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 

in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 

not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate no. P04743

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 6 244,604 278,542

Other income 8 3,708 1,427

Other gains and losses 9 (380) (382)

Raw materials and consumables used (64,350) (74,120)

Staff costs 12 (97,445) (103,204)

Depreciation 12 (21,745) (28,878)

Property rentals and related expenses (24,561) (23,266)

Utility expenses (6,806) (7,664)

Advertising and promotion expenses (6,177) (8,872)

Other operating expenses 10 (27,790) (29,395)

Finance costs 11 (2,504) (2,926)

Share of results of associates 20 – (551)

Impairment loss of property, plant and 

equipment 19 (860) (3,991)

Impairment loss of right-of-use assets 19 (1,477) (5,789)

Impairment loss on financial assets (529) (384)
     

Loss before taxation 12 (6,312) (9,453)

Income tax (expense)/credit 13 (2,175) 2,835
     

Loss for the year (8,487) (6,618)

Other comprehensive income, that 

may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:

 

Exchange difference on translation of 

foreign operations 11 –

Other comprehensive expense, that 

will not be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss:

 

Remeasurement of provision for  

long service payments (79) (127)
     

Total comprehensive expense for  

the year (8,555) (6,745)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Loss for the year attribute to:

Owners of the Company (6,604) (1,801)

Non-controlling interests (1,883) (4,817)
     

(8,487) (6,618)
     

Total comprehensive expense for the 

year attributable to:

 Owners of the Company  (6,667) (1,923)

 Non-controlling interests  (1,888) (4,822)
     

(8,555) (6,745)
     

Loss per share 16

Basic and diluted (HK cents) (1.14) (0.31)
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As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 17 4,830 7,542

Right-of-use assets 18 10,302 25,916

Investments in associates 20 – –

Financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss

 

21 87 1,131

Deferred tax assets 31 3,080 5,505

Deposits 22 8,841 12,569

Pledged bank deposits 23 – 5,000
     

27,140 57,663
     

Current assets

Inventories 24 5,541 6,027

Trade and other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments

 

22 12,148 12,430

Amounts due from related companies 25 – 1,065

Current tax recoverable 267 114

Bank balances and cash 23 9,162 10,359
     

27,118 29,995
     

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables and accrued 

charges 26 31,284 33,068

Contract liabilities 27 4,278 4,608

Amounts due to related companies 25 – 2,227

Amount due to controlling shareholder 25 4,176 –

Amount due to a director 25 – 4,105

Bank borrowings 28 – 4,833

Current tax payable 991 816

Lease liabilities 18 12,936 20,443

Reinstatement provision 29 2,429 1,541
     

56,094 71,641
     

Net current liabilities (28,976) (41,646)
     

Total assets less current liabilities (1,836) 16,017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current liabilities

Reinstatement provision 29 925 2,504

Provision for long service payment 33 875 813

Deferred tax liabilities 31 352 672

Contract liabilities 27 6,919 8,086

Lease liabilities 18 4,311 14,769
     

13,382 26,844
     

Net liabilities (15,218) (10,827)
     

Capital and reserves

Share capital 30 11,598 11,598

Reserves (13,326) (10,823)
     

Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company (1,728) 775

Non-controlling interests (13,490) (11,602)
     

Total deficit (15,218) (10,827)
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 223 were 

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  

24 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

KONG LINGLEI WAN SUET YEE CHERRY

Director Director

2025 3 24

114 223
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

Attributable to owners of the Company

 

Share  
capital

Share  
premium

Capital  
redemption  

reserve  
(note b)

Share  
option  

reserve

Other  
reserves  
(note a)

Currency  
translation  

reserve
Accumulated  

losses Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total  

deficit
 
 

b
 

a
 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 11,598 100,774 64 610 10,326 – (120,674) 2,698 (5,562) (2,864)
Loss for the year – – – – – – (1,801) (1,801) (4,817) (6,618)
Other comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – – – – (122) (122) (5) (127)
            

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – – – (1,923) (1,923) (4,822) (6,745)

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) 14 – – – – – – – – (1,218) (1,218)
Cancellation of share options – – – (130) – – 130 – – –
            

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31  
2024 1 1 11,598 100,774 64 480 10,326 – (122,467) 775 (11,602) (10,827)

Loss for the year – – – – – – (6,604) (6,604) (1,883) (8,487)
Other comprehensive expense for 

the year – – – – – 11 (74) (63) (5) (68)
            

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – – 11 (6,678) (6,667) (1,888) (8,555)

Transaction cost on share 
consolidation – (190) – – – – – (190) – (190)

Grant of share options (note 40) 40 – – – 4,354 – – – 4,354 – 4,354
Lapsed of share options – – – (480) – – 480 – – –
            

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 11,598 100,584 64 4,354 10,326 11 (128,665) (1,728) (13,490) (15,218)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

(a) Other reserves mainly represent the aggregate amount of 1) the 

differences between the considerations received and the proportionate 

share of the carrying amount of the net assets attributable to the relevant 

interests upon the deemed disposal of partial interest in subsidiaries; 2) 

the differences between the considerations paid and the proportionate 

share of the carrying amount of the net assets attributable to the relevant 

interests upon the deemed acquisition/acquisition of additional interests 

in subsidiaries; 3) acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary by a 

controlling shareholder as deemed capital contribution; 4) reserve arising 

from the group reorganisation, which mainly comprises issue of shares 

by JIA Group Hong Kong Limited and the Company to acquire equity 

interest in subsidiaries and shareholders’ loans of respective subsidiaries 

with an aggregate loan balance of HK$48,330,000; 5) deemed capital 

contribution from shareholders through waiver of amounts due to the 

then shareholders of HK$3,589,000; and 6) HK$1,825,000 upon the 

waiver of inter-company loans to More Earn by group entities that caused 

an increase in net assets of More Earn attributable to non-controlling 

interests.

(b) The capital redemption reserve of the Company represents the nominal 

value of the share capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled. 

An amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares cancelled was 

transferred from share premium to the capital redemption reserve.

(a) 1

2

3

4

48,330,000 5

3,589,000

6 More Earn

More 

Earn 1,825,000

(b) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation (6,312) (9,453)
Adjustments for:

Interest income 8 (104) (101)
Depreciation of property, plant  

and equipment 12 4,524 9,267
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12 17,221 19,611
Finance costs 11 2,504 2,926
Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, net
 

9 168 629
Fair value loss on financial assets 

measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, net

 

9 1,044 1,454
Gain on disposal of an associate 9 – (36)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries 9 (38) 433
Impairment loss of property, plant and 

equipment 19 860 3,991
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets 19 1,477 5,789
Impairment loss on financial assets 12 529 384
Share of results of associates 20 – 551
Reversal of reinstatement provision 9 (400) (431)
Equity settled share-based transactions 40 4,354 –
Gain on termination of lease 9 (375) (1,401)

     

Operating cash flows before movements 
in working capital 25,452 33,613

Decrease in inventories 485 256
Decrease in trade and other receivables, 

deposits and prepayments 2,593 658
Decrease in trade and other payables and 

accrued charges (7,767) (808)
Decrease in contract liabilities (2,108) (2,047)
Decrease in reinstatement provision (291) –
(Decrease)/increase in provision for long 

service payment (17) 686
     

Cash generated from operations 18,347 32,358
Income tax refund 44 157
Income tax paid (94) –
     

NET CASH GENERATED FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18,297 32,515
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interests received 104 101
Advance to related companies – (139)
Repayment from former related parties 277 –
Acquisition of financial assets measured 

at fair value through profit or loss
 

– (414)
Net cash outflow from disposal of 

subsidiaries 14 (1) (23)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary in 

prior year 1,661 –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 

and equipment
 

70 380
Purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (2,910) (1,445)
Release of pledged bank deposits 5,000 –

     

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED 
IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 
4,201 (1,540)

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interests paid 38 (90) (407)
Repayment of bank borrowings 38 (4,833) (3,358)
Repayment to related companies 38 – (266)
Advances from a controlling shareholder 38 4,176 –
Advances from a director 38 – 3,166
Repayment to former related parties 38 (285) –
Payment for lease liabilities 38 (22,475) (29,092)
Transaction costs attributable to share 

consolidation (190) –
     

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES (23,697) (29,957)

     

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 
(1,199) 1,018

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,359 9,341

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash 
and cash equivalents 2 –

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED 
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH

 

9,162 10,359
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and 

registered as an exempted company with limited liability under 

the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands on 21 

August 2015 and its shares have been listed on GEM of The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

on 8 February 2018. Its immediate and ultimate holding company 

is Central Power Group Limited, a company incorporated in 

Hong Kong. The address of the Company’s registered office 

and principal place of business are disclosed in the corporate 

information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as investment holding company and the 

principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Adoption of new and amendments to 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time 

the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 

to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the 

annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

16

Amendments to Hong Kong  

Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by the Borrower 

of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

5  

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

7  

7

The adoption of these amendments to HKFRSs has no 

material impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

1. 

2015 8 21

2018 2

8

GEM

Central 

Power Group Limited

39

2. 

(a) 

2024 1 1
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For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

(b) 

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Cont’d)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and amendments to HKFRSs have been 

issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early 

adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to 

apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability1

21  
1

1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments2

9  
7

2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature – dependent Electricity2

9  
7

2

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, 
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards –  
Volume 112

1  
7

9 10  
7

11 2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements3

18 3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures3

19 3

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by the Borrower 
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause3

5 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture4

10  
28

4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2027
4 The effective date of these amendments were deferred 

indefinitely. Early adoption continues to be permitted.

1 2025 1 1

2 2026 1 1

3 2027 1 1

4 
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For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

(b) 

9

7

9

7

2026 1 1

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Cont’d)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Cont’d)

Except for the possible impact that the adoption of the 

below new and amendments to HKFRSs will have in 

the period of initial application, the directors of the 

Company anticipate that the application of these new and 

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on 

the Company’s consolidated financial statements in the 

foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 “Classification 

and Measurement of Financial Instruments”

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 will be first 

applied for the annual reporting periods beginning on 

1 January 2026 and to be applied retrospectively. The 

amendments clarify guidance on timing of derecognition 

of financial liabilities, on the assessment of cash flow 

characteristics and resulting classification and disclosure of 

financial assets with terms referencing contingent events 

including environmental, social and corporate governance 

events, and of the treatment of non-recourse assets and 

contractually linked instruments. The Group is still in 

process of assessing the impact of these amendments on 

the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

(b) 

18

18

1

2027 1 1

 

 

 

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Cont’d)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in the 

Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 was replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 

Statements” and will be first applied for the annual 

reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2027. The new 

standard introduced the following new requirements.

— Entities are required to classify all income and 

expenses into five categories in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, 

investing, financing, discontinued operations and 

income tax categories. Entities are also required to 

present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal. 

Entities’ net profit will not change.

— Entities are required to disclose within a note to 

consolidated financial statements of management-

defined performance measures (“MPMs”) with 

a reconciliation between MPMs and HKFRS 

performance measures.

— Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group 

the information in the financial statements or in the 

notes.

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating 

profit subtotal as the starting point for the consolidated 

statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash 

flows under the indirect method.
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For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

(b) 

18

3. 

(a) 

GEM

(b) 

2024

2025

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Cont’d)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in the 

Financial Statements” (Cont’d)

The Group is still in process of assessing the impact of the 

new standard, particularly with respect to the structure 

of the Company’s consolidated statement of profit or 

loss, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the 

additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Group is also 

assessing the impact on how information is grouped in 

the consolidated financial statements, including for items 

currently labelled as “others”.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong 

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations 

(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) issued 

by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated 

financial statements include applicable disclosures required 

by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of 

the Stock Exchange.

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern 
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

under the historical cost basis except for certain financial 

instruments that are measured at fair value, as explained in 

the accounting policies set out below.

During the year of 2024, the operating environment 

remained challenging in the face of rising global inflation 

and a slowdown in the local economy. The market 

sentiment is weak where consumption has not recovered 

as expected and will continue to challenge the economic 

prospects in 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. 

(b) 

2024

12 31

8,487,000

28,976,000

15,218,000

15

a) 

b) 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern 
assumption (Cont’d)

Against this backdrop, the Group made a net loss of 

HK$8,487,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. As 

of the same date, the Group had net current liabilities of 

HK$28,976,000 and net liabilities of HK$15,218,000.

For the purpose of assessing the appropriateness of 

the going concern basis for the preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements, the directors of the 

Company have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a 

period of 15 months from the end of the reporting period 

of these consolidated financial statements (“Forecast”). 

The past performance and liquidity as well as the future 

economic outlook have been taken into account in the 

preparation of the Forecast, which includes the following 

major measures and assumptions:

a) The Group is taking measures to tighten cost controls 

over staff costs aiming at improving the working 

capital and cash flow position of the Group; and

b) Closely monitoring the future development of 

catering industry.

In addition to the above, Central Power Group Limited 

(“Central Power”), the controlling shareholder and 

the immediate holding company of the Company, has 

undertaken to provide financial support to the Group to 

enable the Group to have sufficient working capital to 

meet its liabilities and obligations as and when they fall 

due and to continue to carry on its business over the period 

covered by the Forecast. It has also confirmed not request 

the Group to repay its debts due from the Group until 

the repayment will not affect the Group’s ability to repay 

other creditors. Accordingly, the consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. 

(b) 

(i)

(ii) 2024

(iii)

(iv)

(c) 

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern 
assumption (Cont’d)

In consideration of the Group’s current operation and 

business plan, the directors are satisfied that the Group will 

be able to meet in full its financial obligations when they 

fall due in the foreseeable future.

Notwithstanding the above, the going concern of the Group 

is dependent upon the future outcomes of the above plans 

that are subject to inherent uncertainties that include (i) 

the operating costs would not surge to an extent that fail 

the cost control measures; (ii) the operating environment 

would not deteriorate significantly as compared to that 

of 2024; (iii) Central Power has confirmed not request the 

Group to repay its debts due from the Group until the 

repayment will not affect the Group’s ability to repay other 

creditors; and (iv) Central Power would be able to provide 

financial support on a timely basis to the Group when the 

Group is in need. These indicate that a material uncertainty 

exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern and therefore, the Group 

may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its 

liabilities in the normal course of business.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, 

adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying 

values of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, 

to provide for further liabilities which might arise, and to 

reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities 

as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The 

effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the 

consolidated financial statements.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the functional 

currency of the Company, and all values are rounded to 

the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when otherwise 

indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(a) 

• 

• 

• 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements are set out below:

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 

financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 

by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 

when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control listed 

above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income 

and expenses of a subsidiary disposed of during the year 

are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income when the Group ceases 

to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive 

income are attributed to owners of the Company and to 

the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented 

separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 

present ownership interests entitling their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 

upon liquidation.
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For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(a) 

(i)

(ii)

(b) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in 

existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and 

liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests 

(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in 

profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 

received and the fair value of any retained interest and 

(ii) the carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of the 

subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 

significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 

a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 

of the investee but not control or joint control over those 

policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method 

whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, 

their carrying amounts are adjusted for the Group’s share 

of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets 

except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the 

associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to 

make good those losses.

When the Group ceases to equity account for an investment 

because of loss of significant influence, any retained 

interest in the Group is remeasured to its fair value with 

the change in carrying amount recognised in the profit or 

loss. The fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for 

the purpose of subsequently accounting for the retained 

interest as a financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(c) 

(d) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c) Revenue and other income

The Group recognises revenue from restaurant operations 

which provides catering services. Revenue from catering 

services is recognised at a point in time when the services 

are rendered.

Revenue from restaurant consultancy and other services 

are recognised over time when services are rendered as 

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 

benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the entity 

performs.

Commission income and revenue from merchandise sales 

are recognised when the customer has taken possession of 

and accepted the products.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 

initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost 

that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 

amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 

repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss 

during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(d) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method 

to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its estimated residual value over its estimated 

useful life, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the related lease

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Equipment and tools 20%

Computers 33.33%

The assets’ residual values, estimated useful lives and 

depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 

disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the 

period the asset is derecognised is the difference between 

the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

relevant asset.

(e) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at 

the end of each reporting period to identify indications that 

the following assets may be impaired or, an impairment 

loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have 

decreased:

— property, plant and equipment; and

— right-of-use assets

(e) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(e)  

(f) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e) Impairment of other non-current assets 
(Cont’d)

The recoverable amount of assets are estimated individually, 

when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 

individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Corporate assets are allocated to individual cash-generating 

units on a reasonable and consistent allocation basis that 

can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for 

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 

unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently 

at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 

all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing 

the inventories to their present location and condition. 

Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method. Net 

realisable value represents the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 

of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 

the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(g) 

(i) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they 

are originated. All regular way purchases and sales 

of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, 

that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase 

or sell the asset. All other financial assets are initially 

recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable 

without a significant financing component) is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair 

value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition 

or issue. A trade receivable without a significant 

financing component is initially measured at the 

transaction price.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments 

depends on the Group’s business model for managing 

the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the 

asset. Financial assets with embedded derivatives 

are considered in their entirety when determining 

whether their cash flows are solely payment of 

principal and interest. The Group classifies its debt 

instruments to the following measurement category:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection 

of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. Interest income, 

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 

are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 

derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(g) 

(i) 

(ii) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(i) Financial assets (Cont’d)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is 

not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect 

to present subsequent changes in the investment’s 

fair value in other comprehensive income. All other 

equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby 

changes in fair value, dividends and interest income 

are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected 

credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables and financial 

assets measured at amortised cost.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit 

losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference 

between all contractual cash flows that are due to 

the Group in accordance with the contract and all 

the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The 

shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to 

the assets’ original effective interest rate.
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4. 

(g) 

(ii) 

9

12

30

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Cont’d)

The Group measured loss allowances for trade 

receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and 

has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The 

Group has established a provision matrix that is 

based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 

adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 

debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based 

on the 12 months ECLs. However, when there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition, the allowance will be based on the 

lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a 

financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group 

considers reasonable and supportable information 

that is relevant and available without undue cost or 

effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 

information analysis, based on the Group’s historical 

experience and informed credit assessment and 

including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial 

asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 

days past due.
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4. 

(g) 

(ii) 

90

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in 

default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit 

obligations to the Group in full, without recourse 

by the Group to action such as realising security (if 

any is held); or the financial asset is more than 90 

days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information to demonstrate that a more 

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Depending on the nature of the financial 

instruments, the assessment of a significant increase 

in credit risk is performed on either an individual or 

a collective basis. When the assessment is performed 

on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 

grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, 

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-

impaired when:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past 

due event;

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the 

Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise;

• it is probable that the debtor will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or

• the disappearance of an active market for a 

security because of financial difficulties.
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4. 

(g) 

(ii) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Cont’d)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss 

in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount 

through a loss allowance account.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets 

is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the 

gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the 

financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial 

assets, interest income is calculated based on the 

gross carrying amount.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 

information indicating that the debtor is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect 

of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 

under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 

proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 

subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 

advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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4. 

(g) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

9

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities including 

trade and other payables and accrued charges and 

amounts due to related companies, a director and 

controlling shareholder at amortised cost. Financial 

liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at 

fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred 

and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 

the effective interest method. The related interest 

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when 

the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

amortisation process.

(iv) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are 

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

(v) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the 

contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation 

to the financial asset expire or when the financial 

asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the 

criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 

9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 

obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4. 

(h) 

(i) 

(ii) 

485

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Employee benefits costs

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the 

cost of non-monetary benefits are charged as expense 

in the year as the related service are provided by 

employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred 

and the effect would be material, these amounts are 

stated at their present values.

(ii) Employee benefits – Defined contribution 

schemes

Mandatory provident fund scheme set up and 

operated under the Mandatory Provident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 485 (“the MPF Schemes 

Ordinance”) is categorised as a defined contribution 

plan. Contributions to defined contribution plan are 

charged to the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss when the related services are recognised.
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4. 

(h) 

(iii) 

 

 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Employee benefits costs (Cont’d)

(iii) Employee benefits – Defined benefit schemes

Long service payment (“LSP”) under the Hong 

Kong Employment Ordinance (“the Ordinance”) is 

categorised as a defined benefit plan. Employees 

qualified under the Ordinance are entitled to LSP 

in certain circumstances specified in the Ordinance. 

There are no legal funding requirements on employers 

and the Group does not have any arrangement in 

place to settle its payment obligation in the future. 

The Group’s obligation to LSP is measured at:

— Gross LSP obligation which is estimated using 

the projected unit credit method discounted 

to its present value using market yields 

available on high quality corporate bonds (or 

government bonds if there is no deep market 

in such high quality corporate bonds) that have 

maturity dates approximating to the terms of 

the liabilities and are denominated in Hong 

Kong Dollars which is the currency of the LSP 

obligations; less

— Negative service costs. Under the Ordinance 

and the MFP Schemes Ordinance, the Group 

can offset the accrued benefits derived 

from the Group’s MPF contributions against 

the Group’s LSP obligations. The Group 

regards these MPF contributions are deemed 

contributions by employees towards the LSP 

benefits. The nature is negative service costs. 

These deemed contributions are estimated by 

applying an expected investment return rate 

on the MPF contributions and then attributed 

to periods of service using the same attribution 

method for gross LSP obligation.



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

142

For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. 

(h) 

(iii) 

(i) 

(i)

(ii)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Employee benefits costs (Cont’d)

(iii) Employee benefits – Defined benefit schemes 

(Cont’d)

Service costs are recognised in profit or loss, and 

include current and past service costs (including 

result from a plan amendment).

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss, and 

is calculated by applying the discount rate used to 

measure the LSP obligation at the beginning of the 

annual period to the balance of the LSP obligation, 

considering the effects of benefit payments during 

the period.

Remeasurements of the LSP obligation, including 

actuarial gains and losses, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

(i) Leasing

The Group as a lessee

All leases are capitalised in the consolidated statement of 

financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 

except for (i) leases which are short-term leases and (ii) 

leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The 

lease payments associated with those leases have been 

expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4. 

(i) 

(i) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(ii) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(i) Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset are initially recognised at 

cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the 

initial measurement of the lease liability (see below 

for the accounting policy to account for lease 

liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before 

the commencement date, less any lease incentives 

received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the 

lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred 

by the lessee in dismantling and removing the 

underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs 

are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures 

the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted 

for any remeasurement of lease liability.

(ii) Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value 

of the lease payments that are not paid at the date 

of commencement of the lease. The lease payments 

are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 

lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that 

rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses 

the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group 

measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the 

carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect 

the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the 

carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease 

modification, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed 

lease payments.
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4. 

(i) 

(ii) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(ii) Lease liability (Cont’d)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of 

any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the 

probability of a lessee extension or termination option 

being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of 

the lease liability to reflect the payments to make 

over the revised term, which are discounted using 

a revised discount rate. In both cases, an equivalent 

adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-

of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being 

amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. 

If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is 

adjusted to zero, any further reduction is recognised 

in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms 

of a lease with the lessor, where the renegotiated 

increases the scope of the lease (whether that is 

an extension to the lease term), the lease liability is 

remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the 

modification date, with the right-of-use asset being 

adjusted by the same amount. If the renegotiation 

results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both 

the carrying amount of the lease liability and right-

of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to 

reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with 

any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease 

liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying 

amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated 

payments over the renegotiated term, with the 

modified lease payments discounted at the rate 

applicable on the modification date and the right-of-

use asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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4. 

(j) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(j) Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and 

deferred tax. Income taxes are recognised in profit or 

loss except when they relate to items recognised in other 

comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or when they 

relate to items recognised directly in equity in which case 

the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary 

activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or 

disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated 

using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of 

current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the 

tax amount expected to be paid or received.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 

corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except 

for initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not 

part of the business combination which affect neither 

accounting nor taxable profits and does not give rise to 

equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, 

taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries where the Group is able to control the reversal 

of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences 

can be utilised, provided that the deductible temporary 

differences are not arises from initial recognition of assets 

and liabilities in a transaction other than in a business 

combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the 

accounting profit and does not give rise to equal taxable 

and deductible temporary difference. Deferred tax is 

measured at the tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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4. 
(k) 

(l) 

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the 
obligations, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated 
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

(l) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual 
group entity, transactions in foreign currencies are 
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual 
financial statements of foreign operations, originally 
presented in a currency different from the Group’s 
presentation currency, have been converted into HK$. 
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the 
closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses 
have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling 
at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over the 
reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not 
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this 
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated separately in the currency 
translation reserve in equity.
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4. 

(m) 

5. 

4

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and others 

providing similar services, the fair value of the services 

received is measured by reference to the fair value of the 

options at the date of grant. Such fair value is recognised in 

profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding 

increase in the share option reserve within equity.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with 

parties other than employees are measured at the fair 

value of the goods or services received, except where that 

fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they 

are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments 

granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods 

or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of 

the goods or services received are recognised as expenses 

(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as 

assets).

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are 

described in note 4, management of the Group is required to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on historical experience and other factors that are 

considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next 

financial year.
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5. 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Estimation of useful lives of property, plant 

and equipment 

The Group’s management determines the estimated 
useful lives and depreciation method in determining 
the related depreciation charges for its property, 
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on 
the management’s experience of the actual useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar 
nature and functions and will take into account the 
lease term (including any renewal option) of the 
Group’s restaurants. Management of the Group 
will accelerate the depreciation charge where the 
economic useful lives are shorter than previously 
estimated due to removal or closure of restaurants. 
The management of the Group will also write-off or 
write-down the carrying value of the items which are 
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have 
been abandoned. Actual economic useful lives may 
differ from estimated economic useful lives.

(ii) Estimation of impairment of property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use assets

Assessing impairment of the property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets requires an 
estimation of its recoverable amounts which is 
the higher of value in use and fair value less costs 
of disposal. If there is any indication that the 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets allocated to each individual restaurant cash 
generating unit (“CGU”) may be impaired, such as 
restaurants operated with operating loss, recoverable 
amount shall be estimated for such restaurant CGU. 
When value in use calculations are undertaken, 
management must estimate the expected future cash 
flows from the CGUs of each individual restaurant 
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value to those cash flows. 
When fair value less costs of disposal calculations 
are undertaken, the fair value was estimated using 
relevant valuation technique and make reference 
to recent market comparative for similar assets 
and adjusted for difference in condition in order to 
determine the fair value.
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5. 

(a) 

(iii) 

36

(b) 

(i) 

3(b)

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
(Cont’d)

(iii) Fair value measurement

Certain assets included in the consolidated financial 

statements require measurement at, and/or 

disclosure of, fair value. The fair value of financial 

assets measured at FVTPL that are not traded in an 

active market is based on the valuation performed by 

independent professional valuer. In determining the 

fair value, the valuer has based on variety of methods 

and makes assumptions that are mainly based on 

market conditions existing at each reporting date. In 

relying on the valuation report, the directors of the 

Company have exercised their judgement and are 

satisfied that the assumptions used in the valuation 

are reflective of the current market conditions. 

Changes to these assumptions could affect the 

reported fair values of these financial assets. Further 

details are contained in note 36 to the financial 

statements.

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies

(i) Going concern assumption

The assessment of the going concern assumption 

involves making a judgement by the directors of the 

Company, at the end of the reporting period, about 

the future outcome of events or conditions, which 

are inherently uncertain. The directors considers 

that the Group have the capabilities to continue as 

going concerns, the going concern assumption and 

related mitigating measures taken by management 

are set out in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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6.  6. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL 
INFORMATION

Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Catering services

 Fine dining  140,320 165,020

 Mid-market dining  7,532 16,750

 Casual dining  96,752 96,772
    

244,604 278,542
    

The Group applies the practical expedient of HKFRS 15 

which allows the Group not to disclose the information of 

the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 

obligation for contract with customers, as the original expected 

duration of the performance obligation arising from the catering 

services are all within one year. All revenue is recognised at a 

point in time for the year.

15
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6.  

4

15,132,000 2023 33,458,000

10%

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Segmental information

The Group’s revenue is solely derived from the restaurant 

operations and management of restaurants in Hong Kong. For 

the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, 

the chief operating decision maker (being the executive directors 

of the Company) reviews the overall results and financial position 

of the Group as a whole, which are prepared based on same 

accounting policies set out in note 4. Accordingly, the Group has 

only one single operating segment and no further analysis of this 

single segment is presented.

Geographical information

Non-current assets (excluding deposits, deferred tax assets 

and financial assets) of approximately HK$15,132,000 (2023: 

HK$33,458,000) are located in Hong Kong based on the physical 

location of assets or location of operations.

Information about major customers

No revenue from individual external customer contributes over 

10% of total revenue of the Group for both years.
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7.  

(a)  

2024 12 31

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s 
emoluments

Director’s emoluments for their services in connection with 

the management of the affairs of the Group were as follow:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors

   

Wong  

Pui Yain  

(note c)

Wan  

Suet Yee,  

Cherry

Kong  

Linglei  

(note b)

Liu  

Enyu  

(note b)

Peng  

Ben  

(note b)

Devin  

Nijanthan  

Chanmugam  

(note c)

Leung  

Yuk Lun,  

Ulric  

(note c)

Wee  

Keng Hiong,  

Tony  

(note c)

Ma  

Lina  

(note b)

Mao  

Xiaobi  

(note b)

Deng  

Yongling  

(note b) Total

 

c

 

b

 

b

 

b

Devin 

Nijanthan 

Chanmugam 

c

 

c

Wee Keng 

Hiong, Tony 

c

 

b

 

b

 

b

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

              

Fees – 220 268 268 107 16 16 16 107 107 107 1,232

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits 

and allowance

 

113 920 – – – – – – – – – 1,033

Retirement benefit scheme 

contributions 2 18 – – – – – – – – – 20

Discretionary bonus (note a) a – – – – – – – – – – – –
              

115 1,158 268 268 107 16 16 16 107 107 107 2,285
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s 
emoluments (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

  

Wong  

Pui Yain 

Wan  

Suet Yee,  

Cherry

Devin  

Nijanthan  

Chanmugam 

Leung  

Yuk Lun,  

Ulric 

Wee  

Keng Hiong,  

Tony Total

Devin  

Nijanthan 

Chanmugam

Wee  

Keng Hiong,  

Tony

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Fees – – 150 150 150 450

Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits and allowance 894 894 – – – 1,788

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 18 18 – – – 36

Discretionary bonus (note a) a – – – – – –
        

912 912 150 150 150 2,274
        

7.  

(a) 

2023 12 31
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7.  

(a) 

a) 

b) 2024 2 9

c) 2024 2 15

Devin 

Nijanthan Chanmugam

Wee Keng 

Hiong Tony

2024 2023

12 31

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s 
emoluments (Cont’d)

a) The bonus was determined on a discretionary basis 

with reference to the individual’s performance.

b) With effect from 9 February 2024, Mr. Kong Linglei 

was appointed as an executive director. Each of Mr. 

Liu Enyu and Mr. Peng Ben was appointed as an non-

executive director. Each of Ms. Ma Lina, Ms. Mao 

Xiaobi and Ms. Deng Yongling was appointed as an 

independent non-executive director.

c) With effect from 15 February 2024, Ms. Wong Pui 

Yain has resigned as an executive director. Each of 

Mr. Devin Nijanthan Chanmugam, Mr. Leung Yuk 

Lun Ulric and Mr. Wee Keng Hiong Tony has resigned 

as an independent non-executive director.

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of 

the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the 

Group or as compensation for loss of office during both 

years. No director waived any emoluments for the years 

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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7.  

(b) 

2023

2024 12 31

2023

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

One director (2023: two directors) of the Company 

was included in the five highest paid individuals of the 

Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 whose 

emolument is reflected in the analysis presented above. 

The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four as 

two directors all ranked fifth among the five highest paid 

individuals) individuals are set out below:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits and 

allowance 4,213 4,312

Retirement benefit scheme  

contributions 72 72

Provision for long service payment 3 –
    

4,288 4,384
    

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not 

directors of the Company have their remuneration falling 

within the following bands:

2024 2023

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 1 –

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 3 4
    

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no 

emoluments were paid by the Group to the four (2023: 

four) highest paid individuals as an inducement to join 

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss 

of office. None of the four (2023: four) highest paid 

individuals waived any emoluments for both years.

2024 2023 12

31 2023

2023
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8. OTHER INCOME
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Sponsorship income 611 254

Membership income 212 208

Interest income 104 101

Insurance claim – 20

Restaurant consultancy service income 1,565 229

Event services charge income 377 483

Inflight meal design income 273 –

Others 566 132
    

3,708 1,427
    

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Net exchange gain 19 98

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, net

 

(168) (629)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries (note 14)  

14 38 (433)

Gain on disposal of an associate (note 20) 20 – 36

Reversal of reinstatement provision (note 29) 29 400 431

Gain on termination of lease 375 1,401

Fair value loss on financial assets measured at 

FVTPL, net (1,044) (1,454)

Others – 168
    

(380) (382)
    

8. 

9. 
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10. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Auditor’s remuneration 850 1,050

Bank charge 322 385

Business and license fee 218 180

Carriage and freight 481 527

Cleaning and laundry 4,597 4,544

Consultancy fee 2,675 1,753

Credit card commission 4,903 5,310

Decoration 534 753

Event expense 97 252

Insurance 480 581

Legal and professional fee 1,455 1,230

Machine rental 710 843

Operating supplies 4,207 4,280

Other expenses 906 1,857

Recruitment cost 29 313

Repair and maintenance 4,135 3,785

Samples/food tasting 75 398

Stationery and office supplies 304 289

Travelling expense 812 1,065
    

27,790 29,395
    

11. FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 18) 18 1,801 1,822

Interest on bank borrowings 90 407

Others – Interest accreted on contract liabilities 

(note 27)

 

27 613 697
    

2,504 2,926
    

10. 

11. 
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12. 12. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after 

charging/(crediting):

 

Auditor’s remuneration 850 1,050

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

(note 17)

 

17 4,524 9,267

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 18) 18 17,221 19,611

21,745 28,878

Gain on termination of lease (375) (1,401)

Directors’ remuneration (note 7) 7 2,285 2,274

Provision for long service payment of directors 4 61

Other staff costs:

Salaries and other benefits 91,822 96,372

Provision for long service payment 108 625

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3,226 3,872

Total staff costs (note) 97,445 103,204

Lease payments in respect of:

 Short-term lease expenses (note 18)  18 1,185 1,211

 Low-value lease expenses (note 18)  18 710 940

 Variable lease payment (note 18)  18 17,023 15,580

18,918 17,731

Impairment loss on financial assets:

 Other receivables  529 32

 Amounts due from related companies  – 276

 Amounts due from associates  – 76

529 384
    

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, share-based payments 

of approximately HK$4,354,000 (2023: nil) was recognised and 

included in the total staff costs.

 2024 12 31

4,354,000 2023
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13. 13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The amount of taxation charged/(credited) to profit or loss 

represent:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax 70 176

Deferred tax (note 31) 31 2,105 (3,011)
    

2,175 (2,835)
    

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong 

Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying 

group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 

million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in 

Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates 

regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%.

2

8.25% 2

16.5%

16.5%
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13. 13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Cont’d)

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to 

the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before taxation (6,312) (9,453)
    

Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5%  

(2023: 16.5%)

16.5% 2023

16.5% (1,041) (1,560)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  

tax purpose 1,728 2,481

Tax effect of income not taxable for  

tax purpose (92) (409)

Tax effect of temporary differences not 

recognised (709) 791

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,600 1,428

Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax 

losses now recognised as deferred tax assets

– (3,183)

Tax effect of deductible reinstatement 

provision recognised as deferred tax assets (206) –

Utilisation of tax losses previously not 

recognised (105) (2,383)
    

Income tax expense/(credit) 2,175 (2,835)
    

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 31.

14. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024

In May 2024, Jia Group Hong Kong Limited, the wholly owned 

subsidiary of the Group, entered into a share sales and purchase 

agreement with an independent third party, to dispose its 

100% equity interest in a wholly owned subsidiary, Vantage 

Luck Limited, at cash consideration of USD1 (equivalent to 

HK$7.8). Vantage Luck Limited and its 100% held subsidiary, 

King Access Corporation Limited, (collectively, “Vantage Luck 

Group”) are principally engaged in investment holding. The 

disposal was completed during the year ended 31 December 

2024 and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of subsidiaries 

of approximately HK$38,000.

31

14. 

2024 12 31

2024 5 Jia 

Group Hong Kong Limited

1

7.8

Vantage Luck Limited 100%

Vantage Luck Limited

Vantage Luck

2024 12 31

38,000
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14. 

2024 12 31

Vantage Luck

14. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Cont’d)

The net liabilities of Vantage Luck Group at the date of disposal 

were as follows:

2024

Notes HK$’000

    

Bank balance and cash 1

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 15

Trade and other payables (54)
    

Net liabilities disposed of (38)
    

Cash consideration receivable 22 –*

Net liabilities disposed of 38
    

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 9 38
    

* balance less than HK$1,000

2024

HK$’000

   

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration received (note) –

Bank balances and cash disposed of (1)
   

(1)
   

Note: The consideration was not yet received as at 31 December 2024 

and included in other receivables (note 22).

 2024 12 31

22

* 1,000
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14. 

2023 12 31

2023 12 JIA Group Hong Kong 

Limited

2,200,000

Incredible Resources 

Limited Incredible Resources 

Limited 80%

Hidden Glory Limited Incredible 

Resources

2023 12 31

433,000

Incredible Resources

14. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

In December 2023, Jia Group Hong Kong Limited, the wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a share sales and 

purchase agreement with an independent third party, to dispose 

its 100% equity interest in a wholly owned subsidiary, Incredible 

Resources Limited, at cash consideration of HK$2,200,000. 

Incredible Resources Limited and its 80% held subsidiary, Hidden 

Glory Limited, (collectively, ‘Incredible Resources Group’) are 

principally engaged in the business of investment in financial 

assets measured at FVTPL. The disposal was completed during 

the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group recognised 

a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$433,000.

The net assets of Incredible Resources Group at the date of 

disposal were as follows:

2023

Notes HK$’000

    

Financial assets at FVTPL 3,561

Bank balance and cash 23

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 274

Trade and other payables (7)
    

Net assets disposed of 3,851
    

Cash consideration receivable 22 2,200

Non-controlling interests 1,218

Net assets disposed of (3,851)
    

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 9 (433)
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14. 

2023 12 31

14. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Cont’d)

2023

HK$’000

   

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration received (note) –

Bank balances and cash disposed of (23)
   

(23)
   

Note: The consideration was not yet received as at 31 December 2023 

and included in other receivables. As at 31 December 2024, 

consideration of HK$539,000 was not yet settled (note 22).

15. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the years 

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of 

an interim and a final dividend for the years ended 31 December 

2024 and 2023.

 2023 12 31

2024 12  31

539,000  

22

15. 

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023

12 31
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16. 16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable 

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted 

loss per share

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company 6,604 1,801
    

2024 2023

’000 ’000

    

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per 

share 579,890 579,890
    

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 

of basic and diluted loss per share has been adjusted for the 

share consolidation which took place on 25 March 2024 as if 

the share consolidation occurred at the beginning of the earliest 

period presented (i.e. 1 January 2023).

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the 

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 since their exercise 

would result in a decrease in loss per share.

2024 3 25

2023 1 1

2024 2023 12 31
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17. 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold  

improvements

Furniture  

and  

fixtures

Equipment  

and  

tools Computers Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

COST

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 78,363 18,877 31,868 3,417 132,525

Additions 128 171 1,112 34 1,445

Disposals/written-off (162) (830) (571) – (1,563)
       

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31  

2024 1 1 78,329 18,218 32,409 3,451 132,407

Additions 1,009 890 941 70 2,910

Disposals/written-off (9,991) (2,292) (5,285) (353) (17,921)
       

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 69,347 16,816 28,065 3,168 117,396
       

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 69,617 14,296 25,459 2,789 112,161

Provided for the year 4,590 1,756 2,619 302 9,267

Eliminated on disposals/written-off (128) (183) (243) – (554)

Impairment loss recognised in profit or 

loss (note 19)

 

19 2,850 481 622 38 3,991
       

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31  

2024 1 1 76,929 16,350 28,457 3,129 124,865

Provided for the year 1,258 1,363 1,724 179 4,524

Eliminated on disposals/written-off (9,916) (2,250) (5,165) (352) (17,683)

Impairment loss recognised in profit or 

loss (note 19)

 

19 285 147 428 – 860
       

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 68,556 15,610 25,444 2,956 112,566
       

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 791 1,206 2,621 212 4,830
       

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 1,400 1,868 3,952 322 7,542
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18.  18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class 

of underlying asset is as follows:

Buildings

HK$’000

   

Cost

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 68,593

Lease modification 28,988

Expiry of lease terms (29,810)

Termination of lease (6,367)
   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 2023 12 31 2024 1 1 61,404

Lease modification 3,084

Expiry of lease terms (8,572)

Termination of lease (1,450)
   

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 54,466
   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 44,918

Depreciation provided for the year 19,611

Impairment for the year (note 19) 19 5,789

Expiry of lease terms (29,810)

Termination of lease (5,020)
   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 2023 12 31 2024 1 1 35,488

Depreciation provided for the year 17,221

Impairment for the year (note 19) 19 1,477

Expiry of lease terms (8,572)

Termination of lease (1,450)
   

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 44,164
   

Net book value

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 10,302
   

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 25,916
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18.  18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities

The Group leases a number of properties in the jurisdiction 

in which it operates. The values in the table below reflect the 

current proportions of lease payments that are fixed over the 

lease term.

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current liabilities 12,936 20,443

Non-current liabilities 4,311 14,769
    

17,247 35,212
    

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Future lease 

payments Interests

Present 

value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

31 December 2024 2024 12 31

Not later than one year 13,655 (719) 12,936

Later than one year and not later than 

two years 4,466 (155) 4,311
     

18,121 (874) 17,247
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18.  18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITY (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

Future lease payments are due as follows: (Cont’d)

Future lease 

payments Interests

Present 

value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

31 December 2023 2023 12 31

Not later than one year 22,134 (1,691) 20,443

Later than one year and not later than 

two years 11,147 (688) 10,459

Later than two years and not later than 

five years 4,466 (156) 4,310
     

37,747 (2,535) 35,212
     

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 11) 11 1,801 1,822

Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets 17,221 19,611

Short-term lease expenses (note 12) 12 1,185 1,211

Low-value lease expenses (note 12) 12 710 940

Variable lease payment (note 12) 12 17,023 15,580
    

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 37,940 39,164
    

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of HK$41,393,000 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$46,823,000).

2024 12 31

41,393,000

2023 46,823,000
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18.  

2024

12 31

17,521,000

17,023,000 2023 19,157,000

15,580,000

2024 12 31

5%

1,091,000 2023 1,354,000

19. 

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITY (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

Variable lease payment

The Group leased certain restaurants which contain variable lease 

payment terms that are based on revenue generated from the 

respective restaurants and minimum annual lease payment terms 

that are fixed. These payment terms are common in restaurants in 

Hong Kong where the Group operates. The amounts of the fixed 

and variable lease payments paid/payable for the year ended 

31 December 2024 for these leases are HK$17,521,000 and 

HK$17,023,000 (2023: HK$19,157,000 and HK$15,580,000), 

respectively.

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase in revenue 

generated from these restaurants by 5% would have increased 

the lease payments by HK$1,091,000 (2023: HK$1,354,000).

19. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

The management of the Group concluded there was indication 

of impairment and conducted impairment assessment on 

recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment and 

right-of-use assets associated with certain restaurants.
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19. 

11.6% 2023 11.7%

2024 12 31

1% 17% 2023 0% 8%

2,198,000 2023

7,122,000

4,501,000 2023

12,889,000 860,000

2023 3,991,000 17

1,477,000 2023 5,789,000

18

4,362,000 2023

10,231,000

19. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Cont’d)

The recoverable amount of CGUs has been determined based 

on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow 

projections based on financial budgets approved by the 

management of the Group covering the remaining lease term 

with a pre-tax discount rate is 11.6% (2023: 11.7%). The annual 

growth rate used is 1% to 17% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 

0% to 8%). The assumptions of annual revenue growth rates are 

determined based on expectation for the market development 

and is not expected to exceed the average long-term growth rate 

for the catering industry in Hong Kong. Other key assumptions 

for the value in use calculation are the budgeted gross profit and 

operating expenses, which is determined based on the recent 

performance of the relevant restaurants.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the 

Group determined that the recoverable amount of certain CGUs 

is lower than the related carrying amount. Impairment amount 

has been allocated to each category of property, plant and 

equipment and right-of-use assets such that the carrying amount 

of each individual asset is not reduced below the highest of its 

fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on 

the value in use calculation and the allocation, an impairment of 

HK$860,000 (2023: HK$3,991,000) (note 17) and HK$1,477,000 

(2023: HK$5,789,000) (note 18) has been recognised against 

the carrying amount (before impairment) of property, plant and 

equipment of HK$2,198,000 (2023: HK$7,122,000) and right-

of-use assets of HK$4,501,000 (2023: HK$12,889,000) of the 

relevant CGUs, respectively. As the CGUs has been reduced to its 

recoverable amount of HK$4,362,000 (2023: HK$10,231,000), 

any adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation 

of recoverable amount would result in further impairment losses.
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20. 20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO 
AN ASSOCIATE

The following list contains the associate, of which is unlisted 

corporate entity whose quoted market price is not available.

Name of associate

Place of 

incorporation 

or registration/

operation

Issued 

and fully 

paid share 

capital

Proportion of 

equity interests held 

by the Group as at 

31 December

Proportion 

of voting 

power 

held by the 

Group Principal activities

  

12 31

 

2024 2023
       

Potato Head Hong Kong Limited 

(“Potato Head (HK)”)

Hong Kong HK$100 30%  

(note a)

30%  

(note a)

30% Investment holding, operates a mixed-use 

entertainment venue which comprises 

retail shop, cafe, bar and restaurant

Potato Head Hong Kong Limited

Potato Head (HK)

100 30% 

a

30% 

a

30%

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Potato Head (HK) Potato Head (HK)

Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted – –
    

Loan to an associate 6,900 6,900

Less: share of post-acquisition losses that are in 

excess of the cost of investment

 

(6,900) (6,900)
    

– –
    

The Group did not recognise additional loss for the investments 

in associates as the Group has no legal or constructive obligations 

or had not made payments on behalf of the associate.
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20. 

(a) 2016 1 13 30

30%

Potato Head (HK)

Potato Head (HK)

Potato Head 

(HK)

(b) 2023 12 31 Between 

Hong Kong Limited ( Between (HK) )

60

2,000,000

Between (HK)

19% 10%

Between (HK) Between 

(HK)

36(d)

Between (HK)

36,000

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO 
AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

Notes:

(a) The Group subscribed 30% interest in the associate at subscription 

price of HK$30 on 13 January 2016. Pursuant to the shareholders 

agreement entered into by the Group and the other shareholder 

of Potato Head (HK), an independent third party to the Group, 

the Group has the right to appoint one out of the three directors 

of Potato Head (HK). Accordingly, the Group is able to exercise 

significant influence over Potato Head (HK).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023, Between Hong Kong 

Limited (“Between (HK)”) allotted 60 ordinary shares to an 

independent third party with the consideration of HK$2,000,000. 

Upon the completion of share allotment, the equity interests of 

the Group in Between (HK) decreased from 19% to 10%. The 

Group is no longer entitled to appoint any director in Between 

(HK) and Between (HK) ceased to be an associate of the Company. 

The retained interest has been accounted for as a financial asset at 

FVTPL since then. Details of fair value measurement are set out in 

note 36(d).

The gain on disposal of interest in Between (HK) of approximately 

HK$36,000 has been recognised in profit or loss and is calculated 

as follows:

2023

HK$’000

   

Fair value of 10% interest retained by the Group 10% 802

Carrying amount of Between (HK) at the date of loss of 

significant influence

Between (HK) 

(766)
   

Gain on disposal of an associate (note 9) 9 36
   

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s share of 

losses of Between (HK) and its subsidiaries was HK$551,000.

(c) 2023 12 31

Between (HK) 

551,000
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21.  21. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 
FVTPL

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current

Unlisted shares 87 1,131
    

The balance represented 10% retained interest of Between (HK) 

upon the loss of significant influence during the year ended 31 

December 2023 (note 20 (b)). Fair value loss of HK$1,044,000 

(2023: fair value gain of HK$329,000) was recognised in the 

profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, these financial assets were stated at 

fair value based on the valuation performed by OCF Corporate 

Advisory Limited (2023: OCF Corporate Advisory Limited), an 

independent firm of professional valuer. The valuer conducted the 

valuation based on asset approach (2023: market approach) (level 

3 fair value measurements). During the year ended 31 December 

2024, Between (HK) has ceased its operation. Since Between 

(HK) was no longer generated revenue from its operation, asset 

approach is adopted for the fair value measurement as at 31 

December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the financial assets measured 

at FVTPL are denominated in HK$.

2023 12 31

Between (HK) 10%

20 (b) 2024 12

31 1,044,000

2023 329,000

2024 12 31

2023

2023

2024 12 31

Between (HK)

Between (HK)

2024 12 31

2024 2023 12 31
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22. 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables 2,059 3,147

Rental deposits 12,870 13,959

Other deposits 2,969 3,520

Consideration receivable for disposal of 

subsidiaries (note 14)

 

14 539 2,200

Other receivables 1,198 564

Prepayments and others 1,354 1,609
    

Total trade and other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments

 

20,989 24,999
    

Analysed as:

Current 12,148 12,430

Non-current 8,841 12,569
    

20,989 24,999
    

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables from contracts with 

customers amounted to HK$2,059,000 (2023: HK$3,147,000). 

Included in other receivables is amounts due from parties 

previously related to the Group of HK$259,000 (2023: Nil).

Usually, there is no credit period for the restaurant operations 

except for certain customers in which credit period ranging from 

4 to 30 days is granted by the Group. The Group’s trading terms 

with its customers are mainly by cash or credit card settlement. 

The settlement terms with credit card companies are usually 

within 7 days after the billing date which is also the service 

rendered date.

2024 12 31

2,059,000 2023

3,147,000

259,000 2023

4 30

7
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22. 22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables presented 

based on the invoice date, which approximated the service 

rendered date, at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 1,115 2,538

31 to 60 days 31 60 322 93

61 to 90 days 61 90 47 82

91 to 365 days 91 365 575 434
    

2,059 3,147
    

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade 

receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount 

of HK$944,000 (2023: HK$609,000) which are past due as at 

the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$575,000 

(2023: HK$434,000) has been past due 90 days or more and 

is not considered as in default as the amounts are due from 

counter-parties with good history of repayment. The Group does 

not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2024, no loss allowance has been provided 

on trade receivables (2023: nil) and HK$1,800,000 was provided 

on other receivables (2023: HK$32,000). Details of impairment 

assessment of trade and other receivables as at 31 December 

2024 and 2023 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

2024 12 31

944,000 2023

609,000

575,000 2023 434,000

90

2024 12 31

2023

1,800,000 2023

32,000 2024 2023

12 31

36
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23. 

2023 12 31

5,000,000

28

2023 12 31

1% 4.1%

2024 12 31

2024 12 31

0.875% 2023

0.875%

2024 12 31

36

24. 

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED 
BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits represent a 

bank deposit of HK$5,000,000 pledged to a bank to secure the 

bank loan facilities of the Group (as set out in note 28).

The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 

1% to 4.1% per annum as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, all pledged bank deposits were released 

upon the cancellation of the bank loan facilities.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held and short term 

bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less 

and carry interest at prevailing market rate at 0.875% (2023: 

0.875%) per annum at 31 December 2024.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 

December 2024 are set out in note 36.

24. INVENTORIES
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Food, beverages and other consumables 5,541 6,027
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25. 
 

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 
COMPANIES/CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDER/A DIRECTOR

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand. In the opinion of directors of the Company, the amounts 

are expected to be recovered/settled within twelve months from 

the end of the reporting period.

Details of the amounts due from related companies are as 

follows:

Maximum amount 

outstanding during 

the year ended 

31 December

12 31

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Non-trade nature:

Cigarro Limited (note a) Cigarro Limited 

a – 8 8 8

Billion Huge Asia Pacific Limited 

(note a) a – 246 246 345

Mutiara (HK) Company Limited 

(note a)

Mutiara (HK) 

Company Limited

a – 391 391 522

Between (HK) (note a) Between (HK) a – 420 420 565
      

– 1,065
      



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

178

For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. 
 

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 
COMPANIES/CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDER/A DIRECTOR (Cont’d)

Details of the amounts due to related companies and controlling 

shareholders are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-trade nature:

Central Power Group Limited (note c) c (4,176) –

Golders Way Company Limited (note a) Golders Way Company Limited

a – (2,227)

Ms. PY Wong (note b) b – (4,105)
    

(4,176) (6,332)
    

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2023, the balance is unsecured, interest-free 

and repayable on demand. These companies are controlled by Ms. 

Wong Pui Yain (“Ms. PY Wong”), the executive director of the 

Company as at 31 December 2023.

(b) Ms. PY Wong was resigned as the executive director of the 

Company on 15 February 2024, she was no longer be the related 

party of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, 

amounts due from related companies of HK$1,065,000 were 

reclassified to other receivables (note 22). Amounts due to related 

companies of HK$2,227,000 and amount due to a director of 

HK$4,105,000 were reclassified to other payables (note 26).

(c) The balance with Central Power Group Limited, the controlling 

shareholder of the Company, is unsecured, interest-free and 

repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, HK$1,239,000 was made against the 

gross balance of amounts due from related companies. Upon 

the resignation of Ms. PY Wong during the year ended 31 

December 2024, provision of HK$1,239,000 was transferred to 

the provision of impairment loss of other receivables as at 31 

December 2024.

(a) 2023 12 31

2023 12

31

(b) 2024 2 15

2024 12 31

1,065,000

22

2,227,000

4,105,000

26

(c) 

2023 12 31

1,239,000 2024

12 31

1,239,000 2024

12 31
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26. 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 
ACCRUED CHARGES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables 10,893 13,677

Accrued staff related costs 4,203 3,842

Rental, rates and building management fee 2,472 3,585

Restaurant renovation work and repair and 

maintenance 1,235 3,230

Audit and professional fee 1,508 1,921

Marketing, advertising and promotion 1,890 2,569

Utilities charges 452 541

Receipts in advance 750 750

Other payables 7,881 2,953
    

31,284 33,068
    

The credit period for purchases of goods is 30 days. The following 

is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the 

invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 6,617 6,825

31 to 60 days 31 60 2,961 3,905

61 to 90 days 61 90 569 1,405

Over 90 days 90 746 1,542
    

10,893 13,677
    

Included in other payables is amounts due to parties previously 

related to the Group of HK$6,047,000 (2023: Nil). 

30

6,047,000 2023
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27. 27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current

Credit consumption programme 6,919 8,086

Current

Deposits received for catering services at 

restaurants 1,502 2,098

Cash coupon payables 452 363

Prepaid membership fee 157 138

Credit consumption programme 2,094 2,009

Others 73 –
    

4,278 4,608
    

11,197 12,694
    

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer 

goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 

consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the 

customer. The Group’s typical payment terms which impact the 

amount of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Deposits received for catering services at 
restaurants

The Group normally receives approximately 50% deposits in 

advance from customers for catering services in relation to events 

to be organised at the Group’s restaurants. The Group also 

receives deposits in advance from members of a restaurant of the 

Group and the members will in return be granted equivalent cash 

value of food and beverage credits for the catering services at 

that restaurant during the subscription period, which is normally 

within one year from the date on which the annual membership 

card was issued to the member. All of these deposits and credits 

are non-transferable and non-refundable.

 

50%
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27. 

2021

2021 8 1

30,000 1

1.00

30,000

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

Prepaid membership fee

The Group receives annual membership fees in full amount 

at the beginning of the annual subscription period. Prepaid 

membership fee will be recognised on a time-based method 

over the subscription period which will normally be one year. 

The prepaid membership fees are non-transferable and non-

refundable.

Credit consumption programme

In 2021, an arrangement has been entered into with the 

shareholders of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company 

(the “Advance Shareholders”) pursuant to which the Advance 

Shareholders are agreed to make advances (the “Advances”) 

to the non-wholly owned subsidiary for funding the operation 

of a new restaurant (the “New Restaurant”). The Advances will 

be settled by way of food and beverages credits (the “Credits”) 

to be enjoyed by the eligible person duly appointed by Advance 

Shareholders (the “Credit Users”) solely at the New Restaurant 

commenced from 1 August 2021 (i.e. Credit Consumption 

Arrangement). As a monthly settlement of the Advances, the 

Credit Users of each Advance Shareholder can enjoy a maximum 

of 30,000 Credits (1 Credit equivalent to HK$1.00) at the New 

Restaurant. If the available monthly Credit of HK$30,000 is not 

fully utilised in that particular month, the unused Credits for 

that particular month would be forfeited and cannot be carried 

forward. The Credits are non-transferrable and non-refundable.
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27. 27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

Movements in contract liabilities

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Balance as at 1 January 1 1 12,694 14,044

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of 

recognising revenue during the year (4,608) (4,962)

Interest accreted on contract liabilities (note 11) 11 613 697

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 

receipts in advance of service to be provided 2,498 2,915
    

Balance as at 31 December 12 31 11,197 12,694
    

28. BANK BORROWINGS
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Bank borrowings – 4,833
    

Carrying amounts of the bank borrowings 

repayable *:

*

Within one year – 2,000

More than one year, but not exceeding  

two years – 2,000

More than two years, but not more than  

five years – 833
    

– 4,833
    

Less: Amounts due within one year or repayable 

on demand shown under current liabilities – (4,833)
    

Amount shown under non-current liabilities – –
    

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out 

in the loan agreements.

28. 

* 
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28. 

2023 12

2.5%

2023 12

31 6.59%

2023 12 31

4,833,000 5,000,000

2023 12 31

2023 12 31

4,833,000

2023 12 31

2024 3

4,833,000

2024 3

5,000,000

28. BANK BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

As at December 2023, the bank borrowing was subject to 

variable interest rate of the higher of 2.5% per annum over 

HIBOR or the bank’s cost of funds. The weighted average interest 

rate was 6.59% per annum as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings of the Group of 

HK$4,833,000 were secured by bank deposits of HK$5,000,000. 

The bank borrowings of the Group were guaranteed by corporate 

guarantees provided by the Company and the director of the 

Company as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s bank loan agreement was subjected to covenant 

clauses, whereby, the Group was required to comply with, 

among others, the covenant that restricted the Group to 

maintain certain financial ratio. As at 31 December 2023, the 

Group did not fulfil a financial ratio as required in a bank loan 

agreement and therefore the bank may declare the outstanding 

principal amount, accrued interest and all other sums payable 

under the loan immediately due and payable. As such, the bank 

was contractually entitled to request for immediate repayment of 

the outstanding loan amount of HK$4,833,000. These bank loan 

agreements also contained repayable on demand clause. The 

outstanding balances were presented as repayable on demand 

under current liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

In March 2024, the Group has early repaid the entire bank 

borrowings of HK$4,833,000. The bank has cancelled the 

respective loan facility and returned the pledged bank deposits 

of HK$5,000,000 to the Group in March 2024.
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29. 29. REINSTATEMENT PROVISION
Reinstatement 

works

HK$’000

   

At 1 January 2024 2024 1 1 4,045

Utilised (291)

Reversal (400)
   

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 3,354
   

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current 2,429 1,541

Non-current 925 2,504
    

3,354 4,045
    

The provision for reinstatement works related to the estimated 

cost of reinstating the rented premises to be carried out at 

the end of respective lease periods. These amounts have not 

been discounted for the purpose of measuring the provision for 

reinstatement works as the effect is not significant.
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30. 30. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of 

shares Amount

HK$ HK$’000

     

Ordinary share of HK$0.02  

(2023: HK$0.01) each

0.02  

2023 0.01

Authorised:

At 1 January 2023,  

31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 1 1  

2023 12 31

2024 1 1 5,000,000,000 50,000,000 50,000

Share consolidation (note a) a (2,500,000,000) – –
     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 2,500,000,000 50,000,000 50,000
     

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2023,  

31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 1 1  

2023 12 31

2024 1 1 1,159,780,000 11,597,800 11,598

Share consolidation (note a) a (579,890,000) – –
     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 579,890,000 11,597,800 11,598
     

Note:

(a) On 26 February 2024, the directors of the Company proposed 

to implement a share consolidation pursuant to which every 2 

issued and unissue shares of HK$0.01 each in share capital of the 

Company to be consolidated into 1 consolidated share of HK$0.02 

each (“Share Consolidation”). The Share Consolidation took place 

on 25 March 2024, the ordinary shares in issue is then changed to 

HK$0.02 per share since then.

All shares issued rank pari passu with other existing shares in all 

aspects.

(a) 2024 2 26

2

0.01

1 0.02

2024 3 25

0.02
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31. 31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and 

movements thereon during the current and the prior year.

Tax losses

Reinstatement 

provision

Accelerated 

accounting 

depreciation

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation 

allowance Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 – – 2,272 (450) 1,822

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss  

(note 13) 13 3,183 – (5) (167) 3,011
       

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31

2024 1 1 3,183 – 2,267 (617) 4,833

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss  

(note 13) 13 (1,676) 206 (440) (195) (2,105)
       

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,507 206 1,827 (812) 2,728
       

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement 

of financial position, the following is the analysis of the deferred 

taxation:

As at 31 December

12 31

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred tax assets 3,080 5,505

Deferred tax liabilities (352) (672)
    

2,728 4,833
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31. 

2024 12 31

84,172,000 2023

93,526,000

9,129,000

2023 19,289,000

2024 12 31

75,043,000 2023

74,237,000

32. 

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of 

approximately HK$84,172,000 (2023: HK$93,526,000) available 

for offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been 

recognised in respect of approximately HK$$9,129,000 (2023: 

HK$19,289,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been 

recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of approximately 

HK$75,043,000 (2023: HK$74,237,000) at 31 December 2024 

as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses may be carried 

forward indefinitely.

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group had the following transactions with its 

related parties during the year:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Catering income from Ms. PY Wong – 177
    

Catering income from Mr. Alan Lo (note a)  

a – 217
    

Lease payment to a company with 50% owned 

by Ms. PY Wong

50%  

– 900
    

Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. PY Wong was the 

executive director of the Company and Mr. Alan Lo is the spouse 

of Ms. PY Wong. Ms. PY Wong was resigned as the executive 

director of the Company on 15 February 2024.

Details of the balances with related companies and controlling 

shareholder at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in 

the consolidated statement of financial position and note 25.

(a) 2023 12 31

2024 2 15

25
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32. 

7

33. 

(a) 

1,500

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Compensation of key management personnel

The compensation to key management personnel of the Group 

representing individuals appointed as directors of the Company 

is set out in note 7.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(a) Defined contribution scheme

The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory 

Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory 

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in 

funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under 

the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each 

required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates 

specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group 

with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required 

contributions. Except for voluntary contribution, no 

forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme is available 

to reduce the contribution payable in future years. The 

cap of contribution amount is HK$1,500 per employee per 

month.

The retirement benefits schemes contributions arising from 

the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income represent 

contributions paid or payable to the funds by the Group at 

rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
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33. 

(a) 

2024 12 31

3,246,000 2023

3,908,000

(b) 

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(a) Defined contribution scheme

The contributions paid or payable to the above retirement 

benefits schemes by the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2024 is approximately HK$3,246,000 (2023: 

HK$3,908,000).

(b) Provision for long service payment

The amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements is determined as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Liability recognised in the consolidated 

statement of financial position

 

875 813
    

Remeasurement of provision for long 

service payment in the consolidated 

statement of other comprehensive 

income (79) (127)
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33. 

(b) 

57

• 65

• 

• 

• 

• 

22,500

390,000

485

5%

1,500

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(b) Provision for long service payment (Cont’d)

Defined benefit scheme characteristics and funding

Under Employment Ordinance, Cap.57, an employee who 

has been employed under a continuous contract for not 

less than 5 years of service is eligible for LSP under the 

following circumstances:

• The employee resigns at age of 65 or above;

• The employee dies during employment;

• The employee resigns on ground of ill health;

• The fixed term employment contract expires without 

being renewed;

• The employee is dismissed which is not because of 

redundancy or serious misconduct.

The LSP benefit is determined with reference to the 

employee’s last full month’s salary (capped at HK$22,500) 

and number of years of service. The LSP benefit is capped 

at HK$390,000 for each eligible employee. The accrued 

benefits derived from the Group’s mandatory contributions 

under the MPF Scheme in respect of that employee can 

be used to offset the LSP benefit. Under the Mandatory 

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 485, the 

Group, as an employer, is required to make mandatory 

MPF contribution at 5% of the employee’s monthly salary 

(capped at HK$1,500). The Group makes the contribution 

to separate trustees. MPF scheme has attributes of a 

defined contribution plan.
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33. 

(b) 

2022 6 2022

2025 5 1

 

 

4(h)

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (Cont’d)

(b) Provision for long service payment (Cont’d)

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes 

Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) 

Ordinance 2022 (‘the Amendment Ordinance’) was 

enacted. The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of 

the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory 

MPF contributions to offset LSP (‘the Abolition’). 

Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR announced 

that the Abolition will take effect on 1 May 2025 (‘the 

Transition Date’).

The following key changes will take effect since the 

Transition Date:

— Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory 

MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the 

LSP in respect of the employment period after the 

Transition Date.

— The pre-transition LSP is calculated using the last 

month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition 

Date, instead of using the last month’s salary of 

employment termination date.

The accounting for the Group’s LSP obligation, MPF 

contribution and the MPF-LSP offsetting is detailed in note 

4(h).
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34.  34. DETAILS OF THE NON-WHOLLY OWNED 
SUBSIDIARIES

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries 

of the Group that has material non-controlling interests:

Place of 

incorporation 

and principal 

place of 

business

Proportion of ownership 

interests and voting rights 

held by non-controlling 

interests

Total comprehensive 

(expense)/income allocated 

to non-controlling interests

Accumulated 

non-controlling interests

As at 31 December

For the year ended  

31 December As at 31 December

12 31 12 31 12 31

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Profit Holder Limited (“Profit Holder”) Hong Kong 32.1% 32.1% 48 (2,389) (2,382) (2,430)

Express Star Corporation Limited  

(“Express Star”)

Express Star Corporation Limited 

Express Star

Hong Kong 57% 57% (1,123) (1,782) (9,554) (8,431)

Summarised financial information for the years ended 31 

December 2024 and 2023 in respect of each of the Company’s 

subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out 

below. The summarised financial information below represents 

amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2024 2023 12 31
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34.  34. DETAILS OF THE NON-WHOLLY OWNED 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Profit Holder

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

For the year ended 31 December 12 31

Revenue 36,037 39,042

Expenses (35,911) (46,473)
    

Profit/(loss) for the year 126 (7,431)

Other comprehensive expense 23 (11)
    

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  

for the year 149 (7,442)
    

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  

for the year attributable to:

 owners of the Company 101 (5,053)

 non-controlling interests of Profit Holder 48 (2,389)
    

149 (7,442)
    

For the year ended 31 December 12 31

Cash flows from operating activities 5,087 3,522

Cash flows from investing activities (2,440) 648

Cash flows from financing activities (4,288) (4,752)
    

Net cash outflows (1,641) (582)
    

As at 31 December 12 31

Current assets 20,651 24,443

Non-current assets 8,592 9,501

Current liabilities (34,554) (35,568)

Non-current liabilities (4,292) (8,128)
    

Net liabilities (9,603) (9,752)
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (7,221) (7,322)

Non-controlling interests of Profit Holder (2,382) (2,430)
    

(9,603) (9,752)
    



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

194

For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.  

Express Star

34. DETAILS OF THE NON-WHOLLY OWNED 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Express Star

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

For the year ended 31 December 12 31

Revenue 18,308 23,409

Expenses (20,277) (26,536)
    

Loss for the year (1,969) (3,127)

Other comprehensive expense for the year (2) –
    

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year (1,971) (3,127)
    

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year attributable to:

 

 owners of the Company  (848) (1,345)

 non-controlling interests of Express Star  Express Star (1,123) (1,782)
    

(1,971) (3,127)
    

For the year ended 31 December 12 31

Cash flows from operating activities (1,188) 898

Cash flows from investing activities 68 (63)

Cash flows from financing activities 1,189 (946)
    

Net cash inflows/(outflows) 69 (111)
    

As at 31 December 12 31

Current assets 6,419 7,266

Non-current assets 1,719 2,089

Current liabilities (13,206) (10,930)

Non-current liabilities (11,694) (13,216)
    

Net liabilities (16,762) (14,791)
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (7,208) (6,360)

Non-controlling interests of Express Star Express Star (9,554) (8,431)
    

(16,762) (14,791)
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35. 

28 18

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group 

will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the 

return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 

equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged 

from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt balance 

and equity balance. Debt balance mainly consists of bank 

borrowings and lease liabilities (details as set out in note 28 and 

note 18). Equity balance consists of equity attributable to owners 

of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on 

an on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the management 

of the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated 

with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the 

management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall 

capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 

issues as well as the issue of new debt or repayment of debts.

The net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of reporting period was 

as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total debt 17,247 40,045

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (9,162) (10,359)
    

Net debt 8,085 29,686
    

Total deficit (15,218) (10,827)
    

Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio N/A N/A 
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36. 

(a) 

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 87 1,131

Financial assets measured at  

amortised cost 28,797 39,814
    

Financial liabilities measured at  

amortised cost 48,504 75,603
    

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and 

other receivables and deposits, amounts due from related 

companies, bank balances and cash, trade and other 

payables and accrued charges, amounts due to related 

companies, a director and controlling shareholder, bank 

borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial 

instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks 

associated with these financial instruments and the policies 

on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

Management of the Group manages and monitors these 

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 

on a timely and effective manner.

(b)  
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36. 

(b) 

(i) 

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(i) Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest 

rate risk in relation to fair value interest rate risk in 

relation to non-interest bearing amounts due from/

to related companies, a director and controlling 

shareholder.

The Group currently does not have interest rate 

hedging policy. However, management of the Group 

closely monitors its exposure to future cash flow risk 

as a result of change on market interest rate and will 

consider hedging changes in market interest rates 

should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial 

liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of 

this note.

Sensitivity analysis

No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank balances 

as the management of the Group considers that the 

interest rate fluctuation on bank balances is minimal.
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36. 

(b) 

(ii) 

2024 2023 12 31

2024

2023 12 31

12

2024

12 31

2024 12 31

12

593,000

2023 32,000

1,207,000 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the maximum 

exposure to credit risk of the Group which will cause a 

financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge 

an obligation by the counterparties is arising from 

the carrying amount of the respective recognised 

financial assets as stated in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.

Trade and other receivables

The Group trades with a large number of individual 

customers and trading terms are mainly on cash 

and credit card settlement. In view of the Group’s 

operation, the Group does not have significant credit 

risk exposure to any single individual customer. The 

Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables 

at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is assessed 

on collective basis. As the Group’s historical credit 

loss experience does not indicate significantly 

different loss patterns for different customers, the 

loss allowance based on past due status is not 

further distinguished between the Group’s different 

customers. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, 

the Group assessed the lifetime ECL for the trade 

receivables.

The Group assessed 12-month ECL for the other 

receivables, except for one debtor which the Group 

considered as significant increase in credit risk as at 

31 December 2024. Expected credit loss allowance 

of HK$593,000 (2023: HK$32,000) under 12-month 

ECL and HK$1,207,000 (2023: nil) under lifetime ECL 

on other receivables was provided as at 31 December 

2024.
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36. 

(b) 

(ii) 

2023

12 31

12

2023 12 31

12

561,000

678,000

2024 12 31

2024 12 31

1,239,000

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

Amounts due from related parties

The Group has significant concentration of credit 

risk on amounts due from related companies. 

The management of the Group considers the 

counterparties have continuous repayment history. 

Except for one debtor which the Group considered as 

significant increase in credit risk as at 31 December 

2023, the Group measures loss allowances for the 

remaining amounts due from related parties at an 

amount equal to 12-month ECL, which is assessed 

on an individual debtor basis. As at 31 December 

2023, the management of the Group assessed 

that expected credit loss allowance for these 

receivables is HK$561,000 under 12-month ECL 

basis and HK$678,000 under lifetime ECL. Upon the 

resignation of Ms. PY Wong during the year ended 

31 December 2024, provision of HK$1,239,000 was 

transferred to the provision of impairment loss of 

other receivables as at 31 December 2024.

Bank balances

The Group expects that there is no significant credit 

risk associated with bank balances since they are 

substantially deposited at medium to large-sized 

Hong Kong listed banks. Management does not 

expect that there will be any significant losses from 

non-performance by these counterparties. The Group 

has concentration risk on its liquid funds as the bank 

balances are placed with three banks in Hong Kong.
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36. 

(b) 

(iii) 

3(b)

2024 12 31

8,487,000

28,976,000

15,218,000

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk

In view of the factors mentioned in Note 3(b), a 

series of measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure 

have been taken to improve its financial and liquidity 

position of the Group as a whole.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors 

and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

Group reported a net loss of HK$8,487,000. As of 

the same date, the Group had net current liabilities of 

HK$28,976,000 and net liabilities of HK$15,218,000. 

In view of these factors, the Group seeks for the 

financial support on its controlling shareholder, 

Central Power, and takes certain measure to mitigate 

the liquidity pressure by improving its financial 

and liquidity position as a whole. In addition, the 

controlling shareholder has confirmed not request 

the Group to repay its debt due from the Group until 

the repayment will not affect the Group’s ability to 

repay other creditors.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining 

contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The tables below, which presenting the 

undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities, have 

been drawn up based on the earliest date on which 

the Group can be required to pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash 

flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 

rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from 

interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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36. 

(b) 

(iii) 

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Less than 

one year 

or repayable 

on demand

In more than 

one year 

but not 

more than 

two years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables and 

accrued charges

 

27,081 – 27,081 27,081

Amount due to controlling 

shareholder 4,176 – 4,176 4,176

Lease liabilities 13,655 4,466 18,121 17,247
      

44,912 4,466 49,378 48,504
      



XinXiang Era Group Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
 / 

202

For year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. 

(b) 

(iii) 

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies (Cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Less than 

one year 

or repayable 

on demand

In more than 

one year 

but not 

more than 

two years

In more than 

two years 

but not 

more than 

five years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31

Non-derivative financial 

liabilities

Trade and other payables and 

accrued charges

 

29,226 – – 29,226 29,226

Amounts due to related 

companies 2,227 – – 2,227 2,227

Amounts due to a director 4,105 – – 4,105 4,105

Bank borrowings 2,132 2,132 888 5,152 4,833

Lease liabilities 22,134 11,147 4,466 37,747 35,212
       

59,824 13,279 5,354 78,457 75,603
       

The amounts included above for variable interest 

rate non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to 

changes if variable interest rates differ from those 

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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36. 

(c) 
 

(d)  

• 

• 

• 

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets 
and financial liabilities that are measured 
at amortised cost

The management of the Group estimates the fair value 

of the financial assets and financial liabilities measured 

at amortised cost using discounted cash flows analysis. 

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying 

amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 

at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements 

approximate their fair values.

(d) Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments

The Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair 

value. The following table gives information about how the 

fair values of these financial instruments are determined 

(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), 

as well as the level of fair value hierarchy into which the 

fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) 

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measurements are observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived 

from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for 

identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived 

from inputs other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 

from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived 

from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 

asset or liability that are not based on observable 

market data (unobservable inputs).
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36. 

(d)  

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Cont’d)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded 

in an active market is determined by using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use 

of observable market data where it is available and rely 

as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If one or 

more of the significant inputs is not based on observable 

market data, the instrument is included in level 3. Financial 

instruments included in level 3 comprise financial assets 

measured at FVTPL.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the 

current and prior years.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable 

inputs used in determining the fair value measurement of 

level 3 financial instruments, as well as the inter-relationship 

between key unobservable inputs and fair value, are set 

out in the table below.
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36. 

(d)  

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Cont’d)

Financial 

instrument

Valuation 

techniques used

Significant 

unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between 

key unobservable inputs 

and fair value

    

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 12 31

Unlisted shares Asset-based method Discount on lack of control: 

24.64%; marketability 

discount: 15.61%

Value increase/(decrease) 

when the discount on 

lack of control (decrease)/

increase; Value increase/

(decrease) when the 

marketability discount 

(decrease)/increase

24.64%

15.61%

 

 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 12 31

Unlisted shares Market-based method Price-to-sales multiple: 1.29; 

marketability discount: 

15.70%

Value increase/(decrease) 

when the price-to sales-

ratio increase/(decrease); 

Value increase/(decrease) 

when the marketability 

discount (decrease)/

increase

1.29

15.70%
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36. 

(d)  

2024

2023 12 31

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements of financial 
instruments (Cont’d)

Group’s valuation processes

The Group’s finance department performs the valuations of 

financial assets required for financial reporting purposes. As 

at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has engaged 

independent professionally qualified valuer to assist the 

Group in determining the fair value of financial instruments 

in level 3 for financial reporting purposes. The responsibility 

for determining the fair value rests with the Group. At each 

financial reporting date, the finance department reviews all 

significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments 

used to measure the fair values of financial instruments in 

level 3.

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements of 

financial assets measured at FVTPL on recurring basis:

Convertible 

notes

Future 

equity 

investments

Fund 

investment

Unlisted 

preference 

shares

Unlisted 

shares Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 1,783 1,122 588 371 1,066 4,930

Transfer from investment in 

associates (note 20)

 

20 – – – – 802 802

Acquisition – – 414 – – 414

Fair value changes (note 9) 9 (1,783) – – – 329 (1,454)

Disposal of subsidiaries  

(note 14)

 

14 – (1,122) (1,002) (371) (1,066) (3,561)
        

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31

2024 1 1 – – – – 1,131 1,131

Fair value changes (note 9) 9 – – – – (1,044) (1,044)
        

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 – – – – 87 87
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37. 37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 
COMPANY

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current asset

Investment in a subsidiary 11,448 11,845
    

Current assets

Prepayments and other receivables 208 166

Amount due from a related company – 150

Amounts due from subsidiaries 14 14
    

222 330
    

Current liabilities

Other payables and accrued charges 612 879

Amounts due to subsidiaries 20,418 17,668

Amount due to controlling shareholder 4,176 –
    

25,206 18,547
    

Net current liabilities (24,984) (18,217)
    

Net liabilities (13,536) (6,372)
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital (note 30) 30 11,598 11,598

Reserves (25,134) (17,970)
    

Total deficit (13,536) (6,372)
    

KONG LINGLEI WAN SUET YEE CHERRY

Director Director
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37. 37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)

Share 

premium

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Share 

option 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 100,774 64 610 (115,946) (14,498)

Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – – (3,472) (3,472)

Cancellation of share options – – (130) 130 –
       

At 31 December 2023 and 

1 January 2024

2023 12 31  

2024 1 1 100,774 64 480 (119,288) (17,970)

Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – – (11,328) (11,328)

Transaction cost on share 

consolidation (190) – – – (190)

Grant of share options – – 4,354 – 4,354

Lapsed of share options – – (480) 480 –
       

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 100,584 64 4,354 (130,136) (25,134)
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38.  38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising 

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in 

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows 

from financing activities.

Non-trade 

nature 

amount due 

to a director

Other 

payables

Non-trade 

nature 

amounts due 

to related 

companies

Non-trade 

nature 

amount due 

to an 

associate

Non-trade 

nature 

amount due 

to controlling 

shareholder

Lease 

liabilities

Bank 

borrowings

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 25) (note 25) (note 25) (note 18) (note 28)

25 25 25 18 28
         

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 939 – 2,399 94 – 36,242 8,191

Financing cash flows 3,166 – (266) – – (29,092) (3,765)

Non-cash item:

Reclassification – – 94 (94) – – –

Finance costs (note 11) 11 – – – – – 1,822 407

Lease modification – – – – – 28,988 –

Termination of lease – – – – – (2,748) –
         

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31  

2024 1 1 4,105 – 2,227 – – 35,212 4,833

Financing cash flows – (285) – – 4,176 (22,475) (4,923)

Non-cash item:

Reclassification (4,105) 6,332 (2,227) – – – –

Finance costs (note 11) 11 – – – – – 1,801 90

Lease modification – – – – – 3,084 –

Termination of lease – – – – – (375) –
         

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 – 6,047 – – 4,176 17,247 –
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39.  39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries comprising the Group at the 

end of the reporting period are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital

Proportion of share capital 

held by the Group as at 

31 December Principal activities

12 31

2024 2023
       

JIA Group Hong Kong Limited^ British Virgin Islands 

(“BVI”)

Hong Kong US$50,000 100% 100% Investment holding

 

 

50,000

Brightsome Investments Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Restaurant operation

1

Capital Creative Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding

100

Duddell’s Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100

100

100% 100% Club membership services 

for one of the Group’s 

restaurants

Gain Long Corporation Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding

1,000

Ideal Profit Corporation Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$50,000 100% 100% Restaurant operation

50,000

Kingswide Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Restaurant operation

100

Luck Wealthy Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Dormant

100

Oman International Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$3 100% 100% Trademark holder

3
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39. 39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital

Proportion of share capital 

held by the Group as at 

31 December Principal activities

12 31

2024 2023
       

Profit Holder Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 67.9% 67.9% Restaurant operation

1,000

Rising Mark Development Limited BVI Hong Kong US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

10,000

Springlike Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Top Glorification Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100% Restaurant operation

100

Victory Rich Global Group Limited BVI Hong Kong US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

10,000

Dazzle Long Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Maxmount Global Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1

1

100% 100% Provision of consultancy 

services in connection 

with the restaurant 

operation

Season Luck Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Pure Love Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100% Dormant

100
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39. 39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital

Proportion of share capital 

held by the Group as at 

31 December Principal activities

12 31

2024 2023
       

Fine Wisdom Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Vantage Luck Limited (note (i)) BVI Hong Kong US$1 – 100% Investment holding

Vantage Luck Limited (i) 1

King Access Corporation Limited (note (i)) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Dormant

(i) 1

Fit Asia Inc Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding

1,000

Champ Winner Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 80% 80% Restaurant operation

100

Loyal Talent International Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 80% 80% Restaurant operation

100

Sure Big Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Restaurant operation

1

Ever Brave Ventures Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1
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39. 39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital

Proportion of share capital 

held by the Group as at 

31 December Principal activities

12 31

2024 2023
       

Star Glory Ventures Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Express Star Corporation Limited (note (ii)) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 43% 43% Restaurant operation

Express Star Corporation Limited (ii) 1,000

Absolute Abundant Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1,000 72% 72% Investment holding

1,000

JIA Restaurants Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

1

Profit Bright Corporation Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Restaurant operation

1

XinXiang Era Investment Group  

Company Limited (note (iii))^

Hong Kong Hong Kong – 100% – Dormant

(iii) ^
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39. 

(i) 2024 12 31

(ii) Absolute Abundant Limited Express 

Star Corporation Limited 60%

Absolute Abundant Limited

(iii) 2024 12 31

^ 

12 31

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) These companies are disposed of during the year ended 31 

December 2024.

(ii) Absolute Abundant Limited hold 60% equity interest in Express 

Star Corporation Limited. The Group has power over this investee 

through majority of the voting rights of Absolute Abundant 

Limited, which in turn have voting rights that are sufficient to give 

it practical ability to direct the relevant activities of this investee 

unilaterally.

(iii) These companies are incorporated during the year ended 31 

December 2024.

^ companies that are directly held by the Company

The above table lists the entities now comprising the Group 

which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally 

affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of the 

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the 

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All subsidiaries now comprising the Group are limited liability 

companies and have adopted 31 December as their financial 

year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end 

of the year.
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40. 

 

2018 1 23

GEM

2018 2

8

10

(i)(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(ii)

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of 

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions 

in writing of all the shareholders passed on 23 January 2018. 

The terms of the share option scheme are in accordance with 

the provisions of Chapter 23 of the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange. The share option 

scheme became effective on 8 February 2018, and unless 

otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 

years from that date.

The purpose of the share option scheme is to attract and 

retain the best quality personnel for the development of the 

Company’s businesses; to provide additional incentives to the 

Qualifying Grantees (as defined below) and to promote the long 

term financial success of the Company by aligning the interests 

of option holders to shareholders. The Board of Directors of 

the Company may offer to grant an option to any Qualifying 

Grantees.

“Qualifying Grantee” means (i) (1) any employee (whether full-

time or part-time employee) of any members of the Group or 

any of its affiliates and any person who is an officer of any 

members of the Group or any of its affiliates; (2) any person 

who is seconded to work for any member of the Group or 

any of its affiliates; (3) any consultant, agent, representative, 

adviser, customer, contractor of the Group or any affiliates; (4) 

any business partner/ally/alliance, joint venture partner, supplier 

of goods or services to the Group or any of its affiliates or any 

employee thereof (collectively the “Eligible Person”); or (ii) any 

trust for the benefit of an Eligible Person or his immediate family 

members or any company controlled by an Eligible Person or his 

immediate family members.
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40. 

30%

10%

12

1%

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon 

exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 

exercised under the share option scheme and any other schemes 

must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. 

No option may be granted under any schemes of the Company if 

this will result in the limit being exercised. The maximum number 

of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options to be 

granted under the share option scheme and any other schemes 

of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the 

shares in issued following the completion of the capitalisation 

issue and the share offer.

No option may be granted to any participant of the share option 

scheme such that the total number of shares issued and to be 

issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to 

that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest 

grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from 

time to time.
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40. 

10

28

1.0

(a)

(b)

(c)

2018 2 8 10

2023 12 4

2,400,000

(i)

550,000 1,000,000

0.1 (ii)

850,000 0.13

2023

12 13 GEM

23.03(14)

83,600,000

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 

share option scheme at any time during a period as determined 

by the Board of Directors of the Company and not exceeding 10 

years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum period 

for which an option must be held before it can be exercised. 

Participants of the share option scheme are required to pay the 

Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant 28 days from 

the date of the offer (or such period as the Board of Directors of 

the Company may specify in writing). The exercise price of the 

options is determined by the Board of Directors of the Company 

in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever 

is the highest of: (a) the closing price of a share as stated in 

the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; 

(b) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days 

immediately preceding the offer date; or (c) the nominal value of 

a share. The share option scheme shall be valid and effective for a 

period of 10 years from 8 February 2018, after which no further 

options will be granted or offered.

On 4 December 2023, a consultant and a director agreed to 

surrender a total of 2,400,000 outstanding share options 

(comprising of (i) 550,000 and 1,000,000 share options with 

an exercise price of HK$0.1 held by a consultant and a director, 

respectively; and (ii) 850,000 share options with an exercise 

price of HK$0.13 held by a director) at nil consideration for 

cancellation. The cancellation was completed on 13 December 

2023. The maximum number of shares that may be issued upon 

exercise of all options to be granted under the share option 

scheme decreased to 83,600,000 shares after the cancellation 

based on Rule 23.03(14) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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40. 

2023 12 13

2024 2

9

6,050,000

2024 1 10 2,900,000

0.13

2024 2 21

2018 1 23

30

0.01

80,000,000

2024 2 21

12

2024 3 25

80,000,000 40,000,000

0.15

0.30

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

On 13 December 2023, Central Power Group Limited (“Offeror”) 

had become a controlling shareholder of the Company with the 

completion of a share purchase agreement and was required 

under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers in Hong Kong to make 

mandatory unconditional cash offers to cancel all outstanding 

share options (the “Option Offer”). The Option Offer was closed 

on 9 February 2024. The Offeror did not receive any acceptances 

under the Option Offer. As such, 6,050,000 share options which 

were outstanding at the time automatically lapsed upon close of 

the Option Offer.

On 10 January 2024, 2,900,000 share options with HK$0.13 per 

share exercise price were lapsed.

On 21 February 2024 (“Date of Grant”), the Company offered to 

grant share options to 30 service providers of the Group, subject 

to their acceptance, under the share option scheme adopted by 

the Company on 23 January 2018, to subscribe for a total of 

80,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital 

of the Company. The grants are not subject to approval by the 

shareholders of the Company.

Vesting period condition was associated to the options granted 

on 21 February 2024. No options can be exercised within the 

first 12 months from the Date of Grant. Exercise of the these 

options is subject to the condition that the grantee shall remain 

as a service provider of the Group at the time of exercise of the 

options.

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme, adjustments 

are required to be made to the exercise price and the number of 

shares that can be subscribed for under the outstanding share 

options as a result of the completion of the Share Consolidation 

of the Company that every two issued and unissue shares of the 

Company be consolidated into one consolidated ordinary share 

with effect from 25 March 2024. The number of consolidated 

shares falling to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding 

share options was adjusted from 80,000,000 to 40,000,000. The 

exercise price of the outstanding share options were adjusted 

from HK$0.15 to HK$0.30 per share.
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40. 

2021 2022

2024 12 31

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

All share options granted in 2021 and 2022 were lapsed before 

the Share Consolidation took effect. Therefore, no share options 

adjustments are made to these figures.

The movements of the outstanding options granted under the 

share option scheme during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Number of share options

 

Share 

option type

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 2024

Granted 

during 

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

Lapsed 

during 

the year

Adjusted for 

Share 

Consolidation

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 

2024

2024

1 1

2024

12 31
        

Directors 2021 1,900,000 – – (1,900,000) – –

2022 2,200,000 – – (2,200,000) – –

Employees 2021 500,000 – – (500,000) – –

2022 3,300,000 – – (3,300,000) – –

Consultants 2021 500,000 – – (500,000) – –

2022 550,000 – – (550,000) – –

Service providers 2024 – 80,000,000 – – (40,000,000) 40,000,000

        

8,950,000 80,000,000 – (8,950,000) (40,000,000) 40,000,000
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40. 

2023 12 31

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Number of share options

 

Share 

option type

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 2023

Granted 

during 

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

Cancelled 

during 

the year

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 2023

2023

1 1

2023

12 31
       

Directors 2021 2,750,000 – – (850,000) 1,900,000

2022 3,200,000 – – (1,000,000) 2,200,000

Employees 2021 500,000 – – – 500,000

2022 3,300,000 – – – 3,300,000

Consultants 2021 500,000 – – – 500,000

2022 1,100,000 – – (550,000) 550,000
       

11,350,000 – – (2,400,000) 8,950,000
       

Details of the share options are as follow:

Share option type Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

    

2024 21 February 2024 21 February 2025 to 20 February 2034 HK$0.15*

2024 2024 2 21 2025 2 21 2034 2 20 0.15 *
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40. 

2024 2024 2

21 5,045,000

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The total fair value of the 2024 share options at the grant date on 

21 February 2024 was HK$5,045,000. The following information 

is relevant in the determination of the fair value of options.

   

Share option type 2024

Option pricing model used Binomial option pricing

Share price at grant date HK$0.125

0.125

Exercise price HK$0.15*

0.15 *

Contractual life 10 years

10

Expected volatility 55.703%

Early exercise multiple 2.2

Expected dividend rate 0.00%

Risk-free interest rate 3.77%
   

Expected volatility was determined by using historical volatility 

of market comparable companies with similar business to the 

Company within a period similar to the expected lives of the 

share options.

Early exercise multiple was determined by reference to those 

of the employees as the behavior of the service providers was 

similar to the employees.

* The exercise price of the outstanding share option granted on 

21 February 2024 have been adjusted to HK$0.30 per share as a 

result of Share Consolidation.

* 2024 2 21

0.30
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2024 12 31

40,000,000

10

2023 12 31 8,950,000

8,950,000

5.5

2024 12 31

4,354,000 2023

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the 
Company (Cont’d)

The number of share options and weighted average exercise 

price are as follows for the reporting periods presented:

2024 2023

Number of 

share options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

Number of 

share options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

HK$ HK$

      

Outstanding at 1 January 1 1 8,950,000 0.11 11,350,000 0.11

Granted 80,000,000 0.15 - -

Adjusted for Share Consolidation (40,000,000) 0.30 - -

Cancelled - - (2,400,000) 0.11

Lapsed (8,950,000) 0.11 - -
      

Outstanding at 31 December 12 31 40,000,000 0.30 8,950,000 0.11
      

Of the total number of 40,000,000 share options outstanding as 

at 31 December 2024, none was exercisable and with a weighted 

average remaining contractual life of 10 years.

Of the total number of 8,950,000 share options outstanding as 

at 31 December 2023, 8,950,000 share options were exercisable 

and with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.5 

years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, share option expenses 

of HK$4,354,000 (2023: nil) was recognised in the profit or loss.

40. 
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41. 

42.  

2025 3 24

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 

Group had no other material events after the reporting period 

that require adjustment or disclosure.

42. APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2025.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following table summaries the consolidated financial statements

of the Group in respective year as indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

12 31

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Revenue 173,303 221,344 217,00 5 278,542 244,604
       

Loss before taxation (19,737) (19,295) (22,409) (9,453) (6,312)

Income tax (expense)/credit 637 (1,967) (591) 2,835 (2,175)
       

Loss for the year (19,100) (21,262) (23,000) (6,618) (8,487)
       

Loss for the year attribute to:

– Owners of the Company (20,407) (19,476) (19,744) (1,801) (6,604)

– Non-controlling interests 1,307 (1,786) (3,256) (4,817) (1,883)
       

(19,100) (21,262) (23,000) (6,618) (8,487)
       

As at 31 December

12 31

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 138,056 136,026 98,557 87,658 54,258

Total liabilities (114,518) (116,274) (101,421) (98,485) (69,476)
       

Net assets/(liabilities) 23,538 19,752 (2,864) (10,827) (15,218)
       

Equity attributable to:

– Owners of the Company 25,038 21,953 2,698 775 (1,728)

– Non-controlling interests (1,500) (2,201) (5,562) (11,602) (13,490)
       

23,538 19,752 (2,864) (10,827) (15,218)
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